
SAN JOAQUIN 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

LAFCo 
509 W. WEBER AVENUE SUITE 420 STOCKTON, CA 95203 

NOTICE AND CALL OF 

SPECIAL MEETING 

AGENDA 

Monday April 22, 2019 9:00 A. M. 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS 
44 NORTH SAN JOAQUIN STREET, 6

TH FLOOR 
STOCKTON, CALIFORNIA 

* * * * 

Call to Order 
Announce Date and Time of Meeting for the Record 
Roll Call 

CONSENT ITEMS 

1. MEETING MINUTES OF MARCH 14,2019
(Action by All Members)
Approve Summary Minutes of the regular meeting.

2. OUT-OF-AGENCY SERVICE REQUEST
(Action by Regular Members)
Request from the City of Stockton to provide out-of-agency sewer service outside
the City boundary under Government Code §56133 to 3527 Utah Avenue, 3559
Mourfield A venue, 2516 S. B. Street, and 2502 S. B Street, Stockton.

ACTION ITEMS 

3. FIRE SERVICES GOVERNANCE MODEL FOR THE CITY OF TRACY AND
THE TRACY RURAL FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT
(Action by Regular Members)
The Commission to consider a policy regarding detachment from the Tracy Rural
Fire Protection District.

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

4. Persons wishing to address the Commission on matters not otherwise on the

PHONE 209-468-3198 FAX 209-468-3199 E-MAIL jglaser@sjgov.org WEB SITE www.sjgov.org/lafco 





SAN JOAQUIN 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION AGENDA ITEM NO. 1 

LAFCo 
509 W. WEBER AVENUE SUITE 420 STOCKTON, CA 95203 

SUMMARY MINUTES 

March 14, 2019 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS 
44 NORTH SAN JOAQUIN STREET, 6

TH FLOOR 
STOCKTON, CALIFORNIA 

Chairman Johnson called the meeting to order at 9:07 a.m. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 

MEMBERS ABSENT: 

ALTERNATE MEMBERS 
PRESENT: 

AL TERNA TE MEMBERS 
ABSENT: 

OTHERS PRESENT: 

Commissioners Kuehne, Patti, Villapudua and 
Chairman Johnson 

None 

Commissioners Andrade, Morowit and Winn 

None 

James Glaser, Executive Officer; Monica Streeter, 
Legal Counsel; and Mitzi Stites, Commission Clerk 

Chairman Johnson welcomed Commissioner Morowit to the Commission. 

Executive Officer Jim Glaser, informed the Commission that Monica Streeter is filling in 
for Rod Attebery today for Legal Counsel. 

CONSENT ITEMS 

Chairman Johnson opened the matter up for Public and Commissioner Comments. 

No comments were made. 

A motion was made by Commissioner Villapudua and seconded by Commissioner 
Andrade to approve the Consent Calendar. 

Summary of Minutes Page I I 



The motion for approval of the Summary Minutes of February 14, 2019, was passed by an 
unanimous vote of the Commission. 

Chairman Winn recused himself. 

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

2. HAMM ANNEXATION TO THE WOODBRIDGE IRRIGATION DISTRICT
(LAFC 41-18)
(Action by Regular Members)

Request to annex approximately 137 acres to Woodbridge Irrigation District.

James Glaser, Executive Officer, provided a PowerPoint presentation. Woodbridge 
Irrigation District (WID) provides irrigation water to landowners on approximately 42,900 
acres generally located in the northern area of San Joaquin County. 

The landowner of the three parcels requesting annexation currently receives WID water to 
the properties and is charged a higher "outside" rate than landowners within the district. 
Irrigation of the parcels is achieved by shallow canals and ditches, but will change with 
new and more efficient pipes after annexation. The applicant would be responsible to 
construct and operate the piped delivery system to the properties from WIDs canal facility. 
Annexation will allow the landowner to receive the same level of service as other parcels in 
the District including the same water rate charged and a priority of water service as lands 
outside the district are not entitled to receive water service in critically dry years. 

On September 18, 2018 the WID Board considered the annexation of the Hamm properties 
and adopted a Resolution authorizing an application be made to LAFCo. 

The existing SOI for the District is the same as its service boundary, therefore, the 
Commissions approval of this annexation requires an amendment to the agency's sphere of 
influence. 

It is recommended that the Commission adopt Resolution No. 1397 approving the 
annexation and amending the sphere of influence for Woodbridge Irrigation District. 

Chairman Johnson open the floor to Commissioner Comments. 

Commissioner Kuehne inquired why this annexation is not subject to the Williamson Act. 

Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, stated that this annexation is not going into a city and 
the land is staying as agriculture. 

Commissioner Kuehne commented that in the report it states that Herrick Lateral Canal 
would deliver the water to the Hamm property. 

The pipeline is designed to serve 426 acres total, which 289.30 acres is already designated. 
After adding in the Hamm annexation of 136.66, this pipeline will be at capacity. 

Summary of Minutes Page I 2 



Commissioner Kuehne informed the Commission that he will vote to approve this 
annexation but the Herrick Lateral Canal is now at capacity and will not be able to provide 
water for the C&C Farms Annexations that is also on this agenda. 

Todd Versteeg, Superintendent, Woodbridge Irrigation District, informed the Commission 
that not everyone uses the water at the same time. This is not an issue and that 
Woodbridge Irrigation District can serve the Hamm annexation as well as the proposed 
C&C Farm Annexations. He also informed the Commission that there are plans to increase 
the Sargent Lateral Pipeline that will increase the capacity of the Herrick Lateral Canal. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Public Comments. 

Jack Hamm, Hamm Family Trust, requested that the Commission approve this annexation. 

Chairman Johnson closed the floor to Public Comments. 

The motion was made by Commissioner Patti, seconded by Commissioner Kuehne to 
approve Resolution No. 1397, approving the Hamm Annexation to Woodbridge Irrigation 
District and amendment to the sphere of influence. 

The motion passed by a unanimous vote of the voting members of the Commission. 

3. DISSOLUTION OF INACTIVE SPECIAL DISTRICTS
NJYO WATER DISTRICT (LAFC 02-19) AND DOS REIS STORM WATER
DISTRICT (LAFC 07-19)
(Action by Regular Members)
Request from California State Controller's Office to dissolve NYJO Water district
and Dos Reis Storm Water District.

Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, presented an overview of Special Districts. 

Special districts must file annual financial statements to the State Controller's Office. 
Under legislation (SB 448) if no financial statements are filed, the State Controller's Office 
sends a request that appropriate action be taken such as dissolution of a district if the 
district is "inactive." 

Mr. Glaser recommended that the Commission adopt Resolution No. 1398 approving the 
dissolution of NYJO Water District and Resolution No. 1399. Approving the dissolution of 
Dos Reis Storm Water District. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Commissioner Comments. 

Commissioner Andrade inquired if anything will change with the properties that are in 
these districts. 

Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, said that the properties are not paying or receiving 
any services now from the districts. Nothing will change for the properties in the districts. 

Summary of Minutes Page I 3 



Commissioner Morowit asked if this was just to clean up all records since there is no 
service. 

Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, stated that yes, it is. 

Chairman Johnson closed the floor to Commissioner Comments. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Public Comments. 

Martin Harris, Terra Land Group, stated concerns for this project and asked the 
Commission not to approve it. 

Chairman Johnson closed the floor to Public Comments. 

The motion was made by Commissioner Patti, seconded by Commissioner Kuehne to 
approve Resolution No. 1398, approving the dissolution ofNYJO Water District and 
Resolution No. 1399, approving the dissolution of Dos Reis Storm Water District. 

The motion passed by a unanimous vote of the voting members of the Commission. 

4. ANNEXATION TO THE WOODBRIDGE IRRIGATION DISTRICT C&C FARMS
ANNEXATION # I (LAFC 05-19) AND C&C FARMS ANNEXATION #2
(LAFC 06-19)
(Action by Regular Members)

Request to annex two parcels of C & C Farms to Woodbridge Irrigation District.
C & C Farms Annexation #1 approximately 5.45 acres and C & C Farms Annexation
#2, approximately 17.04 acres.

C & C Farms currently receives approximately 25.86-acre feet per year to irrigate the 
existing vineyards and the landowner is charged a higher "outside" rate than landowners 
within the district. As a customer outside of the district, the landowner does not receive 
priority water in critically dry years. 

On January 10, 2019 the WID Board considered the annexation of C & C Farms and 
adopted a Resolution authorizing an application be made to LAFCo to annex the properties. 

It is recommended that the Commission adopt Resolution Nos. 1400 and 1401 approving C 
& C Farms #1 and #2 annexation into Woodbridge Irrigation District and amending the 
sphere of influence. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Commissioner Comments. 

Commissioner Kuehne restated his concerns earlier with the Hamm Annexation that the 
Herrick Lateral Canal is now at capacity. 

Commissioner Patti inquired if it would be easy for Woodbridge Irrigation District to show 
usage of water from the Herrick Lateral Canal. 

Summary of Minutes Page 14 



Todd Versteeg, Superintendent, Woodbridge Irrigation District, stated that he can get 
written documentation to show that there will enough water to support the annexation. 

Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, stated that the Commission could approve this 
annexation with a condition. The condition would be listed as Section 5 in the Resolution 
that directs the Executive Officer to withhold the filing of the Certificate of Completion 
until Woodbridge Irrigation District demonstrates capacity to serve the subject property. 

Chairman Johnson closed Commissioner Comments. 

Chairman Johnson opened the floor to Public Comments. 

Chairman Johnson closed the floor to Public Comments. 

The motion was made by Commissioner Kuehne, seconded by Commissioner Patti to 
approve Resolution No. 1400 and No. 140, approving the C&C Farms #1 and #2 
annexations into Woodbridge Irrigation District and amending the sphere of influence 
with the condition that the Executive Officer withhold the filing of the Certificate of 
Completion until the Woodbridge Irrigation District demonstrates capacity to serve the 
subject. 

The motion passed by a unanimous vote of the voting members of the Commission. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

7. Persons wishing to address the Commission on matters not otherwise on the
agenda.

Before Public Comments were heard, Chairman Johnson stated that the City of Tracy will 
be on the May Agenda. 

Mark Bowman, Counsel for Tracy Rural Fire District, addressed the Commission regarding 
annexations to the City of Tracy. 

Mr. Alvarez, resident from the City of Tracy addressed the Commission regarding his 
annexation. 

Robert Rickman, Mayor of City of Tracy, addressed the Commission regarding the City of 
Tracy annexations. 

Charlie Morrison, Cox, Castle and Nicholson, for Ponderosa Homes, addressed the 
Commission on the Tracy Village annexation. 

Wayne Schneider addressed the Commission on the Tracy Village annexation. 

Eugene Birk, addressed the Commission on the Tracy Village annexation. 

Roy Hawkins addressed the Commission on the Tracy Village annexation. 

Summary of Minutes Page 15 



Jeff Schroeder, Ponderosa Homes, addressed the Commission the Tracy Village 

annexation. 

Steve Herum, Herum\Crabtree\Suntag, addressed the Commission on the City of Tracy 

annexations. 

Leticia Ramirez, City of Tracy, addressed the Commission on the City of Tracy 

annexations. 

Chainman Johnson closed the public comments. 

Chairman Johnson inquired if Mr. James Glaser, Executive Officer, had any comments. 

Mr. Glaser stated that he can give a short explanation now or, if preferred, a written report 

that would take a while to prepare. 

Commissioner Patti asked for the short version on the City of Tracy annexations. 

James Glaser, Executive Officer, stated that the City of Tracy needs to do what all the other 

Cities are required to do when they have annexations. The City of Tracy needs to update 

their Sphere of Influence and that needs to be accompanied with their Municipal Service 

Review. In 2011 City of Tracy also agreed to have a governance study completed before 

any annexations. Mr. Glaser commented that he has received a study regarding fire 

governance but questions still remain. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER COMMENTS 

8. Comments from the Executive Officer

In December, the Commission directed staff to send the Island Annexation Report out to 
the Cities and County for comments. Only the City of Manteca has replied. Staff will send 

out reminder notices and then bring those responses back to the Commission. 

There will be no April Meeting. Next Commission Meeting will be on Thursday, May 9, 

2019. Items on the agenda include the Preliminary Budget Report with the Final Budget in 
June. Mr. Glaser requested that a Budget Committee be appointed by the Chairman. This 

committee will meet at least one time in April. The Tracy Fire Governance Report will be 

discussed at the May meeting. On your dais you will find a paper that explains the 

annexation process for the City of Tracy. 

Step 1 Fire Governance Report 

Step 2 MSR 

Step 3 SOI 

Step 4 Annexation Applications 

Possibly on the agenda for May will be the Byron Bethany Irrigation District MSR/SOI. 

Summary of Minutes Page I 6 



LAFCo Commission Members need to file Form 700 by April 1, 2019. Information on a 
new legislative bill, AB-1389 has been placed on your dais for your review. 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 

6. Comments, Reports, or Questions from the LAFCO Commissioners.

Chairman Johnson stated that he would appoint the Budget Committee and let Mr. Glaser 
know. 

Commissioner Patti stated that in light of the public comments LAFCo should have an AD 
HOC Committee before the May Commission Meeting. 

Commissioner Villapudua inquired why the City of Tracy could not go through the MSR 

process as the City of Stockton just did. 

Commissioner Patti stated that the City of Tracy has a separate step built into their process 
that makes it more complicated. 

Chairman Johnson stated that the Ad Hoc Committee would be himself, and Commissioner 
Patti, Mr. Glaser, Counsel, and two or three people from the City of Tracy. This will be 
done as soon as possible. Chairman Johnson inquired on a time line for Mr. Glaser. 

Mr. Glaser, Executive Officer, stated that to do his report on the Fire Governance Model he 
first needs to understand the data in the report prepared by the City of Tracy. Then he needs 
to analyze the report and circulate it for comments. He has asked questions of the City of 
Tracy but has yet to receive the critical information necessary to be placed on the May 
agenda. 

Chairman Johnson stated that he would set up this Ad Hoc Committee and advise all. 

CLOSED SESSION 

9. Open Session Disclosure Regarding Closed Session Items pursuant to
Government Code Section 54957. 7

10. CLOSED SESSION

A. Conference with Legal Counsel-Existing Litigation pursuant to
Government Code Section 54956.9(a)
Name of Case: Pacific Gas and Electric v. San Joaquin LAFCo and
South San Joaquin Irrigation District (San Joaquin County Superior
Court Case No. 39-2015-00321743-CU-JR-STK)

11. Open Session Report on Closed Session pursuant to Government Code
Section 54957.1 

Summary of Minutes Page 17 



There was no Closed Session. 

10:27 a.m. - Chairman Johnson adjourned the meeting to Thursday, May 9, 

2019. 

Summary of Minutes Page I 8 



SAN JOAQUIN 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

LAFCo 
509 W. WEBER AVENUE SUITE 420 STOCKTON, CA 95203 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT 

April 22, 2019 

TO: LAFCo Commissioners 

FROM: James E. Glaser, Executive Officer 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 2 

SUBJECT: CITY OF STOCKTON OUT-OF-AGENCY SERVICE REQUESTS 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that the Commission approve the requests from the City of Stockton to 
provide out-of-agency sewer service under the Government Code §56133 to properties 
located at 3527 Utah Avenue, 3559 Mourfield Avenue, 2516 S. B Street, 2502 S. B Street, 
Stockton. 

Background 

Government Code Section §56133 states that the Commission may authorize a city or 
special district to provide new or extended services outside its jurisdictional boundaries but 
within its sphere of influence in anticipation of a later change of organization and that prior 
to providing new or extended service, the city or district must first receive approval from 
LAFCo. The Commission adopted a policy that conditions their approval for out-of-agency 
service requiring the recordation of an agreement with the landowner consenting to 
annexation of their property when annexation becomes feasible. 

The City of Stockton submitted requests for approval to extend sanitary sewer services to 
single family residences outside the city limits but within the City's sphere of influence. A 
vicinity map is attached showing the locations of each out-of-agency request. Connections 
to City sewer lines are available to the properties and the property owners have paid the 
appropriate connection fees to the City. The requests for out-of-agency service are in 
compliance with the Government Code §56133 and Commission policies. Staff 
recommends approval of the attached Resolution 1383 approving out-of-agency services. 

Attachment: Resolution No. 1403 
Vicinity Map 



Resolution No. 1403 

BEFORE THE SAN JOAQUIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION 

COMMISSION APPROVING AN OUT-OF-AGENCY SANITARY SEWER 

SERVICE FROM THE CITY OF STOCKTON TO 3527 UT AH A VENUE, 3559 

MOURFIELD A VENUE, 2516 S. B STREET, 2502 S. B STREET, 

STOCKTON. 

WHEREAS, the above-reference requests have been filed with the Executive 
Officer of the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission pursuant to §56133 of 
the California Government Code. 

NOW THEREFORE, the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission 
DOES HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE, AND ORDER as follows: 

Section 1. Said out-of-agency service request is hereby approved. 

Section 2. The proposal is found to be Categorically Exempt from CEQA. 

Section 3. The proposal is subject to the following conditions: 

a. Prior to connection to the city sewer or water, the City of Stockton shall
record a covenant and agreement with the property owners to annex to the
City of Stockton in a form acceptable to the Executive Officer.

b. This approval and conditions apply to current and future property owners.

PASS ED AND ADOPTED this 22ND day of April, by the following roll call votes: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

Res. No. 1403 
04-22-19

Peter M. Johnson, Chairman 
San Joaquin Local Agency 
Formation Commission 







SAN JOAQUIN 

LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

LAFCo 
509 West Weber Avenue Suite 420 STOCKTON, CA 95203 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT 

April 22, 2019 

To: LAFCo Commissioners 

From: James E. Glaser, Executive Officer 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 3 

SUBJECT: Fire Service Governance Model for the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural Fire 

Protection District 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Commission adopt a policy that future annexations to the City of Tracy 
will detach from Tracy Rural Fire Protection District. An alternate motion is attached directing 
the Executive Officer to seek professional consulting services to study the issue further. 

POLICY ISSUE 

To satisfy a requirement imposed by the Commission in October 2011, namely to determine if 
future annexations to the City of Tracy should detach or not detach from Tracy Rural Fire 
Protection District. 

SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS 

The following findings support the recommendation requiring detachment: 

• There is a duplication of services under the present model.
• There is a tax structure that charges more to new residents and businesses for the same fire

services.
• There is a projected tax increment loss to the County of $55 million over the next 8 years

and a corresponding increase in demand on County services as a result ofnew development

Page 1 of 17 



and a cumulative loss to the County of approximately $74.2 million in revenue (2001/02 
through 2018/19. 

• Tracy Rural has not been economically viable since inception of this model.
• There are questions as to whether Tracy Rural can be sustainable in the future.
• Cities have more financial resources available to fund fire service than districts.
• The expectation that property tax alone can fund urban fire services is unrealistic.
• The City of Tracy benefits greatly economically from this model while other agencies are

fiscally impacted.

CHRONOLOGY 

This matter has come before the Commission in July, August, October and December of2013 and 
in May, August, October and December of 2014. This matter focuses on the issue of the 
organizational structure of the South County Fire Authority (SCF A) (now South San Joaquin 
County Fire Authority) and the relationship of this joint powers authority to the City of Tracy and 
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District and the fiscal implications of the present "no-detachment" 
policy. These issues were first expressed in LAFCo's County Fire Municipal Service Review and 
as a result, the Commission determined that further study was needed and adopted an 
Implementation Strategy on October 21, 2011 that stated: 

Complete a plan regarding the governance model for Tracy City Fire Department 
and Tracy Rural FPD within 18 months subject to the approval of LAFCo. All 
subsequent annexation requests shall be consistent with the approved plan. 

Below is a timeline of events leading up to today's Agenda Item: 

DATE 

July 2011 

August 2011 

October 2011 

EVENT 

Public Hearing on Fire District MSR. Commission requested additional time and 

referred matter to its Ad Hoc Committee to gather more information from Tracy 

and Tracy Rural before making a decision on the Implementation Strategy. Public 

Hearing continued. 

Commission Ad Hoc meeting in Tracy to discuss issues of detachment. Tracy 

indicates they are working towards reorganization but have not made any 

determinations. Tracy requested an 18 month extension to complete it. 

Public Hearing 

• Fire District MSR adopted

• Addressed fiscal impacts of annexations

• Organizational structures, including consolidation, discussed in MSR

• Identifies some policy issues and recommendations under

"Implementation Strategy" including:

o Amend Commission policies to require consideration of economic

impact from annexations through the use of a "mitigation fee"

Page 2 of 17 



July 2013 

August 2013 

o Explore the feasibility of providing fire service to the Unprotected

Delta Area

o Requiring Tracy to complete a plan regarding the governance

model for Tracy City Fire and Tracy Rural within 18* months

subject to the approval of LAFCo. All subsequent annexations will

be consistent with the approved plan.

*Commission subsequently extended the completion date until

October 21, 2013 {24 months). See December 13, 2013
• Commission adopts fee mitigation policy

Report prepared by Tracy for Commission consideration. Report provided 2 

options: (1) maintain current structure and no detachment or (2) annex the City 

into Tracy Rural. Staff Report recommends that the report be returned for a more 

in-depth discussion of the 2 alternatives as well as inclusion of the rejected options 

of dissolving the SCFA and forming a new JPA and have all entities contract for fire 

service with the City or the fire district. It was requested that a fiscal analysis on 

the financial impact to the County be provided. 

Commission directed staff to put the Governance Report back on the Agenda and 

to provide Notice of Public Hearing to allow amendments to the MSR. 

Action Item: Commission consideration of the Governance Report be approved or 

that the Implementation Strategy language in the MSR be deleted 

The City submitted a Fire Governance Implementation Plan (Exhibit 1); however, 

the Commission determined it did not sufficiently address the fiscal and 

governance issues and extended the date to complete a governance plan within 24 

months (October 2013). 

Commission amends Implementation Strategy from 18 months to 24 months and 

acknowledges Governance Report leaving it open for further consideration. 

October 2013 The City presented an overview of the various governance options that had been 

considered and stated that a consultant would be needed to perform feasibility 

studies. The Commission continued the matter to the December 2013 meeting. 

December 2013 The City informed the Commission that the consultant, Management Partners, had 

been hired to analyze alternative fire governance structures and to analyze the 

property tax and governance issues associated with the "no detachment" policy. 

At this meeting, the Commission clarified the issues to be studied and requested 

that "the fire study would include the feasibility of detachment and no detachment 

of Tracy Rural Fire District and the feasibility of a full consolidation of Tracy Rural 

and the City Fire service. The Commission continued the matter until May 16, 

2014" (Summary Minutes, 12/13/2013). Tracy requested and received additional 

time to complete their report by September 2014. Commissioners requested that 

the City's draft fire study by the consultants come to LAFCo first. Tracy hires 

Management Partner's to do a full fiscal analysis. 

Page 3 of 17 



May2014 

July 2014 

August 2014 

October 2014 

January 2019 

(24 months-Fire Governance Report due) Preliminary report prepared by 

consultant but SCFA requested additional review time. Commission continues 

matter to an undetermined date for completion. 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures Report was completed by Management 

Partners (Exhibit 2). The draft report was presented to Tracy City Council, Tracy 

Rural Board of Directors, and the South County Fire Authority at a September 2nd 

Special Meeting. No action was taken at the meeting and Tracy staff was directed 

to forward the report to LAFCo. Since neither the City nor Tracy Rural made a

recommendation, the Commission returned the report. 

Progress report given by staff to Commission on Tracy's Governance Study. A draft 

report given to Commissioners, however, the report had not been considered by 

Tracy City Council and SCFA requests that an update be provided at the next 

meeting and a final report for the October meeting. 

Review of Governance Report. Report provides 3 options. Each option examined 

its implications on property tax revenues, fire benefit assessment revenues, and 

governance structure. Tracy City Council considered report however did not 

provide a recommendation as to which option it favors. Unclear as to which policy 

City is working towards so LAFCo cannot determine whether subsequent 

annexation should detach or not detach. Commission returns report to City. 

The City transmitted a report entitled Governance Review dated December 26, 

2018. This report (Exhibit 3) will be subject to discussion in a following section. 

BRIEF HISTORY 

The City of Tracy Fire Department was established 1912. Originally, a volunteer fire department, 
the City transitioned to full-time department in 1918. Currently, the City of Tracy Fire Department 
provides fire protection services to the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural Fire Protection 
District (Tracy Rural or District) through a contract with the newly reconstituted South San 
Joaquin County Fire Authority (SJCFA). 

Tracy Rural was established in 1942 and is responsible for providing fire protection services for 
approximately 200 square miles in primarily unincorporated areas as well as annexed properties 
that have been incorporated into the City of Tracy since 1996, but which are not detached from 
Tracy Rural. 

In 1996 the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural submitted a letter to the Commission requesting two 
proposed annexations not detach from the rural fire district pending finalization of negotiations to 
consolidate. The Commission agreed not to detach these properties. 

The South County Fire Authority (SCF A) was established on September 7, 1999 as an agreement 
between the City and Tracy Rural for the joint exercise of powers (Joint Powers Agreement) to 

Page 4 of 17 



provide fire protection services within the Authority's jurisdictional area by contracting for such 
services with the City of Tracy. 

Since 1996, the City of Tracy has annexed 12 areas from within its Sphere of Influence (SOI). 
With the exception of a portion of Tracy Hills, all properties were annexed into the City without 
detachment from Tracy Rural. The record indicates that the reason provided for not detaching 
from Tracy Rural was that the City and Tracy Rural anticipated the formation of a consolidated 
district whereby Tracy Rural (or another newly formed district) would be responsible for fire 
protection service in the City and District. While this may have been the original intent, such 
consolidation has not occurred and this option is now not supported by the City or Tracy Rural. 

In February 2018, the City and the Tracy Rural dissolved the South County Fire Authority through 
a dissolution agreement and entered into a new agreement that formed the South San Joaquin 
County Fire Authority. The changes were made, in part, to address Tracy Rural's concern over 
lack of authority over financial and administrative policies that impact fire protection in their 
jurisdiction. This model continues to prevent fire protection revenues from being reallocated from 
the District to the County. The model also allows other agencies to join. The model does not 
address LAFCo concerns. 

DISCUSSION 

Since 1996, the City of Tracy has annexed twelve ( 12) projects from within its Sphere of Influence 
to the City and has not requested the detachment of Tracy Rural upon annexation of these 
additional territories. The following figure identifies the specific annexations: 

I II I II 'I 

Annexation (Date) 

Northeast Industrial (11/1996) 
Kagehiro (01/1997) 
Lourence Ranch (04/1997) 

Plain View (01/1998) 
Souchek(07/1998) 

Tracy Hills (09/1998) __ _ 

Acres 
Development Status Upon 

Annexation 

Current 

Development Status 

Approximately 7 homes 
Approximately 134 SFRs. Remaining 
property in agricultural and dairy 

905 operations. 
5,624,888 sq ft 

146 Agricultural 
industrial 
293 SFRs 

__ ... 

40 Agricultural-row crops 116 SFRs 
Used for vehicle 

10 1 SFR on 2 acre site storage t1 60 1 SFR, agricultural lands No change -
Several homes, agricultural lands, -r 397 SFRs under

2?�5 grazing lands__ _ ____ ___L _ construction

Page 5 of 17 



Joint Powers Authority Formed (September 1999) 

1 SFR with agricultural buildings, 

Presidio (11/1999) 149 fallow agricultural lands 550 SFRs 

1 SFR on approximately 15 acre 

site; balance of site agricultural 

Gateway (05/2003) 550 lands in alfalfa production No change 

Majority of the site was used for 

agricultural hay production. Site 

contained 3 SFR plus one welding 

Filios-Dobler (03/2012) 46 shop 451 apartments 

1 SFR with a small tree-growing 

operation. Majority of the site was 

Ellis Specific Plan (03/2013) 167 fallow agricultural land 281 SFRs 

Cordes Ranch (09/2013) 1,796 Agricultural 5,482,463 sq ft 

Total Acres 6,761 

The record shows (Attachment A: Letter dated May 14, 1996 from Tracy and Tracy Rural) that 
the reason given for not detaching from the Tracy Rural was that the City and the District 
anticipated the formation of a consolidated district. When consolidation occurs, the City of Tracy 
would relinquish its authority to provide fire services and allow Tracy Rural (or another new 
agency) to be responsible for fire protection service for the City and District. Instead, in September 
1999, the City and the District entered into a joint powers agreement and formed the South County 
Fire Authority. The formation of a joint powers agreement does not change the organizational 
structure of the two agencies. Tracy Rural remains as an independent special district and the City 
remains as a municipality. The difference, by not detaching, is that the City does not provide full 
municipal services to the newly annexed area and that Tracy Rural and the City remains 
responsible for fire services in the newly annexed area. This creates a situation where are two 
agencies are responsible for providing the same service in the same area. From a practical aspect 
the joint powers authority is the official provider of fire services, not Tracy Rural and not the City. 
In 2002, the City and Tracy Rural adopted resolutions agreeing that properties that were annexed 
into the city limits would not detach from the Tracy Rural. However, the decision to detach or not 
to detach rests with LAFCo. There are still two agencies responsible for fire service in the same 
area. 

Page 6 of 17 



TAX REVENUE 

Property taxes are the single most important source of revenues for the fire districts, making up an 

average of 67.4 percent of all revenues for districts in the County. Property tax revenue makes up 
76% of all Tracy Rural's revenues. As a funding source, property taxes are constrained by 

statewide initiatives that have been passed by voters over the years. Voters have been particularly 
reluctant to increase taxes to pay for new growth. 

The pie chart below shows a typical distribution of property taxes. 

Proposition 13: 1 % of Assessed Value 

Irrigation District 

Reclamation District 

Sanitary Sewer 

Water Conservation School 

City 

Mosquito 

Proposition I 3 was passed by the voters in 1978 which limited the ad valorem property tax rate, limited 

growth of the assessed value, and required voter approval of certain local taxes. Generally, the measure 

fixes the tax at one percent of the value, except for taxes to repay certain voter approved bonded 

indebtedness. Immediately following the passage of Proposition 13, the Legislature adopted SB 154 and 

subsequently adopted AB 8 in 1979 to establish tax allocation formulas. These bills allocated property tax 

revenues on a pro-rata basis. Generally, AB 8 allocated property tax revenue to the local agencies within 

each tax rate area based on the proportion each agency received during the three years preceding adoption 

of Proposition 13. This allocation formula benefits local agencies which had relatively high tax rates at the 

time Proposition 13 was enacted, and allocates less to districts and cities that were spending relatively low 

amounts at the time. AB 8 also increased the share of property tax revenue allocated to local governments 

by shifting the property tax revenue away from schools. School losses were back-funded from the State 

General Fund. Tracy Rural receives approximately 11. 6% of the tax increment. 

Page 7 of 17 



The practice of not detaching from Tracy Rural has two implications. One is financial and one is 
related to governmental organization. From a financial perspective, the District continues to 
receive property tax at a rate of about 11.6% of the total property tax. The District is also allowed 
to continue to collect a special assessment for structures at a rate of 3 cents per square foot for 
improvements. Without detachment, the monies collected by the District are not available to the 
County or the City. By not detaching from Tracy rural, the net fiscal impact to the County is that 
the County will receive about 9.3% less in property tax and the City will receive about 2.3% less 
(although the City would not be financially responsible for fire service). The following chart 
graphically displays the distribution of the tax increment with detachment of a fire district from a 
city and without detachment. With detachment (similar to Lodi, Stockton, and Manteca), the 
11.6% share of the property tax received by the District would be shared with the County and City
resulting in an increased amount to these two agencies. 

TAX INCREMENT 

WITHOUT DETACHMENT 

TAX INCREMENT OF FIRE 

DISTRICT SHARE WITH 

DETACHMENT 

City 2 3% 

County 9 3% 

While cities and counties exercise broad powers of taxation that are granted to general purpose 
governments by the State Constitution, special districts are limited to revenue sources authorized 
by the legislature. Although each district is an autonomous unit of local government with 
sovereignty over internal fiscal issues, the type of revenue sources are relatively restricted. As a 
result, the Districts rely primarily upon property tax, special assessments, fees for service, and 
development mitigation fees. Unlike cities which can use a wider variety of sources in addition to 
property tax (sales and use taxes, vehicle license fee, utility user fees, transient occupancy tax, 
etc.). The most significant financing constraints for fire services are legal requirements that limit 
property taxes and require voter approval of new taxes and tax increases. As a result, cities can be 
much more adaptive to respond to revenue shortfalls. 

Page 8 of 17 



REVENUE FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES FOR FIRE PROTECTION 

CITIES vs. FIRE DISTRICT 

So 

. ·� -,::.1:. ... ,. � 
. . 

[__ . _....;...:.._ .. ------.........-� 

,f ,f 

,f 

The second implication is that from a governmental perspective the City is not providing full 
municipal services to its residents. This is best explained by the sphere of influence for the City 
of Tracy as depicted on Map I. Tracy Rural's Sphere of Influence would overlap into the City's 
sphere. The City's sphere would have two categories-one which provides full municipal services 

and one that provides municipal service minus fire protection. The map displays the areas which 
are currently in the City which receives city vs. rural fire protection services. Almost all future 
annexations would be in the second sphere category. This means that the City Council is 
responsible for fire services in only a portion of the existing community. According to 
Commission Policy the hierarchy for the establishment of a sphere of influence is to give 
preference to the inclusion in a municipality sphere of influence, then within a multipurpose 
districts (i.e., community service district), and lastly to a single-purpose district (e.g., fire district). 

Sphere Hierarchy: Where an area could be assigned to the sphere of influence of more 
than one agency providing needed service, the following hierarchy shall apply dependent 

upon ability to serve, unless an agency or district has specialized capacity to provide 
such service: 

a. Inclusion within a municipality sphere of influence
b. Inclusion with a multipurpose district sphere of influence
c. Inclusion within a single-purpose district sphere of influence

Page 9 of 17 



Map 1 

,..'"'"" ■ I Tracy City Limit
---

N Parcels 

c::J Proposed Sphere of Influence (SOI)

Areas in SOI with 
run municipal set'Vices 

Areas in SOI without 
municipal fire seJVices 

' .. 

.. t) 

-

• 
• 
.. 

I 

i 

Page 10 of 17 



The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act (§56001) also states: 

"The Legislature finds and declares that a single multipurpose agency is accountable for 
community service needs and financial resources and, therefore may be the best 
mechanism for establishing community service priorities especially in urban areas." 

It was and is staffs position that services within the community are best provided by a City and 
that future annexations should detach from the Tracy Rural. The original draft Municipal Service 
Review reflected that position. The City of Tracy in a letter of June 9, 2011 expressed disagreement 
with the concept of detachment. As a result, the Commission's Rural Fire District Ad Hoc 
Committee (Commissioners Ruhstaller, Vogel, Stockar) met with the City of Tracy and Tracy 
Rural Fire District on August 24, 2013 to discuss the issue of detachment. Tracy representatives 
requested an opportunity to perform a study regarding reorganization and needed 18 months to 
complete it. Because of that commitment, the Commission added a section to the Implementation 
Strategy that read as follows: 

"Complete a plan regarding the governance model for Tracy City Fire Department and 
Tracy Rural FPD within 18 months subject to the approval of LAFCo. All subsequent 
annexation requests shall be consistent with the approved plan."

REPORTS 

There has been several reports prepared regarding the fire governance issues. The following 
summarizes the most recent reports: 

Fire Governance Implementation Plan (August 16, 2013) (Exhibit 1) 

This report included the evaluation of four options: maintain the current structure, dissolve the 
SCF A and form a new joint powers authority, have all entities contract for fire service with the 
City or the District, and annex the City and Mountain House Community Services District 
(MHCSD) to form one fire district. The MHCSD indicated that they did not want to be annexed 
into the District. The report narrowed the discussion to two options: (1) maintain the current 
structure, or (2) annexing the City into the District. 

LAFCo concluded that the report needed to be expanded to include a discussion of the alternatives 
that were rejected and for what reasons. LAFCo wanted to have a critical assessment of all of the 
options and not just the ones that the City's committee was supporting. A fiscal analysis and 
discussion of the impact on the County and an analysis of a traditional detachment from a fire 
district and the provision of fire services by the City was also needed. 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures Report (Management Partners- September 2014) 
(Exhibit 2) 

Page 11 of 17 



In this report, the consultant provided three options for providing fire services in Tracy including: 
I) No change, annexation without detachment; 2) Annexation with detachment; and 3) City
annexation into Tracy Rural Fire District. Each option was examined for its implications on
property tax revenues, fire benefit assessment revenues, and governance structure. Financial data
was obtained from the County Auditor's Office to examine and illustrate in real numbers the fiscal
impacts that past annexations with "no detachment" from Tracy Rural Fire District has had on the
rural fire district, the City, and the County and its future implications. The report provides an
excellent overview of the issues. The report estimated that in ten years the property tax impact if
the 12 annexations had detached was $4.4 million to the County. Today, it is estimated that a
cumulative loss of potential revenue to the County for the next eight years totals $55 million.
While the report provided options for the City to consider, the Tracy City Council forwarded the
report absent a recommendation to LAFCo as to which option it favors and without outlining any
next steps. The report states that "Policy guidance from the City Council as well as close
consultation with Tracy Rural will be critical before next steps and a consensus path toward
resolution of the annexation issue can be developed." Unless it can be demonstrated that the City
and Tracy Rural can successfully transition into a consolidated fire agency and that there is
political support to do so, annexation with detachment appears to be the appropriate future course
of action. LAFCo concluded that continuation of the no detachment policy continues to grow a 
rural district without consideration of future costs coupled with the added responsibility of 
providing urban fire services. Continuation of the no detachment will also continue to fiscally 
harm the County as outlined in the report. The Commission returned the report for the 
recommendations from the City and Tracy Rural. 

Governance Review Report (2019) (Exhibit 3) 

The Governance Review Report was prepared to reaffirm the recommendation and action taken 
on February 20, 2018 by the City to approve the formation of the South San Joaquin County Fire 
Authority and to provide an updated study to LAFCo. 

In 2007, staff of the South County Fire Authority conducted a study to evaluate different fire 
governance options that would address concerns from Tracy Rural and LAFCo. The study also 
looked at the ability to expand the Authority to include additional agencies in the future. The study 
evaluated three primary options: 

Option 1- City detach from Tracy Rural 

Option 2- The City annexes into Tracy Rural 

Option 3- Reconstitute and strengthen the current JP A 

ccording to the report by the City of Tracy: 
---- ---

0 tion 1- City detach from Tracy Rural. The report states that the challenge with this model was 
the financial impact on the City and the District. The fiscal analysis assumed the existing County 1 

and City Tax Sharing Agreement (80% County 20% City) would apply when dividing District 
revenues after detachment. The City's 20 percent allocation would not cover the cost of providing I
'(i-re protection in the area that would detach from the District. In the first year (FY 2019120), there I 

1

would be a $3,044,021 shortfall that would require the City to utilize general operating funds. To ' 



keep the same service levels, the City would be required to increase General Fund expenditures 
annually to $8,640,314 (FY 2026/27) with a cumulative General Fund augmentation of 
$50,080,296 through FY 2026/27. During the same time frame, County revenues would increase 
$2,592,421 in FY 2019/20 and continue to increase to $7,165,906 in FY 2026/27 with a cumulative 
increased allocation of $40,773,395. During the same time frame, the District would lose 
I $51,707,830 in revenues but would no longer be required to provide fire protection in the areas 
that were annexed and not detached. The District's special tax (03 cents per sq. ft.) would be 
discontinued within the City boundaries and would create a cumulative revenue loss of $10, 
934,434 through FY 2026/27. 

I Option 2 - City annex into the District. The report states that the challenge with this model would 

1 
be the City's willingness to give up control of fire protection and 63% ($13.8 Million of $22 

I Million) of their property taxes. Under the JPA, the City Council continues to have significant 

I authority over fiscal resources and service level determinations for fire protection within the core
city that remains outside of the District. The model would also increase City property taxes ( 03
per sq. ft.) without requiring a vote of the tax payers. 

Option 3 - Reconstitute and strengthen the current JPA. The report states that this model was 
chosen and implemented based on the following considerations: 

• The model only requires the approval of the two governing bodies (and the Secretary of
State).

• The model provides the City with continued control over the City's budget and service levels
in the core City areas. 

• The model ensures the long term fiscal sustainability of the District.

• The model addressed the District's concern over a lack of authority over financial and
administrative policies that impact fire protection within their jurisdiction. 

• The model protects fire protection revenues from being reallocated from the District to the
County.

• The model is reversible. At a later date, the Council could decide to operate a municipal fire
department and the District could return to providing services as a Fire District.

• The JPA Board will have the authority to negotiate fire protection impacts with developers.
This can be done through the City, but having an independent fire agency at the table 
always benefits the local government agency.

• There will be no confusion over who is the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for fire
protection matters. Fire protection authorities have been delegated to the JP A by both
member agencies. 

• This model is expandable. Other agencies could join and increase efficiencies which results
in lower costs to the member agencies. The Lathrop-Manteca Fire District and Mountain
House Community Services District have expressed an interest in joining the newly formed 
JPA.

Page 13 of 17 



• The new JPA eliminates additional agreements and amendments that were adopted under

the previous JPA. The amendments were difficult to interpret, implement and track. The

Smoothing Agreement, the Pre-Paid Service Agreement (Amendments 4 and 6), and the

Supplemental Services Agreement (Amendment 3) have all been eliminated and replaced

with an intuitive, fair, and equitable cost allocation model.

• The model addresses many LAFCO concerns.

• The phased approach allows the new JP A to pursue additional model elements and to

potentially migrate to a full fire District.

Analysis of the Governance Review Report 

The report does not provide for an objective analysis useful to LAFCo. Its preparation was, in part, 
to justify a previous decision made by the City Council. Although it addresses other options, it 
does not present the information in an unbiased and objective manner. The report tends to 
characterize issues in a manner favorable to the conclusion. (For example, the report states that in 
the mid I 990's the City began the process of annexing properties into the City limits whereas 
annexations occurred throughout City's nearly I 00-year history). The report assumes that a city's 
property tax allocation should provide sufficient revenue to provide fire service. Cities never rely 
on property tax alone to cover the cost of services. That is why cities have access to so many 
different revenue sources and districts do not. The report does not recognize that the County will 
have an increased demand on services because of new growth. The report does not address the 
fundamental question of the duplication of service by two agencies and the differing tax structure 
for new residents and businesses. The report dismisses the City annexation to Tracy Rural option 
as the lack of willingness of the City to give up control of fire protection even though this was the 
very reason stated by the City and District in the beginning of this process. 

1996 

Final Negotiations 
for Consolidation 

JPA Formed 

Interest Level for 
City /District 

Consolidation 

2011 

Implementation 
Strategy 
Adopted 

2011-2014 

Governance Reports from 
City/Tracy Rural does not 

adequately address 
detachment/consolidation 

2019 

Initial Plan of 
Consolidation no 

longer considered 

Page 14 of 17 



The fundamental error, however, is the financial projections. The report uses a very aggressive 

growth forecast, which is unsupported by historical building data and by the City's own financial 
consultant, Susan Goodwin Consulting Group Inc. The model applies a per square foot assumption 
by land use type to derive assessed value and thus tax revenue. The table below shows the 

differences between these sources. 

Housing 

Industrial 

Retail 

Office 

Source Data Comparison 

Building Permit 

Data 

(S year historical 

data in annexed 

areas) 

186 units 

average per year 

1.7 million 

square feet 

average 

0 

0 

Goodwin Report 

(citywide) 

8 years 

SOS units 

average per year 

1.0 million 

square feet 

average 

13,000 

12,500 

Governance 

Review Report 

(in annexed areas) 

8 years 

610units 

average per year 

3.55 million 

square feet 

average 

55,000 

15,950 

Variance above 

Building Permit 

Data and 

Goodwin Report 
' 

170% 

260% 

846% 

255% 

The above chart demonstrates that the assumptions used in the Governance Review Report 

promotes an extremely promising future. This actually raises a new issue as to the economic 

viability of Tracy Rural to provide the service. The report states that initially there was early 

recognition that the District would not initially have the financial resources to maintain the current 

level of service level under the JP A. This was due to District employees becoming City employees 

with greater pay and benefits and the addition of new positions. It was estimated that the revenue 

deficit would last approximately 18 months from the inception of the original JP A. The debt to 

the City grew from $500,000 to in excess of $6 million. The recent reconstituted JPA included a 

provision for the City to forgive a major portion of this debt. The debt lasted nearly 20 years. This 

brings into question whether Tracy Rural can add the needed fire stations if the growth does not 

materialize. On the other hand, using these questionable assumptions may actually overstate the 

impact to the County under the option of no detachment. The $40 million loss to the County 

estimated in this report as the result of not detaching Tracy Rural thru 2026/2027 will occur but 

probably not in that period. This loss is nearly l O times higher than the projected loss in the 

Management Partners Report in 2014. According to the County Auditor Controller's Office 

(ACO), the cumulative loss of potential revenue to the County totals $55 million during the 

2019/20 through 2026/27 fiscal year time frame. 

Page 15 of 17 



The next issue associated with the financial analysis is the lack of examination of the fiscal impact 

on the County in the past and for the future beyond FY 2026/2027. The report "cleans the slate" 

for 2018 and only studies the next eight years. This does not provide full picture of the fiscal 

impact to the County. The ACO calculated the revenue loss that occurred in the past from 

annexations utilizing the time frame ofFY2001/02 through 2018/19, which has resulted in a loss 

of revenue totaling $19 .2 million for the County. 

Impact of Detachment on the City and Tracy Rural 

If the Commission adopts the recommended policy of detachment of Tracy Rural upon annexation 

to Tracy, the action will only affect future annexations. LAFCo is not authorized (§56375 (a) (2)) 

to initiate detachment proceedings. Therefore, the effect of not detaching from Tracy Rural for 

the twelve previous annexations will not be affected by LAFCo's action today. The Joint Powers 

Agreement would remain in effect and delivery of services by the South San Joaquin County Fire 

Authority could continue for both Tracy and Tracy Rural. The financial responsibility to provide 

service for future annexations, however, would shift to Tracy as it is for remaining portions of the 

City. The City would receive additional property tax revenue although probably not in an amount 

to cover the full cost of service. The City would have to use other revenues sources that would be 

expected to increase as a result of new development. This organizational structure would be the 

same as for the City prior to 1996 and identical to the approach for fire services for all other cities 

that provide fire service in the County (Stockton, Lodi, and Manteca). The County would receive 

additional funds to provide funding for increase in County provided services. 

Although LAFCo cannot initiate a detachment, Tracy, Tracy Rural or the County could request 

the detachment of Tracy Rural in the future for areas that overlap with the City of Tracy. The 

Cortese-Knox- Hertzberg Act defines an affected agency as any agency that contain territory for 

which a change of organization is proposed. By way of example, Contra Costa County recently 

applied to Contra Costa LAFCo for detachment of land that overlapped with Byron Bethany 

Irrigation District and Discovery Bay Community Services District. Any of the three agencies 

could initiate the proceedings. 

Comments Received 

LAFCo distributed the Governance Review Report (2019) to San Joaquin County for review and 

comment. The County Administrator's communication dated April 15, 2019 is attached 

(Attachment B). 

The communication states that annexation without detachment has resulted in a significant loss of 
revenue for the County. Utilizing the time frame identified in the Governance Review between 
Fiscal Years (FY) 2019/20 through 2026/2 7, the San Joaquin County Auditor Controller's Office 
(ACO) identified County revenues would have increased by $3.5 million in FY 2019/2010 and 
continued to increase to $10.1 million in FY 2026/27, with a cumulative loss of potential revenue 

Page 16 of 17 



totaling $55 million during the 2019/20 through 2026/27 fiscal year time frame. The ACO also 
calculated revenue loss that occurred in the past from annexations utilizing the time frame of FY 
2001/02 through 2018/19, which has resulted in a loss of revenue totaling $19.2 million for the 
County. Combining both time frame period, the County will have a cumulative loss of 
approximately $74.2 million in revenue due to annexation without detachment for the twelve 
existing annexations. 

The communication states further the County encourages the City of Tracy to adhere to the same 
process as all other cities that provide fire service in the County (Stockton, Lodi, and Manteca) 
which is to perform annexation with detachment. Requiring future annexations to the City of 
Tracy to detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District will ensure the County is provided 
necessary funding for increased demand on County services. 

SUMMARY 

The continuation of a model that requires a rural fire district to provide urban fire services is not 
in the best interest of the public. It allows for the duplication of service including the overlapping 
of sphere of influence boundaries. It permits a tax structure that charges more for fire services for 
new residents and businesses than for others. The model has not been economically viable for 
Tracy Rural since its inception of the original JPA. It is questionable as to Tracy Rural's future 
sustainability. Continuation of this model may result in a decrease level of service for fire 
protection if new stations are not constructed as needed. The negative impact to County resources 
are substantial by using an archaic tax system to prevent the sharing of resources for the increased 
in demand from new development. 

If the Commission is inclined to continue the present organizational structure (annexation without 
detachment), it is recommended that LAFCo seek the services of a professional consulting firm to 
explore the consequences of carrying out that action and to explore whether Tracy Rural has the 
financial ability to provide the service. Although there has been numerous reports on this matter, 
none has appear to analyze the pertinent matters in a fair and impartial manner for carrying out 
this alternative. The most recent report seems to conflict with previous reports including the 
Management Partners Report of 2014. Staff believes however, there is more than sufficient 
information in the record to substantiate a determination that the Commission adopt a policy that 
future annexations to the City of Tracy will detach from Tracy Rural Fire Protection District. 

Resolution No. 1402 
Motion 
Attachment A: 
Attachment B: 
Exhibit 1: 
Exhibit 2: 

Exhibit 3: 

Letter dated May 14, 1996 from Tracy and Tracy Rural 
Letter dated April 15, 2019 from County Administrator's Office 
Fire Governance Implementation Plan (August 6, 2013) 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Report (Management Partners
September 2014) 
Governance Review Report (2019) 

Page 17 of 17



Resolution No. 1402 

Before the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Adopting an Annexation Policy for the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural Fire Protection 

District 

WHEREAS, Section 56430 of the Government Code requires the Commission to 
conduct a service review of the municipal services provided in the county or other appropriate 
areas designated by the Commission; and 

WHERAS, the Commission adopted a Municipal Service Review for Rural Fire 
Protection Districts in San Joaquin County on October 21, 2011; and 

WHEREAS, said Municipal Service Review required completion of a plan regarding 
the governance model for Tracy City Fire Department and Tracy Rural Fire Protection 
District subject to the approval of LAFCo; and 

WHEREAS, numerous studies have been prepared including a Fire Governance 
Implementation Plan (dated August 16, 2013), an Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Report (dated September 2014) and a Governance Review Report (dated December 2018); 
and 

WHERAS, such studies provided information regarding options including detachment 
and no detachment of Tracy Rural FPD from the City of Tracy upon annexation, the 
organizational structure, and financial implications of carryout various options; and 

WHEREAS, the Commission held a public meeting on the governance model on April 
25, 2019 in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, 44 North San Joaquin Street, Stockton, 
California and received comments; and 

WHEREAS, at said meeting the Commission heard and received evidence, both oral 
and written regarding the governance model, and all persons present were given an 
opportunity to be heard; and 

WHEREAS, this Commission has duly considered all materials submitted regarding 
governance model for Tracy City Fire Department and Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

NOW, THEREFORE, the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission DOES 
HEREBY RESOLVE, DETERMINE, AND ORDER as follows: 

Section 1. Certifies that the project is found to be exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15262 of the CEQA Guidelines. 

Section 2. Adopts the model requiring that future annexations to the City of Tracy 
will detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District. 

Section 3. The Executive Officer is hereby authorized and directed to distribute 
copies of this Resolution to affected agencies and interested parties. 



Resolution No. 1402 4-25-19

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 25th day of April 2019 by the following roll call votes: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

Resolution No. 1402 4-25-19

PETER M. JOHNSON, Chairman 

San Joaquin Local Agency 
Formation Commission 



MOTION 

Moved by Commissioner _________ , seconded by Commissioner 
__________ that the Executive Officer is hereby directed to seek proposals for 
professional consulting services related to the consequences and financial feasibility of 
continuing the option of no detachment of Tracy Rural upon annexation to the City of Tracy. 



( 

CITY of TRACY 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 

May 14, 1996 

Mr. Gerald F. Scott 
Executive Officer 
San Joaquin County 
1860 East Hazelton Avenue 
Stockton, CA 95205 

RE: Annexations of Northeast Industrial and Elissagary 

Dear Mr. Scott: 

(· AlTACHMENTA

Terrell S. Estes 

Fire Chief 

The City of Tracy has submitted two proposed annexations entitled MNortheast 
Industrial and Elissagary". These proposed annexations are requesting to remain 
within the boundaries of the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District. 

The reason for this request is that the City of Tracy Fire Department and the Tracy 
Rural Fire Protection District are in final negotiations to consolidate. When 
consolidation does occur, the City of Tracy will relinquish fire protection 
responsibilities as well as their Fire Department employees to the Tracy Rural Fire 
Protection District under a contractual agreement. The new Fire District finance plan is 
based on new annexations not detaching from the Fire District for fire protection and 
property tax reasons. The District may continue with the "voter approved" tax override 
as well. 

Both Fire Chiefs representing the City of Tracy Fire Department and the Tracy Rural 
Fire Protection District are in favor of this proposal. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to give one of us a call at your convenience. 

Sincerely, 

Teri�./.�� 
Fire Chief 
City of Tracy Fire Department 

ene LeBlanc 
Fire Chief 
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 
(209) 835-1883

325 East Tenth Street, Tracy, CA 95376 Phone (209)831-4700 Fax (209)831-4703 



', . 

SAN JOAOUIN 
-COUNTY-

'' !, + ' ' 
I • 

April 15, 2019 

James Glaser 
Executive Officer 
San Joaquin LAFCO 

/• 

509 West Weber Avenue, Suite 420 
Stockton, CA 95203 

ATTACHMENT B 

Office of the County Administrator 

Monica Nino, County Administrator 

Jerry Becker, Assistant County Administrator 

South San Joaquin County Fire Authority Governance Review 

Dear Mr. Glaser: 

This letter is in response to the Governance Review conducted by the South San Joaquin 
County Fire Authority dated December 26, 2018 regarding funding issues arising from 
annexations involving non-detachment. 

In order to process annexation applications, State law requires that an agreement be in place 
between the requesting city and the county to specify how the existing property tax in the area 
to be annexed will be redistributed. Agreements can be negotiated individually for each 
annexation or a "master" agreement can be put into place to facilitate the approval process. In 
San Joaquin County, master agreements between the County and each of the cities have 
facilitated annexations since 1997. The City of Tracy entered into its most recent tax sharing 
agreement with San Joaquin County on November 20, 2012. Pursuant to the tax sharing 
agreement, for annexations that involve detachment from a fire district, reallocated property 
taxes are shared in the ratio of 80% for the County and 20% for the City. For annexations that 
do not involve detachment from a fire district, reallocated property taxes are shared in the ratio 
of 85% for the County and 15% for the City for consolidated fire districts established between 
June 15, 1996 and June 15, 2003. For consolidated fire districts established subsequent to 
June 15, 2003, reallocated property taxes are shared in the ratio of 90% for the County and 
10% for the City. 

Since 1996, the City of Tracy has annexed twelve properties within its Sphere of Influence and 
the properties were annexed into the City without detachment from the Tracy Rural Fire District. 
The reason provided for not detaching from the fire district was that the City and Tracy Rural 
anticipated the formation of a consolidated district where the fire district would be responsible 
for fire protection service in both the City and the District, however, to date, this consolidation 
has not occurred per the terms of the agreement. Annexation without detachment has resulted 
in a significant loss of revenue for the County. Utilizing the time frame identified in the 
Governance Review between Fiscal Years (FY) 2019/20 through 2026/27, the San Joaquin 
County Auditor Controller's Office (ACO) identified County revenues would have increased by 
$3.5 million in FY 2019/2020 and continued to increase to $10.1 million in FY 2026/27, with a 
cumulative loss of potential revenue totaling $55 million during the 2019/20 through 2026/27 
fiscal year time frame. The ACO also calculated revenue loss that occurred in the past from 

44 N. San Joaquin Street, Suite 640 I Stockton, California 95202 I T 209 468 3203 I F 209 468 2875 



SAN JOAQUIN Office of the County Administrator 

-COUNTY-

annexations utilizing the time frame of FY 2001/02 through 2018/19, which has resulted in a 
loss of revenue totaling $19.2 million for the County. Combining both time frame periods, the 
County will have a cumulative loss of approximately $74.2 million in revenue due to annexation 
without detachment for the twelve existing annexations. 

The Governance Review identifies two future annexations that would be annexed without 
detaching from the District, the Avenues with 250 homes and Tracy Village with 575 homes. 
The County acknowledges that both the City and the County have increasing service 
responsibilities with restrained revenue resources and the County does not want to delay the 
processing of these annexations. However, the County encourages the City of Tracy to adhere 
to the same process as all other cities that provide fire service in the County (Stockton, Lodi, 
and Manteca) which is to perform annexation with detachment. Requiring future annexations 
to the City of Tracy to detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District will ensure the County 
is provided necessary funding for increased demand on County services. 

Thank you for your consideration. If you have any questions, I can be reached at (209) 468-
3203 or by contacting Mo Hatef, Senior Deputy County Administrator at (209) 468-2996. 

MN:MH:ag 

c: Board of Supervisors 
Auditor-Controller 
Tad Neave, South San Joaquin County Fire Authority, City of Tracy 

MN04-03 

2of2 



EXHIBIT 1 

FIRE GOVERNANCE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

August 16, 2013 

/ 



Fire Governance fmpfementatlon Plan 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. EXECUTIVE SUM MARY .... ......... .... ......... .. ............. ... . ............ .. .... ......... ... .... .... ... . 3 

2. BACKGROUND..................................................................................................... 4 

3. FIRE GOVERNANCE STEERING COMMITTEE PROCESS ................................ 4 

4. FIRE GOVERNANCE OPTIONS ........................................................................... 5 

A. Option 1 : Strengthen the Existing Joint Powers Authority .. .. . . ......... ... . . .. . . .. . . . . 5 

B. Option 2: Dissolve the SCFA and Form a New JPA....................................... 5 

C. Option 3: Outsource/Contract Fire Services................................................... 6 

D. Option 4: Annex the City into the District to Form One Regional Fire District 6 

5. RECOMMENDED FIRE GOVERNANCE MODEL................................................. 7 

6. FIRE GOVERNANCE IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH...................................... 7 

7. FIRE GOVERNANCE IMPLEMENTATION SCHEDULE....................................... 8 

8. MASTER ANNEXATION AGREEMENT................................................................ 9 

9. CONCLUSION ............................. ................. ............... ....... ... ................................ 9 

ATTACHMENT: County of San Joaquin & City of Tracy Agreement for Property Tax 
Allocation upon Annexation......................................................................................... 9 

Page 2 of9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

SECTION 1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On October, 2011, the San Joaquin County Local Area Fonnation Commission 
(LAFCo) requested that the South County Fire Authority (SCFA) Joint Powers 
Authority (JPA) evaluate its existing fire governance structure and develop an 
implementation plan that reflects recommended changes within an 18 month time 
period. The SCFA established a Fire Service Steering Committee to oversee the 
review process, which included analyzing various fire governance models and 
obtaining stakeholder and resident input. 

The Fire Service Steering Committee identified and evaluated four governance 
options: 

• Option 1: Strengthen the Existing Joint Powers Authority (JPA};
• Option 2: Dissolve Existing JPA & Form a New JPA;
• Option 3: Have Existing Entities Contract Directly with the City of Tracy

(City}; and 
• Option 4: Annex the City into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District

(TRFPD} to Form One Regional Fire District 

The Steering Committee determined that Options 2 and 3 were not feasible and 
recommended that steps be taken to implement Option 1, which involves 
strengthening the existing JPA structure. The Committee also recommended that 
the SCFA concurrently pursue Option 4 and explore the feasibility of fonning one 
regional fire district. The recommended options were approved by the SCFA, Tracy 
City Council, and TRFPD and presented to LAFCo on July 19, 2013. 

At the July 19, 2013 LAFCo meeting, the Commission requested that the SCFA 
provide additional information concerning its recommendations, including a 
comprehensive fiscal impact analysis of forming a regional fire district and further 
explanation of the governance options that were determined not feasible by the 
Steering Committee. However, after receiving correspondence from the San 
Joaquin County Administrator's office, along with a copy of the Master Annexation 
Agreement, Executive Director James Glaser informed the City at an August 1, 
2013 meeting that initial concerns about the fiscal impact to the County were 
alleviated and additional analysis was no longer necessary. A copy of the Master 
Annexation Agreement is attached for the Commission's reference. 

The following sections of this report reflect a revised fire governance 
implementation plan, discussing in more detail the feasibility approach, governance 
options and recommendations, and a preliminary review of fiscal impacts related to 
the proposed plan. 

Page 3 of 9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

SECTION 2: BACKGROUND 

The SCFA was created on September 16, 1999. Member agencies include the 
City, the TRFPD and Mountain House Community Services District (MHCSD) 
through a contract with TRFPD. This model has helped to streamline operations, 
resulting in reduced costs and increased purchasing power for equipment and fire 
apparatus. 

The SCFA governance structure is made up of a Board of Directors, comprised of 
two members of the Tracy City Council and two members of the TRFPD Board. 
SCFA revenue is derived from the City of Tracy General Fund and funding from 
TRFPD and MHCSD. The City acts as the •Administering Agency;• the City 
Manager serves as the Executive Director and the City's Administrative Services 
Director acts as the Treasurer/Controller. All fire personnel are employees of the 
City and the SCFA contracts with City for personnel. 

The SCF A is a consolidated fire service agency that operates under one set of 
policies and procedures led by one fire chief and administrative staff. Key efforts by 
this consolidated fire service agency to address current and future service needs 
include the development of the 2007 Standards of Cover report, which identifies 
the addition of resources/facilities necessary to maintain adequate resources 
throughout the service area as development occurs in the future. Additionally, the 
SCFA members have jointly funded a replacement station, Fire Station 92. Upon 
completion, the members will share the cost of staffing for the station. Fire 
Prevention services are provided by the SCFA to the entire service area. 

At its October 2011 meeting, LAFCo requested that the SCFA to evaluate its fire 
services structure and explore the feasibility of implementing an alternative 
governance model. On July 19, 2013, LAFCo considered the SCFA's proposed Fire 
Governance Implementation Plan and requested that the plan expand its discussion 
on governance options and its recommended implementation approach and 
schedule. This Fire Governance Implementation Plan has been updated to address 
concerns and comments expressed at the July 19, 2013 Commission meeting. 

SECTION 3: FIRE GOVERNANCE OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE PROCESS 

A Fire Governance Steering Committee was formed to oversee the identification of 
fire govemance model alternatives and was comprised of stakeholders including 
members of the public, SCFA, the City, and MHCSD, and fire personnel. 

The following governance options were identi
f

ied and evaluated by the Steering 
Committee: 

• Option 1: Strengthen the Existing Joint Powers Authority (JPA);
• Option 2: Dissolve Existing JPA & Form a New JPA;
• Option 3: Have Existing Entities Contract Directly with the City of Tracy, and
• Option 4: Annex the City into the District to Form One Regional Fire District.

Page 4 of9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

Three community workshops were held to discuss the governance options and to 
receive input from the public. Additionally, a Fire Department employee taskforce 
was formed to review the suggested governance options and identify concerns from 
fire personnel. Staff also met with the Interim County Administrator to obtain 
feedback about the proposed governance models and communicate on behalf of 
the County and Board of Supervisors. 

SECTIO� -1: FIRE GOVERNANCE OPTIONS 

Option 1: Strengthen the Existing Joint Powers Authority 

The SCFA JPA was, organized in 1999 pursuant to California Government Code 
Sections 6500-6536. The JPA currently consists of two member agencies, the City 
and the TRFPO. The service area covered by the JPA includes the jurisdictional 
areas of the City, the adjacent rural areas, and MHCSO. Services are provided to 
MHCSD pursuant to a contract with TRFPD. The JPA is governed by a four 
member board of directors, two from each member agency. The City provides 
services through a contract with the SCFA. Costs, including indirect costs, are 
allocated through a fonnula based on the staffing needs within each member 
agency's jurisdictional area. Each member agency is responsible for the capital 
costs of replacement apparatus and major repair/renovation of facilities located 
within their respective jurisdictional boundaries. 

The following is the cost allocation based on the Fiscal Year 2013/14 SCFA budget: 

City of Tracy TRFPD MHCSD Adopted FY 13/14 SCFA 
Budget 

$10M $4M $2.4M $16.5M 

While several modifications ranging from the expansion of members to the 
establishment of a capital cost pool have been identified to strengthen the existing 
JPA, this option will require additional analysis. A feasibility study by a specialized 
consultant to further evaluate this option is recommended. This approach would 
ensure comprehensive evaluation of all applicable governance models, including a 
fiscal analysis of alternatives and best practices implementation approach and plan. 

Option 2: Dissolve the SCFA and Form a New Joint Powers Authority 

This option is allowed pursuant to California Administrative Code Sections 6500 -
6536. The new Joint Powers Authority would include the City, the TRFPD and the 
MHCSD. It would be governed by a Board of Directors, appointed by the City 
Council and Board of Directors of each member entity. A new contract and 
foundation documents would be developed, ensuring that the JPA is conqucted as 
an independent body. 

Page 5 of9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

This option was not considered by the Fire Govemance Steering Committee 
because it is duplicative of the existing governance structure from an operational 
and fiscal perspective. Additionally, it would create significant disruption to the 
organization, yet yield the same or similar results as Option 1 therefore this option 
will not be pursued. 

Option 3: Outsource/Contract Fire Services 

This option would require that the two member Bj;Jencies negotiate a straight cash 
contract for services. All employees would be employed by the contractor. 
Ownership of facilities, apparatus, and equipment would be determined through the 
negotiation process. 

This option was determined to not be viable because it does not meet the definition 
of consolidation and does not provide an opportunity for governance oversight or 
adequate representation for the contracting parties. More importantly, it does not 
resolve the concerns raised by LAFCo as part of its Municipal Services Review 
(MSR} of Fire Districts therefore this option will not be pursued. 

Option 4: Annex the City into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

Annexations are subject to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government 
Reorganization Act and are subject to LAFCo procedures. The proceedings for 
annexation may be initiated by resolution of the affected local agency, the TRFPD 
in this case. 

If the application proceeds, LAFCo will hold a public hearing and may either 
terminate the proceedings if a majority protest exists, order annexation subject to 
voter confirmation if the requisite number of protests are made, or order annexation 
without an election if the number of protests does not require an election. 

All properties within the District's jurisdiction are subject to a benefit assessment 
based on the type of structure. Fire services would be funded through property tax 
and the benefit assessment. Residential and most commercial structures are 
assessed three cents per square foot in addition to the base property tax. The 
County, acting on behalf of the TRFPD, and the City would negotiate a property tax 
sharing agreement to determine the property tax to be transferred to the District. 

Preliminary fiscal analysis revealed that the portion of the City of Tracy subject to 
annexation receives approximately nine million dollars as its share of secured 
property tax. While the City may negotiate a portion of this amount to be available 
for transfer to the District upon annexation, the City has not committed the entire 
nine million dollars for that purpose. 

Like Option 1, given the complexity of this alternative, a consultant would need to 
conduct a comprehensive study to determine the operational and fiscal feasibility of 
annexing the City into the TRFPD. Therefore, a feasibility study by a specialized 

Page 6 of 9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

consultant to further evaluate this option is recommended. This approach wUI 
ensure comprehensive evaluation of all applicable governance models, including a 
fiscal analysis of alternatives and a best practices implementation approach and 
plan. 

SECTION 5: RECOMMENDED FIRE GOVERNANCE MODEL 

In cooperation with the SCFA, City, and TRFPD, the Fire Governance Steering 
Committee recommended, that Options 1 and 4 be further evaluated. This proposal 
was presented to LAFCo for consideration on July 19, 2013. 

Should this recommendation be accepted by LAFCo, the SCFA would engage a 
consultant experienced in conducting fire services consolidation feasibility studies 
to assess the JPA's existing structure and applicable implementation approaches, 
with an estimated timeframe for the option of annexing the City into the District. 

SECTION 6: FIRE GOVERNANCE IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH 

The City Council, the TRFPD Board of Directors and the SCFA Board of Directors 
recommend to LAFCo that the current governance structure be maintained while a 
regional stand-alone fire agency is further analyzed. 

The City, the TRFPD and the SCFA plan to work with a consultant to complete a 
feasibility study of Options 1 and 4 listed above, pursuant to the Fire Services 
Steering Committee recommendations and the City Council's, the TRFPD Board of 
Directors' and the SCFA Board of Directors' concurrence. Additionally, while the 
consultant completes the feasibility study of Options 1 and 4, staff will also move 
forward with the following: 

• Explore potential MHCSD membership in the SCFA;

• Explore adding one additional member to the SCF A Board of Directors. If the
MHCSD becomes a member of the SCFA, that member could be one of the
MHCD Directors. If not, an at large member could be appointed by the SCFA
Board of Directors;

• Work to establish a capital fund for apparatus replacement/repair and facility
repair/replacement;

• Explore establishing the Fire Chief as Executive Director instead of the City
Manager.

After completion of the feasibility study, identification of the various governance, 
fiscal and operational considerations, and the determination of an estimated 
timeframe for completion, either Option 1 or 4 will be pursued and an 
Implementation Plan and Schedule will be finalized. 

Page 7 of9 



Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

To illustrate the anticipated complexity of the analysis required in obtaining 
sufficient information to determine the best service, governance, and fiscal model to 
pursue, several components to be considered have been identified. It is expected 
that the consultant will identify additional considerations inherent in Options 1 or 4, 
as the milestone are identified. 

As an example, components that have already been identified include, but are not 
limited to, (1) determination of contract changes, (2) an employee transfer plan, (3) 
establishment of contracts for Human Resources and administrative services, (4) 
determination of a viable resolution to the District's current debt to the City, 
(currently resolved via a pre-paid services agreement); (5) resolution of ownership 
of existing assets, including resolution related to use and maintenance of facilities, 
apparatus, and equipment, and (6) determination of the amount of property tax 
sharing. 

These critical components have been identified, and more will be noted after the 
consultant is on board. Additionally, staff recognizes that various factors (including 
the negotiation process, unforeseen annexation considerations, and involvement of 
various stakeholders, including LAFCo, San Joaquin County, the City, the TRFPD, 
and MHCSD) may impact estimated tlmelines. 

SECTION 7: FIRE GOVERNANCE IMPLEMENTATION SCHEDULE 

A consultant will be obtained to further evaluate Options 1 and 2 from a service, 
operational, fiscal, and legal standpoint. The goal is to obtain a clear understanding 
of all the requirements and milestones necessary and implications to various 
stakeholders before determining which Option to ultimately pursue. Staff plans to 
implement the four activities listed in the schedule simultaneously. Periodic 
updates on the implementation status will be provided to LAFCo and will continue 
until full implementation is realized. 

Table 1: Fire Governance Implementation Schedule 

,-� ". 
.. _t>• :' ': :-..: :\!��\ 

.-- ·i';� ' 

.·•,<•�· i:iiiE : 
-

':-::i·--· 
DATE 

Contract Consultant for Feasibility Study 10/01/13 

Explore MHCSD membership in the SCFA 10/17/13 

Explore adding a member to the JPA Board of Directors 07/01/14 

Work toward establishment of a capital fund for apparatus 
replacemenVrepair and facility repair/ replacement 07/01/15 

Explore having the Fire Chief serve as the Executive Director 
instead of the City Manager 

Page 8 of9 



Fire Govemance Implementation Plan 

SECTION 8: MASTER ANNEXATION AGREEMENT REGARDING 

DETACHMENT/NON-DETACHMENT FISCAL ISSUES 

The County and the City of Tracy currently have a Master Annexation Agreement 
that specifies the property tax allocation ratio with two annexation options that either 
1) involve detachment from a fire district, or 2) do not involve detachment from a fire
district. This Master Annexation agreement delineates different property tax
sharing ratios between the County and the City.

Section 2 of the Agreement lists various property tax allocations that specify 
different property tax sharing ratio depending on: 

(1) When annexations involving detachment from a fire district occurred,
(2) When annexations that do not involve detachment from a fire district occurred,
(3) When the consolidated fire district was established/

This agreement also includes a specific provision for the Tracy 2003 Gateway 
annexation. 

The agreement is attached for your reference (Attachment A: County of San 
Joaquin & City of Tracy Agreement for Property Tax Allocation upon Annexation). 
Per James Glaser, Executive Director, this Master Annexation Agreement satisfies 
fiscal concerns discussed at the July 19, 2013 LAFCo meeting. 

SECTION 9: CONCLUSION 

It is requested that LAFCo approve the Fire Governance Implementation Plan 
submitted by the South County Fire Authority. This action would demonstrate that 
LAFCo's direction to the South County Fire Authority and requirements of the 
Municipal Services Review (MSR) policy have been met. 

It is also requested that the implementation language within the MSR listed below 
pertaining to the requirement of a plan regarding the governance model be deleted. 

"Complete a plan regarding the governance model for the Tracy City 
Fire Department and the Tracy Rural FPO within 18 months subject to 

the approval of LAFCo. All subsequent annexation requests shall be 
consistent with the approved plan." 

ATTACHMENT: County of San Joaquin & City of Tracy Agreement for Property 
Tax Allocation upon Annexation 

Page 9 of9 



I L.-==I =Atta=chment======--Jj l 
County of San �oaquln & City of Tracy 

Agreemeni for Property Tax AILon upon Annexation
A·1i- 4'1 

AGREEMENT entered Into this ...oD__ day of NOVtMb,{2012 by and between the Cty of . 
Tracy, hereinafter referred to as "OTY" and the County of $an Joaquin, hereinafter referred to as 
"COUNTY"; 

PREAMBLE: 

. ' . . 
(;:ITV and CQl:JNTY acknowj�ge that �pth CITY and C�UNlY ha�e lru:,easlng service 

respor:asfbllltles w!th restrained re�enue �V�• There Is_ no �ns��us between CITY and 
cou� .regard!ng the analysis of loca! government funding Issues �rising from annexations. 
CITY and COUNTY each have the!r own distinctive and differing perspectives on costs and 
revenues generate� by annexed areas. However, there Is a statutory requirement for a Property 
Tax Alklcatton Agreement for the Loe.al Agency FonnatJon Commls'sfon to annex land. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Artlde 13A, Section l of the Constitution of the State of Callfomla llmlts ad 
valorem taxes on real property to one percent (1 o/o) of full cash value; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 6 of Part o·.s of 0lvlsJon 1 of the Revenu� and Taxation Code 
(Sections 95 et. seq.) provides for the allocation of property tax revenues; and 

WHEREAS, CITY and COUNTY must have an agreement for the allocation of property tax 
revenues upon annexation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, In consideration of the premises and the following terms and 
conditions, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

\. DEFINmONS. The words aa,d ph�� In this Agreement shall hc)ve meanings as set 
forth below: 

A. "Annexation Property Tax Base• shall mean the Base Year sum of the ad valorem 
tax allocated t9 Detaching Special Districts, as defined herein, and to COUNlY
within the are.a ·�elng ann��. 

B. "Detaching Special DIStrlcts• shall mean those polltlcal subdivisions organized 
pursuant to the laws of the State of Callfomla whose functions within the area
being annexed are tennlnated and/or assumed by CITY. 

C. "'Detad\ment" shall mean the removal from a special district of any portion of the
territory of that special district. 

1 

I 
I 



Master Annexation Agreement 

D. "Base Year" shall mean the assessed valuation applicable to the property and
Improvements within the area being annexed at the time the application for
annexation Is submitted to the Local Agency Formation Commtsslon (LAFCo}.

E. "Incremental Growth" shall mean the total Increase or decrease In the property
tax base over the base year within the annexed area.

2. PROPERTY TAX Al-LOCATION.
Upon each annexation, property tax allocation shall be determined pursuant to one of
the followtng provisions:

A. For annexations that Involve Oetacl"lment from a fire district, CITY and COUNTY
shall, upon each annexation that In whole or In part, Involves Detachment from a
fire district, share In the Annexation Property Tax Base and all Incremental
Growth thereof pursuant to the ratio of 20% CITY and SO% COUNTY for all
portions of the annexation that Involve Detachment from a fire district.

B. For annexations that do not Involve Detachment from a fire district, CITY and
COUNTY shall, upon each annexation that In whole or In part, does not Involve
Detachment from a fire district, share In the Ann�xatlon Property Tax Base and
Incremental Growth thereof, for all portions of the annexation that do not Involve
Detachment from a fire district, as follows:

I. Consolidated fire districts established prior to June 15, 1996, pursuant to the
ratio of 20% CITY and 80% COUNTY.

II. Consolidated fire districts established between lune 15, 1996 and June 15,
2003, pursuant to the ratio of 15% CITY and BS% COUNTY.

Ill. Consolidated fire districts established subsequent to June 15, 2003, pursuant 
to the ratio of 10% CITY and 90% COUNTY. 

C. For annexations by the cities of Escalon and Ripon only, notwithstanding
Subsections 2A and 2B, CTTY and COUNTY shall, upon each annexation, share In
the Annexation Property Tax Base and all Incremental Growth thereof pursuant to
the ratio of 36.6% CITY and 63.4% COUNTY, until such time as the current
populatlon of CITY,. based on the most recent estimates published by the
California State Department of Anance, exceeds 18,000.

D. For the City of Tracy 2003 Gateway annexation only, CITY and COUNTY, from the
date of this agreement forward, shall share In the Annexation Property Tax Base
and all Incremental Growth thereof pursuant to the ratio of 15% CTTY and 85%
COUNl'Y.

3. APPLICATION OF AGREEMENT.

A. Term. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to all pending and future
annexations from the effective date of this Agreement through July 31, 2019,
unless otherwise terminated under Section 10.

2 



Master Annexation Agreement 

B. Eff'ectlve date. The effective date of property tax allpcatlon for �ach annexation
shall be determined In accordance with Government Code S�ctlon 54902 and any
sua:eedlng statutory provisions. Cu�ntly, statem.ents of boundary change must
be flleq wtth the State BQard of Equallzatlon -on or before r;>ecember 1 of the year
Immediately preceding the year In which property �x�s ar, to be shared.

c. ·Future property taxes. The provisions of this Agreement would also apply to any
property �empt from ad vaJorem taxe$. which subsequentl.y became taxable
within tr,e area to be �nnexeq,

D. Te�s of subsequen� �greements. Except as noted In Section 2, property tax
share allocated to CITY from future annexation areas wlll be no lower than any
other city In San Joaquin County with the same criteria •

. . . 

4. JOINT REVIEW.

CITY anl COUNiY may jointly review COUNTY prope� tax �ecords from time to time
or as requested by CTTY to verify accurate distribution under the Agreement.

5'. EXCLUSIONS. 

A. The Agreement shall ,:iot apply to proposed annexation areas where the COUNlY
Is currently receiving transient occupancy tax (TOT) revenues. Annexation
agreements for areas where the COUNTY Is currently receiving TOT revenues wlll
be lndlvl�u.?11.Y negotla��� between the COUNTY and crr:v to address the potential
TOT loss to the COUNTY.

B. The Agreement shall not apply to proposed annexation areas where gross taxable
sales, subject to sales and use· taxes, exceed $1 mllllon lr Hhe most recent year
that taxable sales data Is available from the State Board of Equallzatlon or any
other St:qte successor organization that may provide taxable sales Information.
Annexation agreements for areas containing over $1 mllllon In taxable sales will
be Individually negotiated between �e COUNlY and CITY to address the potential
sales and use tax loss to the COUNlY.

C. The Agreement shall not apply to annexations that, In whole or In part, Include
. .. 

more than fifty (50) acres of COIJNlY owned property. Such annexations will be
considered under �eparately negotiated and mutually beneficial annexation and
development agreements.

6. REGIONAL COOPERATION.
In consideration of the unique and mutual funding dlfflcultles of both CITY and
COUNTY, OlY and COUN1Y Will jointly develop and �ek to Implement changes in
their activities which will Improve the cost effectiveness of service delivery by both
CITY and COUNlY, Including but not limited to consolidation of services between
governmental agencies and Inter-agency contracting for services.

7. COUNTY CAPITAL FAOLITIES FUNDING.
CITY recognizes the Importance of regional services and facllltles provided by the
COUNTY for all residents of the entire COUNlY.

3 



Master Annexation Agreement 

CITY shall contribute to COUNTY'S funding for regional facilltles by adopting or 
renewing a County facllltles fee ordinance and resolution enacting and Implementing 
the County capital Fadlltles Fee (CFF) Program. In accordance with the requirements 
of Government Code Sections 66000 et seq., CITY shall adopt this ordinance and 
resolution prior to or concurrent with exea.Jtlon of this Agreement. 

8. URBAN DEVB.OPMENT COOPERATION.

A ratlonal pattern of urban land uses Is a common goal of CITY and COUNlY, as
expressed In their respective General Plans. The effldent construction of urban
Infrastructure and the delivery of munldpal services require cooperation between
COUNlY and CITY within areas designated for urban development, speclffcally OTY'S
Sphere of In_tluence.

A. County General Plan Polley. COUNTY affirms the policies expressed In Its General
Plan that support concentration of additional major urban development within
urban centers.

B. Urban Planning and Development Cooperation. The preparation of land use and
Infrastructure plans within CITY'S Sphere of Influence, consistent with statutory
guidelines, Is encouraged. COUNTY shaU refer all land use applications requiring
discretionary approval within CITY'S Sphere of Influence to CITY for review and
comment.

C. Capital Facilities Funding and Cooperation. OTY and COUNTY wlll cooperate In the
development of Infrastructure plans within CITY'S Sphere of Influence. Relative to
areas for which CITY and COUNTY have jointly adopted master plans for
infrastructure and, upon request by OTY, COUNTY will schedule an Area
Development Impact Fee (ADIF) for public hearing. This ADIF wlll Incorporate
CITY development Impact fees that are specifically required to support jointly
planned Infrastructure. COUNTY shall cooperate In the construction of capital
faci lities thus funded.

9. COMMUNITY SERVICE FAOLITIES

A. Siting of Community Facllltles. CITY and COUNTY recognize the Importance of
community services provided by COUNTY and other providers and also the
Importance of these services being convenient to residents of COUNTY making use
of these servl�es. Accordingly, as a part of the land use planning and pre-zoning
for proposed munlclpal annexations, OTY will cooperate with COUNTY to Identify
community service needs of the local community and, where appropriate, work
with COUNTY to locate potential sites for these community services facilities.

B. CITY may elect to adopt or add to existing development Impact fees In lieu of
providing community service facility sites. Such fees may be administered within
CITY or may be Included as a component of the above-mentioned County Capital
Facllitles Fee.

10. TERMINATION.
This Agreement may be terminated, by any party hereto, upon six (6) months written
notice which termination shall terminate the agreement for each and every party.

4 



Master Annexation Agreement 

Said termination shall not affect annexations for which the LAFCo Executive Officer 
has Issued-a certfflcate of flllng prior to the end of the six (6) month termination 
period. 

11. GOVERNING LAW AND ATTORNEYS' FEES.
This Agreement shall be co!'\5trued and enforced In accordance with the laws of the
State of callfomla. Should any legal action be brought by either party bec.ause of any
default under this Agreement or to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to
obtain a declaration of rights hereunder, the prevalllng party shall be entitled to
reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and such other costs as may be fixed by the
c;ourt. The standard of review for detennlnlng whether a default has occurred under
this Agreement shall be the standard generally appllcat,le to contractual obligations In
callfomla.

12. NOTICES.
Any notice of communication required hereunder among OTY and COUNTY must be
In wrlt;lng, and may be given either personally, by tefefacslmlle (with original
forwarded by regular l).S. Mall) or by Federal Express or other similar courier
promising ovemlght delivery. If personally delivered, a notice or communication shall
be deem�d to have been given and received when dellvered to the party to whom It Is
addresse(i. If given by facsimile transmission, a notice or communication shall be
deemed to have been given and received upon actual physlcal receipt of the entire
document by the receiving party's facslmlle machine. Notices transmitted by facslmlfe
after 5:00 p.m. on a normal business day or on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday shali'
be deemed to have been given and received on the next nonnal business day. If
given by Federal Express or slmllar courter, a notlce or communication shall be
deemed to have, been given and received on the date delivered as shown on a receipt
Issued by the courier. Such notices or communications shall be given to the parties at
their addresses set forth below:

To CITY (City Manager): 

Leon Churchill, Jr. 
City of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, CA 95376 
To COUNTY {County Administrator): 

Manuel Lopez 
County Administration Building 
44 N. San Joaquin St., Ste. 640 
Stockton, California 95202-2931 
Telefacsimlle: (209) 468-2875 

With Coples To (City Attorney): 

Daniel G. Sodergren 
Qty of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, CA 95376 
With Coples To (County Counsel): 

David Wooten 
County Administration Building 
44 N. San Joaquin St., Ste. 679 
Stockton, Callfomla 95202-2931 
Tefefacslmile: (209) 468-0315 

Any party hereto may at any time, by giving ten (10) days written notice to the other 
parties, designate any other address or facsimile number In substitution of the 
address or facsimile number to which such not!ce or communication shall be given. 

13. SEVERABILITY.

If any provision of this Agreement Is held invalid, void, or unenforceable but the

5 



Master Annexation Agreement 

remainder of this Agreement can be enforced without failure of material consideration 
to any party, then this Agreement shall not be affected and It shall remain In full force 
and effect, unless amended by mutual consent of the parties, Notwithstanding this 
severablllty clause, each subsection o� Section 2 Property Tax Allocation and Section 
5 Exduslons, Is materiel and substanth1I and the fallure of said subsection Is the 
falfure of material consideration, causing the agreement to be void from the date that 
the subsection Is held Invalid, 

14. FURTHER ASSURANCES.
Each party shall execute and deliver to the other party or parties all such other
further Instruments and documents and take all such further actions as may
reasonably necessary to carry out this Agreement and to provide and secure to the
other party or parties the full and complete enjoyment of Its rights and prlvlleges
hereunder.

15. CONSTRUCTION.
All parties ·have been �epresented by counsel In the preparation of this Agreement
and no presumption or rule that ambiguity shall be construed against a drafting party
shall apply to Interpretation or enforcement hereof. Captions on sections and
subsections are provided for convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit,
amend, or affect the meaning of the provision to which they pertain.

16. OTHER MISCELLANEOUS TERMS.
The slngular Includes the plural; the mascu11ne gender Includes the feminine, "shall"
Is mandatory; "may" Is permissive.

17. TIME.
llme Is of the essence of each and every provision hereof.

18. COUNTERPART.
This agreement may be executed in counterpart agreements, binding each executing
party as If said parties executed the same agreement.

6 



Master Anne,atJon Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement. 

RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL: 

City Manager 

CITY OF TRACY 

!aJiv�-�

Mayor 

Approved as to Form 

Daniel G. Soi:lergren 
City Attorney 

ATTEST: Sandra Edwards 
City Oerk 

SfiroN,_'1� 

Approved as to Form 

�L:= David ten 
County Counsel 

ATTEST: Lois M. Sahyoun 
Clerk of the Board of Supervlso 

7 



EXHIBIT 2 

City of Tracy 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

September 2014 

Managernent 
Partners 



Management 
Partners 

Mr. Troy Brown 

City Manager 

City of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 

Tracy, CA 95376 

Dear Mr. Brown: 

September 18, 2014 

Management Partners is pleased to transmit this project report, which analyzes the property 

tax, fire protection service budget and govemanc:e issues associated with the current 
annexation/no detachment policy regarding areas annexed into the City of Tracy from the Tracy 

Rural County Fire Protection District (Tracy Rural). The report also provides options for the 

City's consideration and discusses the govemanc:e implications and financial impacts at a 

threshold level associated with each one. Finally, the report lays out considerations for both the 

City and Tracy Rural as alternative strategies in response to the existing annexation policy are 

considered. 

Sincerely, 

Andrew Belknap 

Regional Vice President 

1730 MADISON ROAD • CINCINNATI, OH 45206 • 513 8615400 • FAX 513 86 l 3480 MANAGEMENTPARTNERS.COM 

2107 NORTH FIRST STREET, SUITE 470 • SAN JO�, CALIFORNIA 95131 • 408 437 5400 • FAX 408 453 6191 

3152 RED Hill AVENUE, SUITE 210 • COSTA MESA, CALIFORNIA 92626 • 949 222 1082 • FAX 408 453 6191 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Table of Contents 

Table of Contents 

Management Partners 

Executive Summary .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Backgro1111d ................................................................... " .......................................................... _ .............. 4 

Fire Service Providers ............................................................................ .......................................... 4 

City of Tracy Fire Department ............................................................................... . . . .. .............. 4 

Tracy Rural Fire Protedion District (Tracy Rura/) ................................................................... 5 

South County Fire Authority (SCFA) .............................................. .......................................... 6 

Annexation without Detachment ................................................................................................. 1 l 

Municipal Services Review (October 2011) ................................................................................ 13 

Project Approach ................... .................................................................................................................. 17 

Interviews ........................................................................................................................................ 17 

Document Review .......................................................................................................................... 18 

Property Tax Analysis Methodology .......................................................................................... 18 

San Joaquin LAFCo Mitigation Fee Policy ...... ... . . ................ ...... .............. ... ...... . . . . ......... ......... 19 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures ............................................................................................. 21 

SCFA Budget and Tax Allocation Factors .................................................................................. 21 

Tax Allocation Factors .............................................................................................................. 23 

Alternative Fire Service Delivery and Governance Scenarios ................................................. 24 

Scenario 1: No Change, Annexation without Detachment ...... ........ .......... .................. .. ...... ... 24 

Scenario 2: Annexation with Detachment ............................................................................... 25 

Scenario 3: City Annexation into Tracy Rural ....................................................................... 28 

Sphere of Influence (SOI) Bui ld•out Projections ........................................................................ 31 

Financial and Governance Impact Summary ........................................................................... 36 

Fire Service Delivery Al ternatives and Considerations .................................................................. 37 

General Considerations ...................................................................... ........................................... 37 

Alternative Options ........................................................................................................................ 39 

Possible Strategies .................................................................................................................................. 46 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................ 48 

Appendix 1 - Property Tax Allocation Agreement ........................................................................... 49 

Appendix 2 - Tracy Sphere of Influence Map ................................................................................... 50 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Table of Contents Management Partners 

Tables 

Table 1. 

Table 2. 

Table 3. 

Table 4. 

Table S. 

Table 6. 

Table 7. 

Table 8. 

Table 9. 

Table 10. 

Table 11. 

City of Tracy Fue Department/SCFA Budget for FY 2013-14 ........................................ 9 

SCFA Funding Sources in FY 2013•14 ............................................................................. 10 

Estimated Future Expenses per Station ........................................................................... 10 

Annexed Areas by the City, but not Detached from Tracy Rural Since 1996 .......... 11 

SCFA FY 2013•14 Budget Overview ................................................................................. 22 

Tracy Rural and City Fire Protection Service Fire Service Revenue Projections for 
FY 2013-14 22 

Tracy Rmal's FY 2013· 14 Budget Overview ................................................................... 23 

Scenario 1: FY 2013-14 Estimated Property Tax Revenue B� .ed on Current Tax 
Allocation Factors (Annexation without Detachment) ......... ·-········ ............................ 24 

Scenario 2: Estimated FY 2013-14 Property Tax Revenue under Annexation with 
Detachment .......................................................... -.............................................................. 26 

FY 2013-14 Property Tax Revenue Allocation Comparison under Scenarios 1 and 2 
for Annexed Areas ............................................................................................................... 27 

Scenario 2: City and Tracy Rural FY 2013-14 Property Tax Revenue Impact ........... 27 

Table U. Fire Benefit A&Sessment Fee Impact under Scenario 3 ................................................ 29 

Table 13. Benefit Assessment Impact on Typical Properties in the City of Tracy ................... 30 

Table 14. Build•out Potential of Annexed, but not Detached Properties ................................... 31 

Table 15. Scenario 1: Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue from Potential 
Build-out in 10 Years .................................................................................................... -.... 34 

Table 16. Scenario 2: Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue from Potential 
Build-out in 10 Years .......... ·-··· .. ············ ............................................................................ 34 

Table 17. Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue Summary from 10 Year 
Projected Build-out ............................................................................................................. 35 

Table 18. Estimated Total Property Tax Revenue, including Existing Property Tax from 10 
Year Build-out ...................................................................................................................... 35 

ii 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Table of Contents 

Figures 

Management Partners 

Figure 1. Cunent Fire Governance Structure .. N ...................... .......................................................... 2 

Figure 2. Fire Protection Service Structure ........................................................................................ 8 

Figure 3. Property Tax and Governance Impacts of Three Scenarios Following 1(). Year 

BuiJd-Out ............................................................................................................................ 36 

Figure 4. Fire Governance Structure Under Scenario 1 ................................................................. 40 

Figure 5. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 1 ...................................................... 41 

Figure 6. Fire Governance Structure Under Scenario 2 ................................................................. 42 

Figure 7. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 2 ............................... N ..................... 43 

Figure 8. Fire Governance Structure Under Scenario 3 ................................................................. 44 

Figure 9. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 3 (Option 1) .................................. 45 

Figure 10. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 3 (Option 2) ................................. . 45 

Figure 11. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 3 (Option 3) .................................. 45 

iii 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Executive Summary 

Executive Su rn ma 1·y 

Management Partners 

The City of Tracy Fire Department was established in 1912. Originally a 
volunteer fire department, the City transitioned to a full-time department 
in 1918. Currently, the City of Tracy Fire Department provides fire 
protection service to the City of Tracv and the Tracy R, ":ti County Fire 
Protection District (Tracy Rural or District) through a contract with the 
South County Fire Authority (SCFA). 

The Tracy Rural Fire Protection District was established in 1942. Tracy 

Rural is responsible for providing fire protection services for 
approximately 200 square miles in primarily unincorporated areas as well 
as annexed properties that have been incorporated into the City of Tracy 
since 1996, but which are not detached from Tracy Rural. 

Established on September 7, 1999, the SCFA resulted from an agreement 
between the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural for the joint exercise of powers 
to provide fire protection services within the Authority's jurisdictional 
area by contracting for such services with the City of Tracy. The SCFA 
entered into an agreement with the City of Tracy on the same date for the 
provision of fire services to the Authority's jurisdictional area that 
includes all properties within the City and Tracy Rural. The Mountain 
House Community Services District (Mountain House) also receives fire 
protection services from the SCFA through a separate contract with Tracy 
Rural. 

Since 1996, the City of Tracy has annexed 12 areas from within its Sphere 
of Influence (SOI). With the exception of Tracy Hills, all the properties 
were annexed into the City without detachment from Tracy Rural. (Some 
of Tracy Hills was not part of Tracy Rural.) According to San Joaquin 
LAFCo staff (Executive Officer's Report dated July 19, 2013), the record 
indicates that the reason provided for not detaching from Tracy Rural 
was because the City and Tracy Rural anticipated the formation of a 
consolidated district whereby Tracy Rural would be responsive for fire 
protections service to the City and District. While this may have been the 
original intent, such a consolidation has not yet occurred. The current no
detachment policy sustains Tracy Rural's property tax and fire benefit 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Executive Summary Management Partners 

assessment fee revenue sources, which in tum have been an important 
revenue source to the SCFA's ability to provide the current level of fire 
protection servkes enjoyed by residents today. 

Figure l depicts the current fire governance structure in the City and 
Tracy Rural Effectively, residents and property owners in the annexed 
but not detached areas of the City have two sets of elected officials 
responsible for delivering fire protection services to their properties. 
Further, residents in the annexed but not detached areas of the City also 
vote for two separate elected bodies that are responsible and accountable 
for fire protection services. 

Figure 1. Current Fire Governance Structure 

llrrtrd OH1aais 
(1:yof lr,Hv 

('��.,.� 

In 2011, the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) 
prepared a county-wide municipal service review (MSR) and 
implementation strategy of the rural fire protection districts in San 
Joaquin County. In the section that addressed the Tracy Rural Fire 
Protection District, LAFCo staff stated that services within the 
community are best provided by the City and that future annexations 
should detach from Tracy Rural. The City of Tracy disagreed with this 
position and LAFCo did not adopt the recommended implementation 
strategy as originally drafted in the MSR. Rather, the Commission 
adopted the following strategy as part of LAFCo Resolution 1264: 

Complete a plan regarding the governanc.e model for Tracy Fire 
Department and Tracy Rural within 18 months) subject to the 
approval of LAFCo. All subsequent annexation requests shall be 

consistent with the approved plan. 

In response to this action, the City of Tracy developed and analyzed 
options. This resulted in a document from the SCFA entitled Fire 

Governance Implementation Plan. The Plan was submitted to LAFCo and 
was considered at its July 19, 2013 meeting. LAFCo staff expressed 
concerns about the adequacy of the plan and at its August 16 meeting, the 

2 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Executive Summary Management Partners 

Commission adopted Resolution 1299 to allow 24 months to complete the 
study. Management Partners was subsequently retained by the City of 
Tracy to analyze the property tax, fiscal implications at a threshold level 
and governance issues associated with the current detachment policy as 

well as alternatives to this policy. 

This report examines the following three scenarios with respect to 
property tax revenue, fire benefit assessment revenue (assessed by Tracy 
Rural), and potential governance implications associated with 

implementation of each scenario. 

1. No Change, Annexation without Detachment (Scenarw 1). This
represer•c: the current condition where all 12 areas annexed by the
City since 1996 remain undetached from Tracy Rural.

2. Annexation with Detachment (Scenario 2). Under this sc:enario, the
revenue impact of detaching the 12 areas from Tracy Rural today is

examined.
3. Annexation of the City of Tracy (Scenario 3). This scenario examines the

impact of the annexation of the entire City of Tracy into Tracy Rural,
which would then provide fire protection services to the City.

The resolution of the annexation policy is complex, chaUenging, and will 
require signi ficant consideration before the policy bodies of both the City 
and Tracy Rural come to consensus on how to proceed. Also, an in-depth 
or comprehensive financial and budget analysis for a truly consolidated 
operation was beyond the scope of this project. Further analysis would 
be required before full implementation of any alternative option or 
strategies to the existing no detachment policy. The report also provides 
a discussion of the major issues that both Tracy Rural and the City should 
consider before proceeding with any action. 

3 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

Background 

To set the context, this section provides background about the fire service 
providers involved in the Tracy fire governance annexation and 
discussion about detachment. It also provides a summary of the key 
issues raised by San Joaquin LAFCo in its 2011 Municipal Services 
Review of Rural Fire Protection Districts in the County and the Oty of 
Tracy's response to date. 

Fire Service Providers 

The following provides an overview of the agencies involved in 
providing fire services to the City of Tracy, Tracy Rural, and Mountain 
House (under contract with Tracy Rural). The overview is not intended 
as an assessment of fire services or financial capabilities; it is provided as 
a description of the agency and its current budget status as related to this 
discussion. 

City of Tracy Fire Department 

The City of Tracy Fire Department was established in 1912, two years 
after the City's incorporation in 1910. Originally a volunteer fire 
deparbnent. the City transitioned to a full-time department in 1918. ln 
1999, the City of Tracy began contracting with the South County Fire 
authority (see discussion below) to provide fire protection services 
throughout the Authority's jurisdictional area, which includes the City of 
Tracy. 

As of FY 2013-14, the City of Tracy Fire Department operates with an 
adopted budget of $15.6 million and 78.7 full-time equivalent (FTE) 
employees, which includes capacity to meet the fire protection needs of 
Tracy Rural and Mountain House. The budget is supported by $9 million 
from the City's General Fund, $6.5 million from Mountain House and 
Tracy Rural, and miscellaneous fees and grant revenue. 

4 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Background Management Partners 

Tracy Rural Fire Protection District (Tracy Rural) 

Formed in 1942, Tracy Rural provides fire protection services for 
approximately 200 square miles in primarily unincorporated territory as 

we)] as those properties in the City of Tracy that have been annexed, but 
not detached, as detailed in Table 1. 

In 1999, Tracy Rural partnered with the City of Tracy to form the SCFA, a 
joint powers authority (JP A), to stream1ine and integrate fire protection 
services in the region. Instrumental in forming this JP A was an 
agreement to shift all Tracy Rural personnel from Tracy Rural to the City 

Fire Department. Subsequently, the SCFA contracted with the City to 
provide all fire protection services for its member agencies. 

Tracy Rural has a FY 2013-14 adopted budget of $4.8 million. It projected 
$4.2 million in expenses for fire protection services contracted to the JP A 
and approximately $600,000 in other administrative expenditures. 

Tracy Rural is also indebted to the City of Tracy for approximately $5.9 
million related to Tracy Rural' s budget shortfalls in prior years. In 20] l, 

the SCFA adopted Amendment 4, which stipulated that, for a period of 90 
months the City would freeze Tracy Rural's debt balance of $5.6 million 
and forgive the debt in exchange for Tracy Rural paying 100% of the 
operating expenses for the new shared Station 92. In FY 2011-12, Tracy 
Rural experienced a $250,000 budget shortfall, which the City agreed to 
cover. In December 2012, the SCFA adopted Amendment 6, which 
included adding the $250,000 to the total outstanding debt and extended 

Tracy Rural's agreement to pay for Station 92's operating expenses from 

90 months to 94 months. 

Aside from property tax, Tracy Rural relies on a significant portion of its 

funding from a fire benefit assessment fee that is estimated to bring in 
approximately $1 million in revenue in FY 2013-14. According to Tracy 
Rural's 2014 Special Tax Rate Resolution, the benefit assessment levies a 

tax of $0.03 per square foot of structural property, along with various 
other fixed and flat rate fees for special types of properties and structures. 

In 1989, the San Joaquin County Board of Supervisors established a fire 
facility fee program to finance the improvement of fire protection 
facilities needed to support all new development within the 
unincorporated areas of San Joaquin County. Following the Board of 
Supervisors approval of an expenditure plan for the fire facility fee, Tracy 
Rural subsequently imposed this fire facility fee program in 1991 and 

5 



AJtemative Fire Governance Structures 

Background Management Partners 

currently charges a one-time fee of $0.15 per square foot on new 
residential, commercial, and industrial development. 

Management Partners was unable to obtain financial statements from 
Tracy Rural regarding the revenue, expenditures, and balance of its fire 
facilities fee fund; however, the County Board of Supervisors accepted 
the state mandated Fire Protection Facilities Improvement Fee Program 
Annual Report for FY 2012-13 on December 10, 2013, which provided 
some insight. According to the staff report, Tracy Rural accrued $2,030 in 
revenue during the fiscal year, which it expended, leaving it with a fund 
balance of $75,146 in fire facility fees. 

Mountain House Community Services District (Mountain House) 

Tracy Rural is currently contracted to provide fire protection services to 
Mountain House, a community services district established in 1996 as 
enabled through California Government Code Section 61000-61009. 
Following the original agreement, the SCFA adopted Amendment 1 in 
2002 to expand its jurisdictional area to include Mountain House. 

When the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural formed the SCFA, they agreed to 
pay for fire protection services through a cost sharing formula. However, 
Mountain House's cost for fire protection services is not incorporated into 
this cost sharing agreement. While Mountain House's cost for service is 
incorporated into the SCFA's annual budget, Mountain House pays Tracy 
Rural a flat fee for service that is then passed through to the SCFA Fund 
managed by the City. 

The City of Tracy's Fire Governance Implementation Plan of August 16, 
2013 identified the potential for Mountain House's membership to 
strengthen the JPA. During the course of the subsequent analysis, 
however, Mountain House issued a one-year notice to tenninate its 
contract with Tracy Rural and released a request for proposals (RFP) to 
seek alternative fire protection services. While Mountain House is a 
stakeholder impacted by the SCFA's services, it is not a member agency 
in the JPA, and thus, its budget and governance structure were not 
analyzed as part of this project. 

South County Fire Authority (SCFA) 

Established on September 7, 1999, the SCF A represents an agreement 
between the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural for the joint exercise of powers 
to provide fire protection services within the Authority's jurisdictional 
area by contracting for such services with the City of Tracy. State 

6 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

Government Code 6502 established joint power authorities that have 
separate operating boards and receive their powers from the legislative or 
governing body that created the authority. Through the SCFA joint 
powers agreement, the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural agreed to the 
provision of the following services by the City of Tracy: 

• Fire Administration,
• Fire Prevention,
• Fire Operations,
• Fire Training and Safety, and
• Fire Dispatch Services.

The Authority is prohibited from hiring employees or owning real and/or 
personal property except under specified conditions. 

The SCFA then entered into an agreement with the City of Tracy on the 
same date for the provision of fire services to the Authority's 
jurisdictional area. 

The SCF A, a separate governmental organization, is governed by a four
member board of directors consisting of two members from the Tracy 
City Council and two from the Tracy Rural Board of Directors. The Tracy 
city manager serves as the Authority's chief executive officer and 
appoints the fire chief for the Authority. The City finance director serves 
as the controller/treasurer of the Authority. General administrative 
support of the authority is provided by the Tracy Fire Department. 

Figure 2 shows the current fire service structure in the City of Tracy and 
Tracy Rural. 

7 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

Figure 2. Current Fire Protection ServiCJ! Structure 

[INted Offic,ab , 
<_1ty .,, lrJCV 

(' f, rounr, t./'� rr!..>P � ', ) 

Authoritv · !South t.9u11ty fire 1\uthority
'V TP.r.PD noariJ f✓��mlJPI'.. :1 )t;L� c-i, luunl:; r.11l'(1lhl-�'-

( tyr.-,.1r1;�rr (f() 

c·t·r rt,.,.,cr u 1('rt')' � c�ri ,,17 l"'a' .,,

T ;J,y, �(• DrJ�nr1c�·.• r,r: ..... -�-.) 1.,..,, Pr •r 

'>erv,ce Pr0111der i C ,ty of T rar:y I rr il<'p,1 •· ,,,,. · : I; t, t mp:n,,,.,, 

The initial agreement set forth provisions for the operation and 
maintenance of joint facilities. Tracy Rural fire protection employees 
became City of Tracy Fire Deparbnent employees under an agreement 
regarding compensation and benefits. The JPA agreement also 
established shared responsibility for the annuaJ costs of maintenance and 
operations for the fire protection services, which the two agencies must 
agree upon prior to each fiscal year. Initially set at 64% City and 36% 
Tracy Rural, it has most recently been modified to 69.5% City and 30.5% 
Tracy Rural as of the FY 2013-14 adopted budget. Finally, the agreement 
required Tracy Rural to annually levy a special tax for fire prevention and 
suppression within Tracy Rural. Tracy Rural imposed a benefit 
assessment fee in 1991 and required the City to impose a fire impact fee to 
fund its capital fund. It also required the City to impose a fire impact fee 
to be used to provide fire stations and equipment located within Tracy 
Rural's boundaries. 

Since the execution of the initial ]PA agreement, there have been six 
amendments and various side agreements between the City and Tracy 
Rural. The major amendments addressed the foUowing: 

o Amendment 1: The SCFA jurisdictional area was altered to
accommodate Mountain House's service area due to its contract
for fire protection services with Tracy Rural.

8 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

• Amendment 4: The City agreed to freeze and forgive Tracy Rural's
$5.6M debt balance as long as Tracy Rural paid for 100% of the
new shared Station 92's operations for 7.5 years (90 months). In
this amendment, the Oty also agreed to impose a fire impact fee
for City property that is also within the Tracy Rural boundaries.
The operational cost sharing formula was altered to 64% City and
36% Tracy Rural.

• Amendment 5: The SCFA's cost sharing formula between the City
and Tracy Rural was altered to 67% City and 33% Tracy Rural.

• Amendment 6: The City agreed to add $250,000 to Tracy Rural's
debt balance due to a budget shortfall in exchange for extending
Tracy Rural's coverage of Station 92's operating expenses from 90
months to 94 months.

FY 2013-14 SCFA Budget Overview 

As the service provider for the Authority's jurisdictional area, every year 
the SCFA adopts the City Fire Department's annual budget as its own 
budget. The SCFA's FY 2013·14 adopted budget is $15.6 million and is 
inclusive of those fire protection services provided to Tracy Rural and 
Mountain House. In FY 2013-14, the SCFA's budget was supported by 
contributions from the City's General Fund ($9 million), Tracy Rural ($3.8 
million), Mountain House ($2.3 million), and some residual fee and grant 
revenue. Table 1 provides an overview of the SCFA's expenditures by 
program as provided in the City of Tracy Fire Department's Adopted 
�udget. Table 2 provides a listing of the SCFA's FY 2013-14 revenue 
sources. 

Table 1. City of Tracy Fire DepartmentlSCFA Budget for FY 2013-14

C►;>,'nj•turt, ! v 1• ul" �vn ( ,l <.., 

Fire Administration $557,920 

Fire Prevention and Education $420,620 

Fire Operations $14,345,160 

Fire Tralnin& and Safety $258,500 

Total Budget $15,582,200 

Sourct: City of Trocy Adopttd Budgtt FY 2013-14 

Nott: This budgtt inc/udts Tracy Rural and Mountain Houst. 

9 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background 

Table 2. SCFA Funding Sources in FY 2013-14 

r.,rill li'. �n111rC'� 

City of Tracy 

Fee Revenues 

Grant Revenues 

Mountain House 

Tracy Rural 

Total 

Soura: Qty o/Trocy Adopttd Budgtt FY 2013-14 

r ,r � "'i 

$9,052,090 

$175,500 

$206,000 

$2,313,290 

$3,835,320 

$15,512,200 

Management Partners 

In addition to the issues surrounding annexations and governance, the 
City of Tracy also anticipates fire service costs to rise in the next five to 
ten years, as described in Table 3. According to the City's Fire 
Department administration, as build-out continues to grow in Ellis and 
Tracy Hills, the City will need one to two additional fire stations in order 
to provide adequate fire protection coverage. Similarly, as build-out 
continues in Cordes Ranch, another fire station will need to be 
constructed. Overall, within the next ten years, the Fire Department will 
need to construct two or three fire stations to meet service demand. 

Table 3. Estimated Future Expenses per Station 

Pt, '-ti 1: in•, 

One Time Expenses 

Facility Construction 

Apparatus and Equipment 

Total One Time Expenses 

Annual Operatlnc Expenses 

F acllity Operating Cost 

Personnel 

Total Annual Operatinc Expenses 

f . -

$4,500,000 

$600,000 

$5,100,000 

$250,000 

$1,500,000 

$1,750,000 

Sauret: Qty Fl� Deportment staff provided one-time and annual operating rxpMst estimates for 
odditlonol firt stations. 

According to City Fire Department administration, the one-time expenses 
may be covered through agreements with developers; however, this is 
not guaranteed. Subsequently, once the fire stations are built, the City 
Fire Department will be required to meet annual operating costs of 
$1,750,000 per station. While it is not within the scope of this project to 
resolve these imminent service needs, it is important to keep in mind as 
the SCFA continues to evaluate its fire governance and mode of service 
delivery. 

10 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

Annexation without Detachment 

The City of Tracy has annexed 12 areas since l 996. With the exc:eption of 
Tracy Hills, all the properties were annexed into the City without 
detachment from Tracy Rural. Part of Tracy Hills remains in Tracy Rural, 
while the remaining portion was not originally irt Tracy Rural and 
therefore was fully annexed into the City. Table 4 provides a listing of 

annexed but not detached areas. 

Table 4. Annexed Areas by the City, but not Detached from Tracy Rural Since 1996 

De Jl: 0

0jl''1Cl1l S1.1tu, L.:pc:"I lrc� L•· t)•' t 

f.nr","'111·,.,.. r�·•,) (\�r\ .),r"'i" / .,. .. 1 )I 1t1C'l <_;, •·u·, 

Cordes Ranch (09/2013) 1,781 Agricultural. No change 

Ellssaprav (11/1996) 167 Approximately 7 homes. 436 SFRs 

Ellls Specific Plan (03/2013) l SFR with a small tree-growing No change 
321 operation. Majority of the site was 

fallow agricultural land. 

Fillos-Dobler (03/2012) Majority of the site was used for No change 

46 
agricultural hay production. Site 
contained 3 SFR plus one welding 
shop. 

Gateway (05/2003) l SFR on an approximately 15-acre No change
550 site; balance of site agricultural 

lands In alfalfa production. 

Kagehlro (01/1997) 146 Agricultural. 293 SFRs 

Lourence Ranch (04/1977) 40 Agricultural- row crops. 116SFRs 

Northeast Industrial Approximately 13 SFRs. 485 acres of Industrial 
(11/1996) 905 Remaining property in agricultural development and 420 acres of 

Plaln View (01/1998) 

Presidio (11/1999) 

Souchek (07/1998) 

Tracy Hills (09/1998) 

Sovrce: City of Tracy staff 

and dairy operations. undeveloped property. 
Approximately 8 original SFRs. 

10 l SFR on 2-acre site. Used for vehicle storage 

149 l SFR with agricultural buildings, 550 Single Family Residences. 
fallow agricultural lands. 

60 1 SFR, agricultural lands. No change 

2,725 
Several homes, agricultural lands, No change 
grazing lands. 

Aside from the obvious loss of property tax and benefit assessment 
revenue if these areas were to detach from Tracy Rural, Management 
Partners was unable to obtain any official LAFCo policy to gain a clear 
and succinct understanding of the basis for a no detachment policy untiJ 

)] 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Baclcground Management Partners 

2011. We did not, however, research all the LAFCo documentation that 
accompanied each annexation with respect to the property tax allocations 
and annexations agreed to and now established. 

We are aware that there may have been an informal agreement or 
understanding between the City, County, Tracy Rural and perhaps 
LAFCo staff at the time of the annexations and that no detachment was 
considered an interim step toward future consolidation. A July 19, 2013 
staff report from the Executive Officer to the San Joaquin LAFCo, stated 
the following: 

The record shows that the reason given far not detaching from 

the Tracy Rural FPD was that the City and the District 

anticipated the fannation of a consolidated district whereby the 

City of Tracy would relinquish its authority to provi
d

e fire 
services and allow Tracy Rural FPD to be responsible for fire 

protection service for the Ci
t

y and District. 

1n 2002, both the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural adopted resolutions 
affirming the intention of annexed properties to the City to remain in the 
Tracy Rural boundaries. The resolution cites financial considerations for 
consolidated fire services, which "nec:essitated annexed land to the City 
of Tracy also remain in Tracy Rural's boundaries." While a JPA between 
Tracy Rural and the City of Tracy was formed in 1999 to provide fire 
service (see below), this does not represent a consolidation within the 
definition of governmental reorganizations under state law. 

As a result of the no detachment policy until 2011, Tracy Rural has 
retained their share of 1 % property tax as well as the revenue obtained 
from a voter-approved benefit assessment district. Upon annexation, the 
City of Tracy and San Joaquin County have alloc.ated the County portion 
of property tax in accordanc:e with various tax allocation agreements 
th rough the years. The most rec:ent Agreement for Property Tax 
Allocation upon Annexation agreed to in 2012 (Appendix 1) between the 
City and County, dated November 20, 2012 states in Section 2 B: 

For annexations that do not involve Detachment from a fire 

district, Cily and County shall, upon annexation that in whole 

or in part, does not involve Detachment from a fire district, share 
in the Annexation Pruperty Tax Base and Incremental Growth 

thereof, for all portions of the annexation that do not involve 

Detachment from a fire district, as follows: 

i. Consolidated fire distn·ds established prior to June 15, 1996,

pursuant to the ratio of 20% CITY and 80% COUNTY.

12 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Background Management Partners 

ii. Consolidated fire districts established between June 15, 1996
and June 15, 2003, pursuant to the ratio of 15% CITY and
85% County.

iii. Consolidated fire districts establishtd subsequent to June 15,

2003, pursuant lo the ratio of 10% CITY and 90%
COUNTY.

Municipal Services Review (October 2011} 

Local Agency Formation Commissions were created by State Law in 1963 

to encourage the orderly formation of local government agencies, to 

preserve agricultural and open space land and to discourage urban 

sprawl. As stated by California Association of Local Agency 

Commissions (CALAFCO) on their websitl!: 

LAFCos are responsible for coordinating logical and timely 
changes in local governmental boundaries, conducting special 
studies lhat review ways to reorganize, simplify, and streamline 
governmental structure and preparing a sphere of influence for 
each city and special district within each county. 

The Commission's efforts are directed toward seeing I hat 
services are pravided efficiently and economically while 
agricultural and open-spac.e lands are protected. To better inform 
itself and the community as it seeks to exercise its charge, each 
LAFCo must conduct service reviews lo evaluate the provision of 
municipal services within l!llch county. 

Additionally, municipal service reviews were added to LAFCo's 

responsibilities in 2000: 

LAFCos are responsible for coordinating logical and timely 
changes in local governmental boundaries, conducting special 
studies that review ways to reorganize, simplify, and streamline 
governmental structure and preparing a sphere of influence for 
each city and special distrid within each county. 

The Commission's efforts are directed toward seeing that 
services are provided efficiently and economically while 
agricultural and open-space lands are protected. To better inform 
itself and the community as it seeks to exercise ils charge, each 
LAFCo must conduct service reviews to evaluate the provision of 
municipal seroices within each county. 

13 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

1be San Joaquin LAFCo prepared a county-wjde municipal serv:ice 
review (MSR) and implementation strategy in 201 l of the rural fire 
protection districts in San Joaquin County. The report focused on 19 
special independent districts under LAFCo's jurisdiction that provide fire 
services to the unincorporated areas in San Joaquin County and the cities 
of Escalon, Ripon, Lathrop and a portion of Tracy. The MSR addressed 
the following: 

• Population and growth;
e Servire levels; 
• Financial ability of the agencies to provide servires;
• Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities; and
• Accountability for commun ·:y service needs, including

governmental structure and operational efficiencies.

In the Implementation Strategy section of the MSR, LAFCo staff 
recommended and the Commission made determinations (as required by 
law) in several areas. In the section regarding improving the 
management efficiency of the districts, LAFCo staff recommended the 
following implementation strategy to the Commission: 

Encourage the exploration of other governance models for the 

Tracy City Fire Department and the Tracy Rural such as 
consolidation or contracting fur services and require the 

detachment of the District for all future annexations until such 
reorgani2ation occurs. 

LAFCo staff made this recommendation based on a number of 
considerations, but primarily because the Oty is "not providing full 
municipal services to its residents." Further, Section 56000 the Cortes
Knox-Hertz.berg Act (CICH Act) also states: 

The Legislature finds and declares that a single multipurpose 
agency is accountable for community service needs and financial 

resources, and therefore may be the best mechanism for 
establishing community seruice priorities especially in urban 

areas. 

LAFCo staff reiterated that the policy and decision to detach or not to 
detach properties resides with LAFCo and there are significant 
implications associated with this decision that need to be addressed. The 
two primary issues were: 

1. The financial impact on County property taxes when areas are
annexed to the City but not detached from Tracy Rural.

14 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background ManageU1ent Partners 

2. The inability of the City of Tracy to provide full municipal
services to the residents of the annexed but not detached areas,
contrary to the goal of the CKH Act. Under the current policy,
Tracy Rural's Sphere of Influence (SOD would overlap into the
City's SOI because Tracy Rural is still the governmental agency
responsible for the delivery of fire services in the non-detached
areas of the City. Appendix 2 provides a map created by LAFCo
of the resulting SOis.

LAFCo staff stated that services within the community are best provided 
by the City and that future annexations should detach from Tracy Rural. 
The City of Tracy disagreed with this position and LAFCo did not adopt 
the recommended implementation strategy. Rather, on October 21, 2011 
the Commission adopted the following strategy in Resolution 1264: 

Complete a plan regarding the governance model for Tracy Fire 

Department and Tracy Rural within 18 months subject to the 

approval of LAFCo. All subsequent annexation requests shall be 
consistent with the approved plan. 

Since approval of the MSR in October 2011, three annexations into the 
City have been processed through LAFCo without detachment from 
Tracy Rural. 

An Ad Hoc Committee of the Commission met with the City of Tracy and 
Tracy Rural in August 2011 to discuss the issues. City representatives 
requested an opportunity to perform a study regarding reorganization 
stating that about 18 months would be needed to complete it. Under the 
guidance of a Fire Service Steering Commitree to oversee the process, the 
City of Tracy proceeded in 2012 to develop and analyze options for 
responding to the LAFCo action. These options were reviewed with the 
community through workshops, Fire Department employees, IAFF Local 
3355 and the County Administrator. The four options analyzed were: 

1. Strengthen the existing JP A,
2. Dissolve the SCFA and form a new JP A,
3. Outsource/contract fire services, and
4. Annex the City of Tracy into Tracy Rural.

The City requested a three-month extension to complete the study, and 
the options analysis culminated in a Fire Governance Implementation 
Plan. The City Steering Committee determined that Options 2 and 3 were 
not feasible and that steps be taken to implement Option 1. 

15 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Background Management Partners 

The Plan was submitted to LAFCo and considered at its July 19, 2013 
meeting. In its report, LAFCo staff expressed a range of concerns 
regarding the adequacy of the plan and the item was continued to the 
August 16, 2013 LAFCo meeting. The main concerns expressed were the 
lack of an78alysis regarding the rejected options, but more critically, the 
lack of the fiscal analysis and impact on the County as a result of the 
current detachment policy and related governance issues. At its August 
16 meeting, the Commission amended Resolution 1264 to allow for 24 
months to complete the study. 

Management Partners was subsequently retained by the City of Tracy to 
address the fiscal and governance issues associated with the current 
detachment policy as well as alternative options. This report does not 
include any further analysis of options to strengthen the existing JP A; 
while there may be merit in doing so for other reasons, we believe it 
would not address the underlying no detachment policy and related 
governance issues surfaced in the 2011 MSR. 

]6 



Altemetive Fire Governance Structures 
Project Approach Management Partners 

Project /\pp roach 

Interviews 

Management Partners conducted this analysis of alternative governance 
structure approaches for the City of Tracy, the SCFA and Tracy Rural 
utilizing interviews, a review of property tax and related data, state law 
regarding governmental reorganizations and independent fire districts, 
land use data, relevant budgets and other related documents. The 
interviews, data analysis, industry experience, and review of relevant 
documents helped inform our analysis of the implications of various tax 
allocation and fire servire delivery scenarios. The goal of doing so was to 
provide information and frame the issues for future policy consideration. 
Our approach is described briefly below. 

Management Partners believed it important to meet with City and Tracy 
Rural officials as well as LAFCo staff to get an in-depth understanding of 
the various perspectives and the information required for future 
decisions about this issue. We spent considerable time with City and 
LAFCo staff to ensure we were working with the relevant data points so 
future discussions would focus on the results and provide a good 
platform for policy recommendations and decisions. Our interviews and 
discussions addressed policy, financial, property tax, and govemance 
issues that would need to be considered under alternative govemanre 
and fire service delivery scenarios. Our interviews included the 
following individuals: 

• Former Tracy City Manager
• Tracy Assist.ant City Manager
• Tracy Administrative Services Director
• Tracy Fire Chief
• Tracy Fire Division Chief
• Tracy Rural Board Member
• Tracy Rural Board Secretary
• Tracy Community Development Director
• Tracy Assistant Development Services Director

17 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Pioject Approach 

• Tracy City Attorney
• Tracy Assistant City Attorney
• San Joaquin County LAFCo Executive Officer
• San Joaquin County LAFCo Analyst

Document Review 

Management Partners 

Management Partners reviewed a range of documents to provide the 
basis for our analysis. They included: 

• Final Municipal Service Review - Rural Fire Protection
Districts/San Joaquin County, dated October 21 , 2011

• Tracy General Plan, dated February 1, 2013, and Final
Supplemental Environmental Impact Review, dated December l,
2010

• San Joaquin County LAFCo policies, procedures and relevant staff
reports

• Tracy Rural Fire Protection District Resolution 2014-2 Setting the
Special Tax Rate

• Various State Government and Revenue and Taxation Code
Sections

• County of San Joaquin and City of Tracy Agreement for Property
Tax Allocation upon Annexation, dated November 20, 2012

• Joint Powers Agreement for the SCFA, dated September 7, 1999
• Agreement between the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural regarding

employment of personnel for provision of fire services, dated
September 7, 1999, and all subsequent amendments and
resolutions

• Agreement between the SCFA and the City of Tracy for provision
of fire services, dated September 7, 1999, and all subsequent
agreement amendments

• Fire Protection Services Agreement between Mountain House and
Tracy Rural, dated September 17, 2002

c SCFA Fire Governance Implementation Plan dated August 16,
20)3

Property Tax Analysis Methodology 

According to California Revenue and Taxation Code Section 99-99.2, 
jurisdictional changes are subject to a property tax agreement to 
determine any adjustment of the allocation of property tax revenue on the 
affected agencies. State law provides that the applicable county will 

18 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Project Approach Management Partners 

negotiate property tax agreements on behalf of special districts when 
agreements are between a city and special district. 

The City and County (on behalf of Tracy Rural) have, over the years, 
negotiated and agreed to several property tax allocation agreements for 
both properties that were annexed and detached and those that were 
annexed but not detached. We understand there were individual 
annexation agreements for each of the 12 areas discussed in this analysis. 

Management Partners was unable to obtain all the agreements; however, 
we were able to obtain the November 2012 Agreement for Property Tax 
Allocation upon Annexation between the City and County, which 
provides guidelines on property tax allocation when properties are 
annexed from special districts, including fire districts. (The provisions of 
this agreement were described in the Background Section of this report.) 
Management Partners did not, however, apply the provisions of this 
agreement to estimate property tax implications under the various 
alternative scenarios. The County auditor-controller was able to provide 
current information on the varying property tax sharing ratios within 
each of the 12 areas that were annexed but not detached. 

In calculating the property tax revenue currently received by the City, 
Tracy Rural, and the County, Management Partners relied on California 
Board of Equalization (BOE) Tax Rate Area (TRA) assessed valuation and 
property tax data provided by the San Joaquin County auditor-controller 
through lAFCo staff. Similarly, our methodology for estimating future 
property tax, should the 12 areas be detached from Tracy Rural, also used 
the same County auditor-controller TRA data. 

San Joaquin lAFCo Mitigation Fee Policy 

Aside from the regulatory protocols established by the CKH Act, policies 
and procedures for government reorganizations may differ within each 
lAFCo across the state. The San Joaquin LAFCo has expressed strong 
interest in ensuring that special districts experiencing adverse impacts 
from annexation and subsequent detachment of property are able to 
continue providing an adequate level of service. 

According to Section 12 of San Joaquin County LAFCo's Change of 
Organization Policies and Procedures, General Standards for Annexation 
and Detachment include: 

12. Adverse Impact o(Anne;ration on the Other Agencies:

LAFCo will consider any significant adverse effects upon o t/1er

service recipients or other agencies serving the area and may

19 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Project Approach Management Partners 

condition any approval to mitigate suc.h impacts. Significant 

adverse effects shall include the effed of proposals that negatively 
impad special districts, budgets or se1'7ices or require the 
continuation of smnces without tlu prc:rvision of adequate 
funding. LAFCo will not approve detachments from speciRl 

districts or annaations that fail to provide adequate mitigation 
of the adverse impad on the distrid. LAFCo may iutermine an 

appropriate temporary mitigation, if any, and impose that 
temporary mitigation to the extent it is within its powers. If the 
needed mitigation is not within LAFCo's authority and approval 
would, in the opinion of the Commission, seriously impair the 

District's operation, the Commission may choose to deny the 
application. 

While LAFCo does require consideration of such adverse impacts of 
reorganization, any such mitigation fee imposed is subject to periodic 
review. Section 13 of LAFCo's General Standards in its Service Review 
Policies addresses this temporary fee further by stating: 

13. District Receiving Mitigation Fus: Every five years LAFCo
will conduct Service Reviews and evaluate the financial ability of
the districts to provide service and shall evaluate the continued
necessity of the temporary mitigation fee in light of other

government alternatives including but not limited to contract
for services and other reorganization/consolidation options.

During the course of our interviews, LAFCo stated that the 12 areas that 
were annexed by the City but not detached from Tracy Rural are not 
subject to this mitigation fee policy as their initial annexation agreements 
did not result in imposition of the fee. As a result, Management Partners 
did not incorporate the financial implications of a mitigation fee in our 
alternative fire governance scenarios on the annexations to date since 
they were not applied. 

20 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Altcrnat;ve rirc Governance Stl'ucturcs 

Management Partners 

Management Partners worked with both City and LAFCo staff to develop 
the alternative fire governance structures that would be examined as part 
of this analysis. There was a consensus that the following three 
alternative fire service delivery s '"narios effectively were the most viable 
and should be examined: 

1. No Change, Annexation without Detachment (Scenario 1). This
represents the current condition where all 12 areas annexed by
the City since 1996 have been aMexed to the City but not
detached from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District.

2. Annexation with Detachment (Scenario 2). Under th.
revenue impact of detaching the 12 areas from Tracy Rural today
is examined.

3. Annexation of the City of Tracy (Scenario 3). This scenario examines
the impact of the annexation of the entire City of Tracy into the
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District, which would then provide
fire protection services to the City.

Each scenario is examined with respect to property tax revenue, benefit 
assessment revenue, and the governance implications that could result 
from implementation of each scenario. 

SCFA Budget and Tax A/location Factors 

To understand the property tax and benefit assessment impacts under 
each scenario, this section provides a summary discussion of the SCFA 
budget revenues and expenditures. It also provides a description of the 
Tax Allocation Factors (T AFs) and their relationship to property tax 
revenue. 

The SCFA budget overview does not include either the revenues or 
expenditures for contracted fire protection services between Tracy Rural 
and Mountain House. (Tracy Rural and the City of Tracy participate in a 
separate cost sharing agreement; however, there may be implications for 
SCFA if Mountain House chooses not to contract with Tracy Rural.) 

21 





Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

protection services in the current fiscal year; however, the Oty only 
projects $3.9 million as seen in Table 5. After reviewing financial 
statements with staff from the City and Tracy Rural, Management 
Partners believes the Tracy Rural's adopted budget for JPA payments 
may simply be an over projection, leaving slight flexibility in its operating 
expenses for fire protection services. 

Table 7. Tracy Rural's FY 2013-14 Budget Or,erview 

f \;v·,,,1 t,,, ... � 

District Expenditures 

JPA Payments 

Total Budcet 

r .. : : , , : r· ,,., .., -,, 
$642,018 

$4,200,000 

$4,842,018 

Sourct: Trocy Rurol Adopttd Budgrt FY 2013•14 

Note: Dots not includt Mountoln Houst tJcptnditures. 

While Scenario 1 imposes no changes to the current structure of annexed 
but not detached properties, Scenarios 2 and 3 would impact property tax 
allocations and the budgets for the City of Tracy and Tracy Rural. 

Tax Allocation Factors 

In the State of California, TRAs are geographical areas comprised of 
varying combinations of taxing agencies and voter-approved debt service 
funds. In San Joaquin County, there are nearly 1,300 TRAs and 160 taxing 
authorities. For the purposes of this analysis, we did not track voter
approved debt that is in addition to property tax as it would not be 
impacted by the alternative scenarios evaluated in this report. 

On June 6, 1978, California voters approved Proposition 13 (Prop 13), 
which limits the maximum amount of any ad valorem tax on real 
property at 1 %. In the following year, the State Legislature passed 
Assembly Bill 8 {AB 8) which established a method for the distribution of 
property tax revenue to the varying taxing agencies in a TRA in 
accordance with Prop 13. These distributions are commonly known as 
Tax Allocation Factors (T AF) and vary greatly by TRA, the number and 
type of taxing agencies present in a TRA, and tax sharing agreements 
between taxing agencies in a TRA. 

For the 12 areas analyzed in this report, each is comprised of multiple 
parcels often spread across different TRAs. Therefore, total property ta)( 
revenue calculations include a range of T AFs. For each of these 
properties, Management Partners used FY 2013-14 TRA assessed value 
and property tax data from the BOE database accessed by the County 
Auditor-Contrnller. 

23 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

Alternative Fire Service Delivery and Governance Scenarios 

This section provides a discussion of the financial and property tax 
implications for each of the annexation scenarios analyzed. 

Scenario 1: No Change, Annexation without Detachment 

Under Scenario 1, there would be no financial implications for the SCFA 
budget as no change in the current property tax allocations from the 
properties annexed by the City but not detached from Tracy Rural would 
occur. Table 8 provides the current assessed value, total property tax 
revenue, and the share of property tax revenue distributed to the County, 
City, and Tracy Rural for the 12 annexed but not detached properties. 

Table 8. Scenario 1: FY 2013-14 EstimAted Prcrperty Tax Reoenue Based on Cu"ent Tax A/location 

Factors (AnnexJJtion withuut Detachment) 

(Cu,:\ , :._.., , : l1', :t (. .rr ' 

f,·;cw::d r.· .:,�, .--t 1 J' :,1' t<y '"'..,�. p er, rt, i 1> C r 

p -y•!1· \I) , . I • (.,, ,'" ', l • I 

Ellssap�y $179,760,768 $1,811,288 $376,169 $76,996 $198,SSS 

Northeast Industrial $254,938,050 $2,568,094 $473,343 $185,293 $298,059 

Kacehlro $99,137,084 $998,221 $207,537 $42,331 $109,449 

Lourence Ranch $33,977,893 $342,127 $71,131 $14,508 $37,512 

Plain View $619,681 $6,813 $1,654 $0 $806 

Souchek $3,874,860 $39,016 $8,112 $1,655 $4,278 

Tracy HIiis $23,400,163 $1,053,540 $217,015 $148,593 $26,763 

Presidio $179,893,590 $1,811,365 $376,596 $76,814 $198,606 

Gateway $27,063,119 $301,211 $68,123 $12,022 $38,797 

Fillos Dobler $1,823,768 $37,244 $7,208 $1,272 $4,123 

Elns Specific Plan $5,511,087 $58,447 $11,975 $2,113 $6,865 

C.Ordes Rinch $28,500,193 $492,907 $109,026 $19,240 $62,367 

Total $810,000,063 $9,520,272 $1,927,890 $580,838 $986,181 

Source: �ssed value, property taJc, and allocatlans ore fn,m the BOE database; does not include voter approved bond debt or 

other authorized aSJessments. Estimates are for FY 2013-14. 
1Praperty ta11 collected and allocated ta the City Is considered General fund revenue and not specifically ollocoted ta the Fire 

Deportment. 

In FY 2013-14, based on the County auditor-controller's 'IRA assessed 
valuation and property tax data, approximately $1.9 million in property 
tax revenue was received by the County, $581,000 by the City, and 
$986,000 by Tracy Rural for a total of $3.5 million. 

24 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Governance Implications 

Management Partners 

Under the current "no detachment" policy, residents and property 
owners in the non-detached areas of the City have two governmental 
entities with separately-elected bodies accountable for the delivery of fire 
services to the annexed areas: Tracy Rural and the Gty of Tracy. Since 
the property is not detached from Tracy Rural but is annexed to the City, 
residents in the non-detached areas are eligible to vote for both the Tracy 
Rural Fire District Board of Directors and the Tracy City Council. 
Further, property owners have fire protection obligations (benefit 
assessment fees and development impact fees) to two different 
governmental agencies with fire protection responsibilities in the same 
area. (The benefit assessment fee is imposed by Tracy Rural and 
development impact fees are imposed by both Tracy Rural and the City, 
but not the SCFA.) 

As mentioned previously, Tracy Rural and the City joined together to 
create the SCF A, a JP A or separate governmental organization, and 
contracted with the City of Tracy Fire Deparbnent to deliver fire 
protection services to Tracy Rural and the City. The SCFA has board 
members appointed by both Tracy Rural and the City. When a JPA is 
formed between two or more public agencies that share a common power 
and want to jointly deliver services, it is typically between two 
governmental entities without existing overlapping boundaries for the 

common delivery ol that service. 

Finally, as stated in the 2011 MSR, LAFCo's policy "favors the provision 
of services by a municipality over single-purpose districts." The SCFA, a 
JPA, is technically the operational authority responsible for the delivery 
of fire service to the non-detached properties within the City of Tracy. 
Residents and property owners within the non-detached properties still 
have two separately-elected bodies accountable for and responsible for 
the delivery of fire protection services whose elected officials, in turn, 
make appointments to the SCFA Board of Directors. 

Scenario 2: Annexation with Detachment

Scenario 2 assumes the 12 areas annexed by the City would detach from 
Tracy Rural and that Tracy Rural would subsequently lose its property 
tax revenue for these properties. Tracy Rural would also be unable to 
impose the benefit assessment fee and as a result would lose the revenue 
from that source as well. Table 9 provides an overview of the property tax 
revenue increase for the County and City for these detachments. (Note: 
LAFCo cannot independently cause or initiate a detachment.) 

25 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

For this scenario, Management Partners assumed the Tax Allocation 
Factors would be in accordance with the City's 2012 property tax sharing 
agreement with the County, as described in the Background Section of 
this report. (A different property tax sharing agreement could also be 
negotiated.) This agreement stipulates that when annexations involving 
detachment from a fire district established prior to June 14, 1996 occur, 
the City and County shall share in the Annexation Property Tax Base and 
Incremental Growth thereof in a ratio of 20% City and 80% County for all 
portions of the annexation that involve detachment from the fire district. 
Under this scenario, Tracy Rural would no longer receive any property 
tax allocation from the detached properties and its property tax would be 
reallocated to the City and the County based on the 80/20 split. 

Table 9. ScenariD 2: Estimated FY 2013·14 Property Tax Reven� under Annexation with Detachment 

( {) la l � \ ', 

/\';n;r (1 P CJ)r I{ P, :ti, r'v i,h' Sc,'11;J,i8 2 ('.,· r. J',' 

f'r·,r,erl,' 'J I I 11• 1 " A: ,,, nvc S1• H<' ,nc u J)I" �11, t , 

Elissagaray $179,760,768 $1,811,288 $521,376 39% $130,344 

Northeast Industrial $254,938,050 $2,568,094 $765,357 62% $191,339 

Kagehlro $99,137,084 $998,221 $285,288 37% $74,030 

Lourence Ranch $33,977,893 $342,127 $86,914 22% $36,237 

Plain View $619,681 $6,813 $1,968 19% $492 

Souchelc $3,874,860 $39,016 $11,151 37% $2,894 

Tracy Hills $23,400,163 $1,053,540 $235,602 9% $156,769 

Presidio $179,893,590 $1,811,365 $517,682 37% $134,334 

Gateway $27,063,119 $301,211 $95,154 40% $23,788 

Flllos Dobler $1,823,768 $37,244 $10,083 40% $2,521 

Ellis Specific Plan $5,511,087 $58,447 $16,762 40% $4,191 

Cordes Ranch $28,500,193 $492,907 $158,919 46% $31,713 

Total $810,000,063 $9,520,272 $2,706,256 40% $788,652 

I 

: ? 

69% 

3" 

75" 

150% 

-

75" 

6" 

75" 

98" 

98" 

98" 

65" 

36" 
Sourer: Asstsstd volut, proprrty tOJI. and o//ocot,ons art from tht BOE dutobost; dots not tncludt 11ottr opprovtd bond dtbt or otlitt 

outhorlztd ossessments. Estimates art for FY 2013-14. 
1Proptrty tax collected ol/ocottd to the City Is considertd Gentrol Fund rtvtnut and not sptcificolly ollocottd to tht Firt 

Dtportment. 

Based on the applicable changes in property tax percentage allocations 
and the dissolution of Tracy Rural's TAF share, the County and City 
would receive approximately $2.7 million and $789,000, respectively, in 
aMual property tax revenue. 

Table 10 shows a comparison of the amount of property tax allocated for 
the County, City and Tracy Rural in the two scenarios. Scenario 2 projects 

26 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

the revenue impact if the annexed properties were detached from Tracy 
Rural today. 

Table 10. FY 2013-14 Property Tax Revenue Allocation Comparison under Scenarios 1 and 2 fur 

Annexed Areas 

l\('f'M\' 

County 

Oty 

Tracy Rural 

(ur ( n( ',h,He r, H)CXJ". or1 I.". ''I !Jct..1UH�ll'flt 

f :,r<·n.111�. 1 I ( )(,. r: ) .• C. ;if fn r"".1',, /n--r,r i ,· 

$1,927,890 $2,706,256 $778,367 

$580,838 $788,652 $207,814 

$986,181 $0 $986,181 

Table 11 details the total property tax revenue impact for both the City 
and Tracy Rural. Overall, the City would gain approximately $208,000 in 
property tax revenue and the Tracy Rural would lose approximately 
$986,000 in property tax revenue. 

Table 11. Scenario 2: City and Tracy Rural FY 2013-14 Property Tax Revenue Impact 

r .. ,,'"'., .. ,..
t '.- :J,, ._' r t �- ' . 1.•: 

",.rr·n If;() ? fr ,I ., • I
,') .·' • ·) 

$14,410,0001 $14,617,8141 $207,8142 

Tracy Rural $3,745,000 $2,758,819 $986,181 

lThe $14 ml/lion in property tox revenue Is a Qty General Fund �venue and not directly allocated 10 the Fire 
Drportment. The change in property to11 undrr Scenario 2 is on atlmotrd lncrrose In ptoperty tax from the 
drtochment of 12 annexed but currently not detached properties in Tobie 2. 
1WJth the drtac:hment of thr 12 areas, the City's additional property tax revenue is accounted for In the General 

Fund and not Fire Deportment funding. 

Scenario 2 would result in a significant financial impact to Tracy Rural, as 
a decrease of $986,000 in property tax revenue represents approximately 
20% of Tracy Rural's entire annual revenue and 26% of th'7 total property 
tax revenue it currently receives. Between Tracy Rural and the City, there 
would be a net decrease of $778,000 in revenue to support fire protection 
services. While these properties would no longer be part of Tracy Rural, 
as a partner in the JP A, Tracy Rural remains a fiscal partner in the 
delivery of service. The County would gain this same amount, which 
would not be allocated to fire protection services as they do not provide 
these services in the County. If these 12 areas were to detach from Tracy 
Rural, the SCFA Board would need to consider alternative revenue 
sources or alterations in service delivery in order to mitigate this funding 

loss. 

27 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Benefit Assessment Impact 

Management Partners 

In addition to the property tax revenue Joss, Tracy Rural would also lose 

revenue horn the fire benefit assessment currently levied on properties 
within these 12 areas. During the course of this analysis, Management 

Partners was not able to obtain any financial documentation from Tracy 

Rural detailing the benefit assessment revenue current]y received from 

these 12 areas. Structural square footage for these areas was also not 
availab]e to estimate the current benefit assessment revenue and the 
implications from detachment. 

Governance Implications 

Under a full detachment policy, the annexed properties within Tracy 

Rural would detach from Tracy Rural and residents and property owners 

would no longer be eligible to vote for the Board of Directors. Residents 
and property owners would be fully within the City of Tracy, and the 
City Council would be the only elected body accountable and responsible 

for fire protection services. It is possib]e that the SCFA, or a JPA with 
some amendments to its authorities, could continue to provide services to 
the area currently covered by Tracy Rural. However, there would no 
longer be any overlapping boundaries between Tracy Rural and the City 
of Tracy. 

Scenario 3: City Annexation into Tracy Rural 

Under Scenario 3, the City of Tracy would annex into Tracy Rural, which 
would then be responsible for the delivery of fire services to both the City 
and Tracy Rural. Under this scenario, Tracy Rural (through the County) 
and the City would negotiate an exchange of property tax revenue 
between the City and Tracy Rural for fire protection services within the 

City. Tracy Rural would also be able to impose the fire benefit 

assessment fee upon properties with.in the City. 

Fire Benefit Assessment Fee 

With the annexation of the City into Tracy Rural, Tracy Rural could 
impose by law its existing benefit assessment fee on properties within the 
City without a vote of the residents or property owners. The charge 
without regard to property valuation for fire prevention and fire 
suppression is $0.03 per square foot for residential dwellings, 
commercial, agricultural and industrial developed properties. The tax is 
imposed on the developed square footage. There are a handful of other 

28 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

flat and fixed-rate fees for vacant lots and other specialty properties such 
as barns, berms, etc., but for projection purposes, we applied the $0.03 per 
square foot to developed property within the City. 

The City does not maintain a database of actual square footage 
constructed within the City. The estimated total square feet constructed 
within the City of Tracy was therefore calculated from a methodology 
derived by LAFCo. The City of Tracy indudes approximately 23,000 
parcels, excluding the areas annexed from Tracy Rural since 1996. Of the 
23,000 parcels, detailed structural square footage is available for 
approximately 21,000 parcels. These parcels provide an estimated 42 
million square feet of structures within the City; however, approximately 
2,000 parcels do not have the detailed square footage for businesses and 
vacant parcels. Using the San Joaquin County Geographic Information 
System (GIS), and excluding the vacant parcels, LAFCo estimated an 
additional 25 million structural square feet for a total of 67 million square 
feet citywide. 

Table 12 provides an estimate of the revenue impact that may result from 
the imposition of a benefit assessment fee in the City of Tracy. This 
square footage was calculated for the sole purpose of estimating the 
proceeds from the imposition of a benefit assessment within the City; 
further analysis and other data verification methods would be required 
before any estimates of property valuation or property tax based on the 
square footage could be truly determined. 

Table 12. Fire Benefit Assessment Fee lmpad under Scenario 3 

f\11,•,l\UIP /,n'1)111,' 

Estimated Oty Total Square Feet 67,000,000 

Benefit Assessment (per Square Foot) $0.03 

Projected Revenue from Core City Properties $2,010,000 

Tracy Rural's Current Benefit Assessment $1,007,518 

Total Projected Beneflt Assessment Revenue $3,017,518 

Sourer: Son Joaquin LAFCo ond Son Joaquin County GIS estlmous; Tracy Rural FY 1013-14 Spu,o/ Tax Rote Resolution; 

Trocy Rural Adopted Budget FY 1013-14. 

An estimated additional $2 million in revenue from the fire benefit 
assessment that would be levied on all property within the City in 
accordance with the benefit assessment currently imposed in Tracy Rural 
would result from annexation of the City into Tracy Rural. All such 
revenue would flow directly to Tracy Rural as the governmental agency 
imposing the fee. 

29 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Govemance Structures Management Partners 

Management Partners worked with City staff to identify some typical 
properties within the Oty and the additional fees that would be assessed 
based on square footage. Table 13 sets forth a representative sample of 
such properties. 

Table 13. Benefit Assessment Impact on Typiau Properties in thl City of Tracy 

ll ·1 • • • 

rrnr .0 rt•, r,•p,' Sq J.,,� r0, t /, ., f , rnr f 

Major Retailer Dlstrfbutlon Center Industrial 1,225,680 $36,770 

Medical Equipment Distribution Center Industrial 59,780 $1,793 

Office Office 40,000 $1,200 

Grocery Store Retail 64,925 $1,948 

Drue Store Retail 14,820 $445 

Slncle Family Residence Residential 1,699 $51 

Sour«: Dry of Tracy Economic Orvrlopment stoff 

Tracy Rural and City Budget Impact 

Under Scenario 3, a property tax exchange or contractual agreement 
would be negotiated for fire protection services to be delivered to the City 
of Tracy in accordance with state law regarding governmental 
reorganizations and annexations. The County (which would negotiate m 
behalf ci Tracy Rural) and City would discuss what, if any, tax sharing 
agreements may be made with the annexation of Oty property into Tracy 
Rural. Scenario 3 assumes the City would agree to a property tax 
reallocation (likely) or contract (which could be a range of revenue 
sources including other General Fund revenue) sufficient to fund fire 
protection services annually by Tracy Rural to the Oty of Tracy. Under 
this scenario, there is no change in property tax paid by City property 
owners except for the addition of the Fire Benefit Assessment (flat fee); 
rather, under a tax reallocation agreement, where a portion of the City's 
existing property tax goes would change. 

Governance Implications 

Under full annexation into Tracy Rural, the Tracy City Council would no 
longer be responsible for the delivery of fire protection services to 
residents and property owners within the City. Rather, annexation into 
Tracy Rural would mean that its Board of Directors (existing or 
reconstituted in terms of representation) would be responsible for fire 
protection within the City and Tracy Rural (unincorporated area) as a 
whole. Board members would be elected by residents across Tracy Rural, 

30 



AJtemative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

including those within the City of Tracy. If Tracy Rural were then to 
contract with the City of Tracy for fire service delivery (see section below 
on Fire Service Alternatives - Considerations), residents and property 
owners may still hold the City Council accountable for fire service, but 
the City Council would have little direct control except to the extent 
provided through agreed upon contract provisions. Alternatively, it is 
also possible that Tracy Rural may enter into a JP A with the City of Tracy 
for the provision of fire protection services throughout Tracy Rural, 
which would then provide an opportunity for the City to participate 
through membership on the Board of Directors. 

Sphere of Influence (SOI) Build-out Projections 

LAFCo expressed a strong interest in understanding what the revenue 
impact of build-out or future development within the entire City SOI 
would have on property tax revenues under Scenarios 1 and 2. We were 
unable to generate reliable estimates of future development within the 
City's entire SOI and as a result chose to provide a build-out projection 
for the existing 12 annexed properties. Our methodology for calculating 
projected build-out and its financial implications included a variety of 
steps due to the limited amount of actual data available. 

First, Management Partners requested build-out development potential 
for each of the 12 annexed but not detached properties from City staff. 
Table 14 is a summary of the information provided by City staff. 

Table 14. Build-out PotentiRI of Annexed, but not Detached Properties 

(. � I I i,t 

r.,111t, ,r�, 0'v,'10Jl'1'Cfll <;•J!u; D� \. r ,'1n ',1t CJ 'JO,. n ·v:-'',.l'\C"t 

l l 111•) ft� I i'.lrr, lJp( r. Anni�>- 11111n '' i! l '; Pot ,,t ll 

Cordes Ranch 1,781 Agricultural. No change • 591,980 sq. ft. commercial
(09/2013) • 2,465,932 sq. ft. office

• 27,789,102 sq. ft. business park

industrial

Ellssapray 167 Approximately 7 homes. 436 SFRs 24 SFRs approved (Tentative Subdivision 

(11/1996) Map approved), Seven additional SFR lot.I 

oosslble. 

Elli, Speclffc 321 1 SFR with a small tree- No change • 2,250 SFR
Plan growing operation. C> Parks
(03/2013) Majority of the site was • 180,000 sf retail/office

fallow agrlcultural land. C> 16-acre swim center

31 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Annh�1;on Drvrtor,rnrrt St,1tus 

(();it•) /l(r('�rr llpon Annr,.,t,o:, 

Flllos-Dobler 46 Majority of the site was 
(03/2012) used for agricultural hay 

production. Site 
contained 3 SFR plus 
one welding shop. 

Gateway 550 1 SFR on an 
(05/2003) approximately 15-acre 

site; balance of site 
agricultural lands In 
alfalfa production. 

Kagehlro 146 Agricultural. 
(01/1997) 
Lourence Ranch 40 Agricultural - row 
(04/1977) crops. 
Northeast 905 Approximately 13 SFRs. 
Industrial Remaining property In 
(11/1996) agricultural and dairy 

operations. 

Plain View 10 1 SFR on 2-acre site. 
f0l/1998) 
Presidio 149 l SFR with agricultural 
(11/1999) buildings, fallow 

agricultural lands. 
Souchek 60 l SFR, agricultural lands. 
107/1998) 
Tracy Hills 2,725 Several homes, 
(09/1998) agricultural lands, 

grazing lands 

Source: City of Tracy Community Development Deportment 

(urrrnt 

Orwlopr,1cnt 
\t .-l� tf<; 

No change 

No change 

293 SFRs 

116 SFRs 

485 acres of 
industrial 
development and 
420 acres of 
undeveloped 
property. 
Approximately 8 
oriilnal SFRs. 
Used for vehicle 
storage. 
550 Single Family 
Residences. 

No change 

No change 

Management Partners 

tuild ou! f),,vr'opn1-r'. 

Pctrn!,:1 1 

General Plan/Zoning and EIR certification In 
place for 466,000 sf commercial 
(office/retail) 

General Plan/Zoning and EIR certification in 
place for: 

• S million sf of dass-A office
• 220,000 sf retail
• 9-hole golf course
An additional 291 SFRs entitled, but no
bulldin1t oermits Issued.
An additional SO SFRs entitled, but no
buildi111 permits issued.
Remaining 420 acres of land and the
remaining homes. Approximately one
million+ square feet of industrial possible.

Zoned for industrial uses, possible 
aRRregate mining. 
None; built out. 

Designated residential (approximately 2S0-
350 SFRsl under the General Plan. 
GP/Specific Plan approved and EIR certified. 
Appllc.itlons submitted for Speclflc Plan 
amendments and Tentative Subdivision 
maps. Approximately: 

• 5,100 SFR
• 300 multi-family homes
• 1.4 million sf business park

(office/Industrial)
• 3.1 million sf light industrial
• 162,000 sf office
,. 780,000 sf retail/commercial

For residential family units, Management Partners attempted to work 
with the Oty to procure an average price of a single and multi-family 
residence; however, the data were not readily accessible. Instead, the 

32 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

median value of owner-occupied housing units from 2008 to 2012 in the 
City of Tracy was extracted from U.S. Census statistics as a representative 
of all single-family residences in the Tracy area. Data on multi-family 
residences were extracted from a Muni Services database provided to the 
City under a separate contract. 

For all other land use designations, City staff were able to provide parcel 
numbers of typical properties to search for assessed value on the County 
Assessor's Property Value Assessment Inquiry online database. After 
extrapolating a price-per-square-foot from these typical properties, we 
were able to scale the estimated value of build-out for the various land 
use designations identified in Table 15 for the 12 annexed but not 
detached properties. 

To determine the property taJ< revenue impact, Management Partners 
calculated the annual property tax for each of these properties assuming a 
1 % property tax on the total built-out assessed value. Since each parcel 
within an the annexed area may have different T AFs, average T AFs 
provided by LA.FCo were used to calculate the estimated share of the 
property tax revenue for the County, City, and Tracy Rural. 

Table 15 provides an overview of the estimated property tax revenue in 
Scenario 1, which assumes the 12 areas analyzed in this report remain 
annexed by the City, but not detached from Tracy Rural. These property 
tax revenue projections apply only to the build-out potential of these 
properties, and do not include the current property tax revenue received 
by the three agencies from these 12 areas as documented in Table 8. 
(Projections are calculated using the current assessments of these 
properties, and have not been adjusted to represent future value.) The 
total impact of anticipated build-out, which combines the current base 
property tax revenue and estimated revenue based on build-out of the 12 
areas in 10 years, is summarized in Table 18. 

Determining economic development opportunities in the face of an 
economy that continues to fluctuate, particularly in the San Francisco Bay 
Area, makes it difficult to project when build-out of these properties 
might actually occur. Complete build-out in ten years is unlikely; 
however, Management Partners believes revenue projections beyond this 
point would lose their value for this assessment. Assuming complete 
build-out of projected development potential in ten years, the County is 
projected to receive $10.5 million in additional annual property tax 
revenue from build-out. The City is projected to receive $1.9 million in 
additional revenue while Tracy Rural is projected to receive an additional 
$6 million. 

33 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

Table 15. Su,uzrio 1: Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue from Potential Build-out in 

10 Years 

1\1,n,Pd 1, a!u• HJ (J1Jllt \ f-, �l:ll t,� Ct, RL'vl'nt,c: lr,1 , R,H JI 
r,,..;,r,ty Vr,,r Pr OJ( [!1 ;r, f'r �pr rty T,h t S11,1 ,. ';h,HI' i;,. •" ')' HI" 

Elissaprav $9,295,660 $92,957 $20,450 $3,718 $11,898 
Northeast Industrial $33,000,000 $330,000 $72,600 $13,200 $42,240 
Ka1ehlro $87,259,260 $872,593 $191.970 $34,904 $111,692 
Lourence Ranch $14,993,000 $149,930 $32,985 $5,997 $19,191 
Plain View2 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Souchek $89,958,000 $899,580 $197.908 $35,983 $115,146 
Tracy Hills $1,975,003,360 $19,750,034 $4,345,007 $790,001 $2,528,004 
Presidio' $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Gateway $271,304,000 $2,713,040 $S96.869 $108,522 $347,269 
Flllos-Dobler $108,671,200 $1,086,712 $239,077 $43,468 $139,099 
E1r1S Specific Pian $716,661,000 $7,166,610 $1 576,654 $286,664 $917,326 
Cordes Ranch $1,469,271,232 $14,692,712 $3,232 397 $587,708 $1,880,667 

Total $4,nS,416,712 $47,754,167 $10,505,917 $1,910,167 $6,112,533 
'Toto/ Proptrty Tox Is tlftropolotrd as l" of tht urlmottd ossessed volut ot bu/Id-out. 
1Ploin Vitw hos no dtvtlopmtnt assumptions os It hos undtr/ying oggrtgott rtsources and no utllltles. 
'Presidio Is fully butlt-out and hos no furthtr dtvtlopment projections. 

In Scenario 2, shown in Table 16, if the 12 annexed areas were to detach 

from Tracy Rural, build-out projections anticipate that the County and 

City would receive $14.9 million and $3 million in additional revenue, 

respectively. 

Table 16. Scenario 2: Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue from Potential Build-out in 

10 Years 

l\s,c',sc'C \,'Jluc 10 f' 0/, r:y lV ... I tv •q•.i..: 1-..I'.! Cr1\ R, v,· ., 

r!(1p,•,tv Y, .u Pro:1 1 T1n11 l.H �•1 I!(' �11 1 P 

Ellssagaray $9,295,660 $92,957 $29,002 $5,763 
Northeast Industrial $33,000,000 $330,000 $102,960 $20,460 

ICagehlro $87,259,260 $872,593 $272,249 $54,101 
Lourence Ranch $14,993,000 $149,930 $46,778 $9,296 

PlalnView1 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Souchek $89,958,000 $899,580 $280,669 $55,774 

Tracv HIiis $1,975,003,360 $19,750,034 $6,162,010 $1,224,502 

Presldlol $0 $0 $0 $0 
Gateway $271,304,000 $2,713,040 $846,468 $168,208 

Flllos-Dobler $108,671,200 $1,086,712 $339,054 $67,376 
Ellls Specific Plan $716,661,000 $7,166,610 $2,235,982 $444,330 

34 



Alternative Fire Govemance Structures 
Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

Cordes Ranch $1,469,271,232 $14,692,712 $4,584,126 $910,948 

$4,775,416,712 $47,754,16 $14,899,300 $2,960,758 
1T otol proptrty tax Is extrapolated as J" of the estimated assessed voJue at build�. 
1Ploin view hos no dellt!loprMnt ossumpllons as It hos underlying oggre(IOte resources and no utllltlts. 

'Presidio is fully built-out and hos no further development projections. 

In ten years, if the 12 annexed areas were to detach from Tracy Rural, the 
County's annual property tax revenue from build-out alone would 
increase by approximately $4.4 million, the City's annual revenue would 
increase by an additional $1 million, and Tracy Rural's would decrease by 
an estimated $6.1 million in annual property tax revenue. Table 17 
summarizes the varying levels of property tax revenue in the different 
scenarios. 

Table 17. Estimated Annual Additional Property Tax Revenue Summary from 10 Year Projected Build

out 

r, '.C'1"V •)r r ·· "lr · ::'.' 1 s .,,.,..., I •• 

County $10,505,917 $14,899,300 $4,393,383 

Oty $1,910,167 $2,960,758 $1,050,592 

Tracy Rural $6,112,533 $0 $6,112,533 
>The sum of County and C7ry property t11x revenue dl/ftrtnas do not equate to Tracy Rurol's short of property t11x 
revenue due to colculotlons using overo(lt TAF's.

Table 18 summarizes the property tax revenue for each of these agencies 
through Scenarios l and 2, including both the current property tax 
revenue from each of the 12 annexed areas properties and projected 
revenue from build-out. 

Table 18. Estimated Total Property Tax Revenue, including Existing Property Tax from 10 Year Build

out 

f',Opl'rtV lJ, R,·vcriu1.: Proi;,·,11• lJ, h '\Cl,1..l' 

!>Cl'f\JflO I �c,'n,1 .. 10) 

111:l'"('I (Nn Or t.1<l11n1'1lt) (\'v,ll• llt·t.H '1m,'nl) f) 1 '<\1 rn ( 

County $12,626,595 $17,876,182 $5,249,587 

City $2,549,088 $3,828,275 $1,279,187 

Tracy Rural $7,197,333 $0 -$ 197 333 
'The sum of County ond C,ty proptrty tax rtvtnut dlf!erences do not eqv11tt to Tracy Rurol's short of proptrty tax 
revenue dve to build-out colculotions using overogt TAFs. 

35 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Alternative Fire Governance Structures Management Partners 

If the 12 annexed areas detached from Tracy Rural today (Scenario 2) and 
projected build-out occurred over 10 years, the following property tax 
revenue changes would accrue to the respective public agencies: 

• County: An increase of approximately $5.2 million
• City: An increase of approximately $1.3 million
• Tracy Rural: Loss of approximately $7.2 mmion

Financial and Governance Impact Summary 

Figure 3 estimates the property tax and governance impacts of Scenarios 
1 and 2 following a 10-year projected build-out of the 12 annexed areas. 
Scenario 3 represents a general assessment of the property tax impact on 
existing and future annexations it City were to annex into Tracy Rural. 

Figurt3. Property Tax and GovUTlllnce Impacts of Three Scenarios Following 10-Year Build-Out 

Sccnaltol Scanario2 Scanarto3 
No Chanp, Anna .. tion AnnHetlonwith City Annel<ltion 

without Detachment o.t.ichment Into Tracy Rural 

lncyRural 

$$$ $$$ ;$$$ Property T11 lmp.1ct 

City 
$ $ ·$$

lalMldtn·la 

Property Tex Impact MJldl-ot 
I fie) 

County $$ $$ $Property T11 Impact 

Governance U1a-csolvd 
19941Md for Mun 

AesoMd 
--� 

t/S • M- �1111 � 1$2.5 n>Tion er ... , HISS • - pn,c,e,,ylD ...,_cl� '5 tnacn) 
!$$./IS$• Sigr,lf\canl�lu ""'8<1 (� .,_ '5 _) 

36 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partne rs 

rire Service Delivery Alternatives Jnd Considcrat,ons 

The purpose of this engagement with the City of Tracy was to identify the 
property tax impacts and governance implications for various 
government reorganization options regarding future annexations from 
Tracy Rural and fire service delivery. The primary objective was to meet 
the analysis requirements and interests of LAPCo so the City of Tracy 
could develop a strategy for a fire governance model in anticipation of 
future annexations of territory from Tracy Rural into the City. There is no 
requirement for the 12 annexed but not detached areas to now detach 
from Tracy Rural; however, that could occur should Tracy Rural and the 
City agree to do so and LAFCo concurs. 

An in-depth financial analysis of fire service delivery needs and resources 
under property tax Scenarios 2 and 3 was beyond the scope of this 
project. Existing and future fire service delivery needs would need to be 
examined in depth with respect to budgetary resources before this could 
occur. Nonetheless, this section lays out issues that need to be considered 
in order for City executive staff to make a recommendation to the City 
Council and subsequently to the LAFCo Board. 

General Considerations 

The following are general issues and considerations that the City should 
review carefully before proceeding down any policy path: 

1. Properly tax sharing agreements modifications. While annexation
agreements have been negotiated and agreed upon, they can be
modified if both parties agree. In other words, should there be
interest in detachment from Tracy Rural for future annexations, the
City could approach the County (which negotiates on behalf of Tracy
Rural) regarding possible amendments to those agreements to reduce
the impact to Tracy Rural through a modification of the City's share
under current agreements.

2. Pro•ision of fire protection service. Under contract with the SCFA, the
City currently provides fire protection service to Tracy Rural territory
(both in the unincorporated and incorporated areas that have not

37 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

been detached) and incorporated areas of the City. Fire facilities are 
owned and, in some cases, shared by Tracy Rural and the City. 
Under Scenario 2, it is likely that the City would continue to provide 
the service under a JP A; however, under Scenario 3, Tracy Rural 
would likely be officially responsible for the delivery of fire service 
within Tracy Rural. Contracting with the City for that purpose is a 
possibility, although Tracy Rural may wish greater control over 
operations, service and the budget as they are ultimately responsible 
for revenues and expenditures. 

3. Employment of the Fire staff Fire Deparbnent staH members are
employees of the City, not the SCFA, and therefore subject to City
policies and procedures. They also enjoy the compensation and
benefits provided under a negotiated labor agreement with the City.
The city manager and fire chief, under general direction of the City
Council and the SCF A Board, provide direction and oversight to the
department. Under Scenario 2, the staff would remain employees of
the City and the City could continue to contract fire protection service
to Tracy Rural for the unincorporated area within the JP A structure.
Under Scenario 3, fire employees could either transition back to Tracy
Rural or stay as employees of the City under a contractual services
agreement to Tracy Rural. If fire stiili remained employees of the
City, the City would be the responsible agency for purposes of
collective bargaining. The Tracy Rural Board; however, as the policy
body responsible for the delivery of fire protection services and 
associated costs, would be responsible for the District budget.
Additionally, general compensation, benefits and CalPERS
obligations would need to be carefully reviewed, particularly with
respect to unfunded liabilities, should fire employees be transitioned
to Tracy Rural.

4. Gavernance implications. For properties that have been annexed to the 
City but remain within Tracy Rural boundaries, there is a confusing
set of elected and appointed officials responsible for fire service
delivery. I1 asked, most residents and property owners would likely
say that their fire service is provided by the City of Tracy Fire
Department, which is technically true. LAFCo believes that
responsibility for a core municipal service within a City should be the
same for all property owners and residents. Currently, however, there
are two elected bodies and one appointed Board of Directors that 
provide governance policy and general direction to varying degrees
regarding fire service delivery within the City of Tracy.

38 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

e Anntxed but not detached properties within the City: Tracy Rural 
Fire Protection District Board (elected), Tracy City Council 
(elected), and the SCFA Board of Directors (appointed). 

• All other properties within the City of Tracy: Tracy City Council
(elected) and the SCFA Board of Directors (appointed).

5. Sufficient resources for fire protectum seruia. The provision of fire
protection and suppression services represents a significant
expenditure for any local government agency that provides it. A
comprehensive review of fire service revenues and expenditures in
the near term and at least a five-year projection should be conducted
to determine the minimum level of resources needed to support the
fire service. Scenarios 2 and 3 lay out today's potential property tax
impacts that would result from each government reorganization
scenario. However, again, existing and future property tax sharing
agreements are subject to negotiation.

Alternative Options 

There are basically three options for the City to address the governance 
and service delivery issues raised by the LAFCo MSR. Each is described 
below along with a general assessment of the financial and governance 
implications for each of the governmental entities involved in this 
discussion. 

] . Continued .annexation without detachment. Properties annexed 
to the City within the City's SOI would not detach from Tracy 
Rural. 

Tracy Rural Financial Impact: Significant. Revenues would increase 
from property tax growth resulting from new development in 
existing non-detached properties, future annexations, and 
proceeds from the imposition of the benefit assessment fee on any 
new construction. 

City Financial Impact: Moderate. Revenues would increase from 
future property tax growth and the City could collect 
development impact fees in support of fire capital needs, as 
appropriate. 

County Financial Impact: Significant. The County would continue 
to share in property tax growth based on the existing negotiated 
agreement with the City, but this would not include a 

39 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

redistribution of Tracy Rural's property tax upon annexation of 

new properties to the City. 

Govern,mce: No resolution. Two elected bodies and one appointed 

board would continue to be responsible for fire service delivery 
within the City. Tracy Rural's influence on fire service delivery 

and its costs would continue to be directed through its two 
appointed members on the SCFA Board of Directors. 

Figure 4 provides a depiction of the fire governance structure 
under Scenario 1, which is the same as the current structure 

described in the beginrung of this report. 

Figure 4. Fire Governance Structure Under Scenario 1 

Figure 5 provides a description of the fire service structure under 
Scenario 1, which is the same structure described earlier in this 
report. 

40 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

Figurt 5. Firt Prottdion Stroict Structurt Under Scenario 1 

HMMI-H#W�� L=:_·_�.- , 4l-� 

< ti v, l >., � 
r;, ,Irr l• ,, •.�, c. ', , 

\.....__ ________ _ ________ _,/ 

2. Annexation with detachmenl Properties within the City S01
would detach from Tracy Rural and fully annex into the City.
Based on the existing or possibly a renegotiated property tax
sharing agreement, Tracy Rural's property tax would be
redistributed between the County and the City. The fire benefit
assessment fee would also not be imposed on annexed properties
that are no longer within Tracy Rural.

Tracy Rural Financial lmpad: Moderatt for faturt anntxations. (This 
assumts no changt to the status of tht existing 12 annexed properties). 

In part, the impact would depend on the mitigation fee that may 
be imposed by LAFCo on properties detached from fire districts 
and annexed into cities. Tracy Rural, however, would no longer 
be responsible for fire service delivery for properties within future 
annexed areas. 

City Financial Impact: Moderatt to significant. The City would gain 
by a greater share of the property tax and future development 
growth from the redistribution of Tracy Rural's property tax for 
properties annexed in the future. The impact on the City would 
also depend on the mitigation fee that may be imposed by LAFCo. 
The City would continue to collect development impact fees on 
property developed within the City. 

41 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

County Finandal Impact: Significant over time. The County would 

gain property tax as a result of the redistribution of Tracy Rural's 

property tax upon annexation to the Oty. 

Governana: Resolved fur future annexations. The Tracy City Council 

would be the sole elected body responsible for fire service 
delivery even if a JPA with an appointed Board were to continue 

to contract with the City to provide service to the City and Tracy 

Rural. 

Figure 6 provides a depiction of the fire govemance structure 

under Scenario 2. 

Figure 6. Fire G(lf}emana Structure Under Scenario 2 

Figure 7 provides a description of the likely fire service structure 

under Scenario 2. 

42 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

Figure 7. Fire Protection Service Structure Under Scenario 2

[ler1Pcl OHmal� 

�crv1cc Arra, ' 

( 1ly ol l•a·, ���� 
··-�-

�-,._•; .. '.. •., .. 

_______ _.,/_ 
--v,,-

, fit\' [fll1 ,'II t�1•,·1 r.•r, 
1

11 

3. Annexation into Tracy Rural. The City would annex into the
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District, which would then be

responsible for the delivery of fire protection and suppression
services within the City and the unincorporated areas of Tracy
Rural.

Tracy Rural Financial Impact: Significant. Based on a "to be 
negotiated" property tax agreement, the City would agree to an 
exchange of property tax revenue between the entities sufficient to 
support an agreed upon level of fire service now and into the 
future. Tracy Rural would also benefit from property tax growth 

resulting from new development on existing properties and new 
properties annexed into the City. Tracy Rural would also receive 

the proceeds from the imposition of the fire benefit assessment fee 
on existing properties within the City and future development. 

City Financial Impact: Moderate to significant as a result of the 
imposition of the fire benefit assessment fee on City properties, thereby 
allowing the reallocation of General Fund revenues to other ongoing 

service priorities. The impact on the General Fund will also depend 
upon the agreed upon level of fire service to be delivered within 

43 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations Management Partners 

Tracy Rural and a negotiated property tax agreement in support 

of fire services district wide, which would include all City 

properties as well. Tracy Rural and the City will also have to 
agree upon the distribution of property tax when unincorporated 

properties annex into the City. 

County Financilll Impact: None. There would be no change in the 

distribution of Tracy Rural's existing property tax in the 

unincorporated area. Annexations of property from the 
unincorporated area of the County to the City would be subject to 

existing property tax sharing agreements between the two entities. 

Governance: Structural governana issue resolvetJ as the Tracy Rural 
Fire Protection District Board of Directo� (or a successor agency) would 
be the sole elected body responsible far th£ delivery of fire seroice within 
Tracy Rural and the City. The Board Directors would be elected by 

voters across the district, which would include the City. The Tracy 
City Council, however, would no longer have direct policy 

responsibility for fire service except through their appointed 

representatives on a JPA Board, should Tracy Rural choose this 

route for the delivery of fire protection services or an agreement 
directly with the City Fire Department. Roles and responsibilities 
would be need to be defined and agreed upon within either 

contractual arrangement. 

Figure 8 provides a depiction of the fire governance structure 

under Scenario 3. 

Figure 8. Fire Govenumce Structure Under Scenario 3

llPcted OHic1als 

f let 1 orate I 
C1ly u' lru, y---

r,,,,;rlrnl �/P1 ,lpNI \ Own NS 

Figures 9, 10 and 11 provide a description of three possible fire 
service structures under Scenario 3. Option 1 provides that the 

Tracy Fire Department employees would transition to Tracy 
Rural. Options 2 and 3 assume the employees would remain as 

employees of the City of Tracy. 

44 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Fire Service Delivery Alternatives and Considerations 

Figurt 9. Fire Protection Strvice Structure Undtr Sanorio 3 (Option 1) 

[li>ctcdOH,c1al� 1 

Service Provider j lracy Hural I 1rr- l'rolPrl on (),.;tr1Ll 

Management Partners 

Service Arca� c;,y of r,a.-y 

ncsidcnts/i'ropcrt1 0•,\ ("S 

Figure 10. Fire Protection Seroice Structure Under Scmario 3 (Option 2) 

"-rrv,tr Provider I

..;'"'"" t-

C 1ty ol lru(y I trt> l)pp.ir!r,11•11t (I o·,tr,lct/ 

-- -:--
�-·-- - ··-· 

�filJJE,1} 
.�©mmm 

·- - � . 

Ci�,, er�" 1:v 
flcsdrnt /l'rvp: l.1 G" 1<cr, 

Figure 11. Fire Protection Service Structurt Under Scenario 3 (Option 3)

s�rvict• Providt-r (1tyol lraLylirf'£Jq>.,rtnH'ot ((n11tr.11tl 

-- .. -� 
. .  �--

-��� 11lrJ,-:1} 
•U�Wiffll:1·tl>�?t� 

45 

( it� o! Tr.,, v 
rtcsidenl�/rrop<:ny Ownc,s 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
PO$ible Strategies 

PossilJ,c sri-atecics 

Management Partners 

The issues and choices are complex. An approach or agreed upon 
strategy depends, in part, on whether the objective is to ensure fire 
service delivery and governance is provided within an urban or 

municipal setting by one jurisdictio. or achieve financial stability for the
SCFA and the residents it serves, although they are not at all mutually 
exclusive. Management Partners believes the City and Tracy Rural 
should consider the following important goals when considering this 
issue: 

1. A financially sustainable fire service delivery function.
2. A service provider capable of delivering an efficient, effective and

accountable fire service to all residents.
3. A streamlined and predictable property annexation process for

properties within Tracy's SOI.

Policy guidance from City Council as well as close consultation with 
Tracy Rural will be critical before next steps and a consensus path toward 
resolution of the annexation issue can be developed. Additionally, 
because LAFCo is responsible for government boundaries, the agency 
continues to be keenly interested in the policy and financial implications 

of this discussion. Other fire districts in San Joaquin County are 
foJJowing this issue closely because the outcome will have implications 

regarding properties annexed to cities from their districts. 

Good governance would suggest that when property is annexed into a 
city that provides a major municipal function like fire protection and 
suppression, the city should take on that responsibility and the 
accompanying financial cost and this is typically what occurs unless the 
service is provided by another governmental agency or district. Most 
LAFCos in the state in major urbanized areas would likely mandate this 
through annexation proceedings under state law. Presumably, a city in a 
geographic area with an SOI such as Tracy would be supportive of an 
annexation if it met important economic development objectives such as 
development potential, sales tax generation, and job growth. The 
expectation is that an annexation will result in some increased revenue 

46 



Alternative fire Governance Structures 
Possible Strategies Management Partners 

resources to support the delivery of a major municipal service over the 
long term. California's property tax system, however, does not come 
close to providing sufficient property tax revenue to offset the cost of 
major municipal services and effectively has not been reJied upcri to do 
so since 1978 and the passage of Proposition 13. 

Tracy Rural relies heavily on property tax and its fire benefit assessment 
fee to provide fire service and meet its financial obligations under 
agreement with the SCFA. The City reJies in equal measure on these 
same revenues to be able to provide fire service to the entire territory 
under the jurisdiction of the SCFA, whether incorporated or 
unincorporated. The rurrent governance and fire service delivery 
structure has worked reasonably well from a fire protection and 
suppression perspective since the initial annexation in 1996 and the 
formation of the SCFA in 1999. Tracy RuraJ's financial obligations to the 
SCFA, though, continue to be a challenge for the District. Continuation of 
this structure may achieve one or two of the goals cited above, but may 
not achieve a predictable and streamlined annexation proc:ess in the 
future. 

Restructuring the SCFA may provide opportunities to address some of 
the operational and financial interests of Tracy Rural, but it will not 
address the current annexation policy. Another path to address long 
term operational and financial sustainability as well as the annexation 
policy may be annexation of the City into Tracy Rural. Under this 
approach, Tracy Rural may be able to sustain a reliable revenue stream 
and provide the level of service that the residents of incorporated and 
unincorporated area have come to rely upon. 

Doing so would effectively result in a regional fire district where the 
quality and delivery of service would be under the jurisdiction of one 
governing body. The quality of service, any service disparities, funding 
resources and govemanc:e would then be addressed on a district-wide 
basis regardless of municipal boundaries. The County would not benefit 
from any Tracy Rural property tax redistribution under this plan. 

47 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Conclusion Management Partners 

Conclusion 

The City of Tracy has grown significantly over the last decade and has the 
potential to expand its boundaries to an even greater extent in the future. 
As aJways, build-out fluctuates and is severely dependent on economic 
cycles, which in the Bay Area have expanded and contracted about every 
five years. Commercial, office and industrial land uses represent a 
significant portion of the development potential within the existing 12 
annexed areas; however, Tracy Hills, with the potential for 5,100 single 
family homes, would have greater potential emergency medical needs 
and may represent the greatest impact on fire services. 

All built-out land use sectors will require services from an urban fire 
service agency. In addition to meeting the requirements and interests of 
LAFCo, the residents and property owners within the existing annexed 
areas, as well as those within future annexations, will want clarity and 
predictability regarding delivery of their fire service and its costs. Most 
importantly, they will want to understand who is responsible and 
accountable. 

48 



Alternative Fire Governance Structures 
Appendix 1 - Property Tax Allocation Agreement 

App0nd1x 1- Property TJX Al!ocJtion Ar,1·c-emcnt 

49 

Management Partners 



I I Attachment 

County of San Joaquin &. City of Tracy 
Agreemeni for Property Tax Af;r:tfon upon Annexation

A-12- £dJ 

J , 1 

AGREEMENT entered Into this� day of NWWbJ2012 by and between the City of 
Tracy, hereinafter referred to as "CITY- and the County of San Joaquin, hereinafter referred to as 
"COUNTY"; 

PREAMBLE: 

• I 

c;:rrv and CO':'ITT'Y acknow)�ge that b,oth OTY and COUNTY haye Increasing service 
responslbllities with restrained revenue r�u.�. There Is no �nsensus �tween CITY and 
COUHTY regard!ng the analysis of local � ... vemment funding Issues arising from annexations. 
CITY and COUl'fTY each have their own distinctive and differing perspectives on costs &nd 
revenues generat� by annexed areas. However, there Is a statutory requirement for a Property 
Tax Allocation Agreement for the Local Agency Formation Commission to annex land. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Article 13A, Section 1 of the Const:Jtutlon of the State of Callfornla limlt:s ad 
valorem taxes on real property to one percent (1%) of full cash value; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 6 of Part 0.5 of Division 1 of the Revenue and Taxation Code 
(Sectloos 95 et. seq.) provides for the allocation of property tax revenues; and 

WHEREAS, CITY and COUNTY must have an agreement for the allocation of property tax 
revenues upon annexation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, In consideration of the premises and the following terms and 
conditions, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. DEFINffiONS. The words and phra�es In this Agreement shall have meanings as set
forth below: 

A. "Annexation Property Tax Basen shall mean the Base Year sum of the ad valorem 
tax allocated to D,etachlng Special Districts, as denned herein, and to COUNTY 
wlttiln the are� being annexed. 

B. "Detaching Special Districts" shall mean those polltlcal subdivisions organized
pursuant to the laws of the State of California whose functions within the area 
being annexed are terminated and/or assumed by CTTY. 

C. "Detach_ment" shall mean the removal from a special district of any portion of the
territory of that special district. 



Mast�r Annexation Ag�ement 

0. •aase Year" shall mean the assessed valuation applicable to the property and
lmproveme_nts within the area being annexed at the time the application for
annexation Is submitted to the Local Agency Formation Comn_llsslon (lAFCo).

E. "Incremental Growth" shall mean the total Increase or decr�ase In the property
tax base over the base year within the annexed area.

2. PROPERTY TAX ALLOCATION.
Upon each annexation, property tax allocation shall be determined pursuant to one of
the foll owing provisions:

A. For annexations that Involve Detachment from a fire district, CITY and COUNTY
shall, upon each annexation that In whole or In part, Involves Detachment from a
fire district, share In the Annexation Property Tax Base and all Incremental
Growth thereof pursuant to the ratio of 20% CITY and 80% COUN"TY for all
portions of the annexation that Involve Detachment from a fire district.

B. For annexations that do not Involve Detachment from a fire district, CITY and
COUNTY shall, upon each annexation that In whole or In part, does not Involve
Detachment from a fire district, share In the Annexation Property Tax Base and
Incremental Growth thereof, for all portions of the annexation that do not Involve
Detachment from a fire district, as follows:

I. Consolidated fire districts establlshed prior to June 15, 1996, pursuant to the
ratio of 20% CITY and 80% COUNTY.

II. Consolldated fire districts established between June 15, 1996 and June 15,
2003, pursuant to the ratio of 15% CITY and s·s% COUNTY.

Iii. Consolldated fire districts established subsequent to June 15, 2003, pursuant 
to the ratio of 10% CITY and 90% COUNTY. 

C. For annexations by the cities of Escalon and Ripon only, notwithstanding
Subsections 2A and 2B, CITY and COUNTY shall, upon each annexation, share In
the Annexation Property Tax Base and all Incremental Growth thereof pursuant to 
the ratio of 36.6% CITY and 63.4% COUNTY, untll such time as the current
population of CITY,. based on the most recent estimates publlshed by the
California State Department of Finance, exceeds 18,000.

D. For the City of Tracy 2003 Gateway annexation only, CITY and COUNTY, from the
date of this agreement forward, shall share In the Annexation Property Tax Base
and all Incremental Growth thereof pursuant to the ratio of 15% OTY and 85%
COUNTY.

3. APPLICATION OF AGREEMENT.

A. Term. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to all pending and future
annexations from the effective date of this Agreement through July 31, 2019,
unless otherwise terminated under Section 10.

2 



Master Anneution Agreement 

B. Effect:Jve date. The effective date of property tax allpca�on for �ach annexation
shall be detennlned In accordance with Government Code s,c:t:km 54902 and any
succeeding statutory provisions. Ct.1�ntly, statements of boundary change must
be file� v.,� the State Soard of Equallzation on or before oec;ember 1 of the year
Immediately preceding the year In which pro�r,:y �� a"' to be shared.

c. ·Future property taxes. The proV!slons of this Agreement would also apply to any
property exempt from ad Vc!,lort:m taX8$ which subsequently became taxable
within t:fie area to be an�ex�.

D. Term:s of subsequen� �greements. Except as noted In Section 2, property tax
share allocated to Cili from Mure annexation areas will be no lower than any
other city In San Joaquin county with the same Oiter1a. ·

4. JOINT.REVIEW.

CTTY and' COUNTY may jointly review COUNTY propertv tax rei:ords from time to time
or as requested by CITY to vertfy accurate distribution under the Agreement.

5. EXCLUSIONS.

A. The Agreement shall not apply to proposed annexation areas where the COUNTY
Is currently receiving transient occupancy tax (TOTI revenues. Annexation
agreements for areas where the COUN"TY Is currently receiving TOT revenues will
be lndlvldually negotiated between the COUNTY and CITY to address the potential
TOT 1oss to' the couNTY: ·

B. The Agreement shall not apply to proposed annexation areas where gross taxable
sales, subject to sales and use taxes, exceed $1 mUllon 1n·the most recent year
that taxable sales data Is available from the State Board of Equallzatlon or any
other Sti!te successor brganlzatlon that may provide taxable sales Information.
Annexation agreements for areas containing over $1 million In taxable sales wlll
be lndlvlduaflynegotlated between the COUNTY and CITY to address the potential
sales and use tax loss to the COUNTY.

C. The Agreement shall not apply to annexations that, In whole or In part, Include
.1 

more than fifty (50) ac;res of COUN"TY owned property. Such annexations will be
considered under separately negotiated and mutually beneficial annexation end
development agre�ments. ·

6. REGlONAL COOPERATION.

In consideration of the unique and mutual funding dlfflcultles of both CITY and
COUNTY, CITY and COUNTY wlll jointly develop and seek to Implement changes In
their activities which wlll Improve the cost effectiveness of service delivery by both
CITY and COUNiY, lncludlng but not llmlted to conso1ldation of services  between
governmental agencies and Inter-agency contracting for services.

7. COUNTY CAPITAL FACILITlES FUNDING.

01Y recognizes the Importance of regional services and facllltles provided by the
COUNTY for all residents of the entire COUNTY.

3 



McJSter Annex�tlon Agreement 

CITY shall contribute to COUNTY's funding for reglonal fadlltles by adopting or 
renewing a County fadlltles fee ordinance and resolutlon enacting and Implementing 
the County Capita! Facllltles Fee (CFF) Prbgram. In accordance with the requirements 
of Government Code Sections 66000 et seq., CITY shall adopt this ordinance and 
resolution prior to or concurrent with execution of this Agreement. 

8. URBAN DEVELOPMENT COOPERATION.
A ratlonal pattern of urban land uses Is a common goal of CITY and COUNTY, as
expressed In their respective General Plans. The efficient construction of urban
Infrastructure and the delivery of munlclpal services require cooperation between
COUN"TY and CITY within areas designated for urban development, specifically CITY'S
Sphere of Influence.

A. Counfy General Plan Policy. COUNTY affirms the polldes expressed In Its General
Plan that support concentration of additional major urban development within
urban centers.

B. Urban Plannlng and Development Cooperation. The preparation of land use and
Infrastructure plans within CITY'S Sphere of Influence, consistent with statutory
guldellnes, is encouraged. COUNTY shat.I refer all land use appllcatlons requiring
discretionary approval within CITY'S Sphere of Influence to CITY for review and
comment.

C. Capita I Faclllties Funding and Cooperation. OT)' and COUNTY wlll cooperate In the
development of Infrastructure plans within CITY'S Sphere of Influence. Relative to
areas for which CITY and COUNlY have Jointly adopted master plans for
Infrastructure and, upon request by CITY, ·couNTY wlll schedule an Area
Development Impact Fee (ADIF) for public hearing. This ADIF will incorporate
CITY development Impact fees that are speclfically required to support Jolntly
planned Infrastructure. COUNTY shall cooperate In the construction of capital
facilltles thus funded.

9. COMMUNITY SERVICE FACILITIES

A. Siting of Community Facilities. CITY and COUNTY recognize the Importance of
community services provided by COUNTY and other providers and also the
Importance of these services being convenient to residents of COUNTY making use
of these servie:es. Accordlngly, as a part of the land use planning and pre-zoning
for proposed municipal annexations, CITY will cooperate with COUNTY to Identify
community service needs of the local community and, where appropriate, work
with COUNTY to locate potential sites for these community services facllltles.

B. CITY may elect to adopt or add to existing development Impact fees In lieu of
providing community service faclllty sites. Such fees may be administered within
CITY or may be Included as a component of the above-mentioned County Capital
Facilltles Fee.

10. TERMINATION.
This Agreement may be terminated, by any party hereto, upon six (6) months written
notice which termination shall terminate the agreement for each and every party.

4 



Ma,ter MnexoUon Agreement 

Said termination shall not affect annexations for which the LAFCo Executive Officer 
has Issued-a certificate of flllng prior to the end of the six (6) month termination 
period. 

11. GOVER�ING lAW AND ATTORNEYS' FEES.
This Agreement shall be CC>f15trued and enforced In accordance with the laws of the
State of Callfomla. Should any legal action be brought by either party because of any
default under this Agreement or to enforce any provision of this Agreement, or to
obtain a declaration of rights hereunder, the prevalllng party shall be entitled to
reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and such other costs as may be fixed by the
q,urt. The st:Bndard of review for determining whether a default has occurred under
this Agreement shall be the standard generally applicable to contractual obligations In
California.

12. NOTICES.
Any notice of communication required hereunder among CITY and COUNTY must be
in writing, and may be given either personally, by telefacslmlle (with original
forwarded by regular U.S. Mall) or by Federal Express or other sln:illar courier
promising overnight delivery. If personally delivered, a notice or communication shall
be deemed to have been given and received when delivered to the party to whom It Is
addresse�. If given by facsimile transmission, a notice or communication shall be
deemed to have been given and received upon actual physical receipt of the entire
document by the receiving party's facslmlle machine. Notices transmitted by facsimile
after 5:00 p.m. on a normal business day or on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday shall
be deemed to have been given and received on the next normal business day. If
given by Federal Express or similar courier, a notice or communication shall be
deemed to hav� been given and received on the date delivered as shown on a receipt
Issued by the courier. Such notices or communications shall be given to the parties at
their addresses set forth below:

To CITY {City Manager): 

Leon Churchill, Jr. 
City of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, CA 95376 
To COUNTY (County Administrator): 

Manuel Lopez 
County Administration Building 
44 N. San Joaquin St., Ste. 640 
Stockton, Callfomla 95202-2931 
Telefacsimile: (209) 468-2875 

With Coples To {City Attorney): 

Daniel G. Sodergren 
City of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, CA 95376 
With Coples To (County Counsel): 

David Wooten 
County Administration Building 
44 N. San Joaquin St., Ste. 679 
Stockton, Callfomla 95202-2931 
Telefacsimile: (209) 468-0315 

Any party hereto may at any time, by giving ten (10) days written notice to the other 
parties, designate any other address or facsimile number In substitution of the 
address or facsimile number to which such not!ce or communication shall be given. 

13. SEVERABIUlY.
If any provision of this Agreement Is held Invalid, void, or unenforceable but the

s 



"1aster Annexation Agreement 

remainder of this Agreement can be enforced without failure of material consideration 
to any party, then this Agreement shall not be affected and It shall remain In full force 
and effect, unless amended by mutual consent of the parties. Notwithstanding this 
severablllty clause, each subsection of Section 2 Property Tax Allocation and Section 
S Exclusions, Is material and substantial and the failure of said subsection ts the 
failure of material consideration, causing the agreement to be void from the date that 
the subsection Is held Invalid. 

14. FURTHER ASSURANCES.
Each party shall execute and deliver to the other party or parties all such other
further Instruments and documents and take all such further actions as may
reasonably necessary to carry out this Agreement and to provide and secure to the
other party or parties the full and complete enjoyment of Its rights and privileges

hereunder.

15. CONSTRUCTION.
All parties ·have been �epresented by counsel In the preparation of this Agreement
and no presumption or rule that ambiguity shall be construed against a drafting party
shall apply to Interpretation or enforcement hereof. Captions on sections and
subsections are provided for convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit,
amend, or affect the meaning of the provision to which they p�rtain.

16. OTHER MJSCELLANEOUS TERMS.
The singular Includes the plural; the masculine gender includes the feminine, "shalln 

Is mandatory; "may• Is permissive.

17.TIME.

Time is of the essence of each and every provision hereof.

18. COUNTERPART.

This agreement may be executed in counterpart agreements, binding each executing
party as If said parties executed the same agreement.

6 



Master At111exatto11 Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement. 

RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL: 

Mayor 

Approved as to Form 

Danlel G. Socforgren 

City Attorney 

ATTEST: Sandra Edwards 
City Clerk 

lnrn¼1 � 

l 

Chairman, Board of Supervisors 

Approved as to Form 

�2-,:Z--: Dffldoten 
County Counsel 

7 



AJtemative Fire Governance Structures 
Appendix 2 - Tracy Sphere of Influence Map 

Appendix 2 -Tracy Sphere of Influence fvlap 

50 

Management Partners 



-.,,.. 

cr,:u..., 

t r-.:u J; Tracy City limit

N Parcell 
J. 

r-J Prop01ed Sphere of Influence (SOI)

r·--, Area In SOI wHh 
L---1 full munlcis,91 �•rvices 
� Areas in SOI without 
� municipal fire servicu 

............ _. - · ·· ·  

- ... - .... ·-;---- .. ' 

- -·-\ .!. 

; I 

1.,1. _ _,..:..._.;:i�---.....:::::...1--1----..1-·l-�----f1.-'·-.1...i _:.��;--1"1_-�_--_-• .. ! ... =·
4

• 

�ROPO$ED TRACY $PHIERE of iNFLUENCE l 

l 

• u ', u 
..
-

--



EXHIBIT 3 

SOUTH SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY 

Governance Review 

A Review of Governance Transition and Evaluated Options 

of the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Randall Bradley 

Updated December 26, 2018 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......................................................................................................................... 3 

BACKGROUND .......................................................................................................................................... S 

Citizen's Advisory Committee ............................................................................................................... s

Creation of the South County Fire Authority ...................................................................................... 6 

TRACY RURAL FIRE DISTRICT GOVERNANCE CONCERNS (Driver 1 ) ...................................... 8 

LAFCO GOVERNANCE CONCERNS (Driver 2) .................................................................................. 8 

Fire Service Governance Oversight Committee ................................................................................ 9 

Management Partners Report ............................................................................................................ 10 

Table 1-Annexation with detachment impact.. ............................................................................. 10 

Table 2-Annexation of the City into the District impact... ............................................................ 11 

SCFA EXPANSION POTENTIAL (Driver 3) ........................................................................................ 12 

ANNEXATION WITHOUT DETACHMENT AND TAX SHARING AGREEMENT .......................... 12 

GOVERNANCE OPTIONS ..................................................................................................................... 15 

Table 3-Housing assumptions ........................................................................................................ 16 

Table 4-Housing price and size assumptions .............................................................................. 17 

Table 5-Commercial assumptions-industrial (in million square feet) ........................................ 17 

Table 6-Commercial assumptions-retail (in thousand square feet) .......................................... 17 

Table ?-Commercial assumptions-office (in thousand square feet) ......................................... 17 

Table 8-Commercial price per square foot assumptions ........................................................... 17 

Option 1-City of Tracy Detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District .............................. 17 

Service Level Impacts (Option 1) ....................................................................................................... 18

Fiscal Impacts (Option 1): ................................................................................................................... 18 

Table 9-Option 1-City Detach from the District... ......................................................................... 19 

Option 2-The City of Tracy Annex into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District .. ....................... 19 

Service Level Impacts (Option 2) ....................................................................................................... 20 

Fiscal Impacts (Option 2) .................................................................................................................... 20 

Table 10-0ption 2-City of Tracy Annex into the District... .......................................................... 21 

Option 3-Reconstitute and Strengthen the Current JPA ................................................................ 22 

Figure 1-Map of South County Fire Authority .............................................................................. 24 

····························································································································································24

Maintain or Improve Service Levels (Option 3) ............................................................................... 25 

Page 1 



Fiscal Impacts (Option 3) .................................................................................................................... 25 

Table 11-Option 3-Tracy Rural Fire District Projected Annual Revenues and Expenditures 

............................................................................................................................................................ 27 

Table 12-Option 3-JPA Projected Annual Expenditures ............................................................ 27 

Table 13-Option 3-Future properties detach ................................................................................ 28 

Fire Station Funding/Staffing and Ownership ...................................................................................... 28 

Station 94 (/PC) ................................................................................................................................ 28 

Station 95 (Tracy Hills) 
.................................................................................................................... 29 

Station 97 (Va/pico) .......................................................................................................................... 29 

Station 99 (Ellis/Avenues at Va/pico) ............................................................................................ 30

Table 14-Model Implementation Plan Status ............................................................................... 31 

Status of LAFCO Concerns ................................................................................................................ 33 

Table 15-LAFCO Concern Status .................................................................................................. 34 

REFERENCES ......................................................................................................................................... 35 

ATTACHMENTS ....................................................................................................................................... 35 

Page 2 



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

In February 2018, the City of Tracy (City) and the Tracy Rural Fire District (District) 

dissolved the South County Fire Authority (SCFA) through a dissolution agreement and 

entered into a new agreement that formed the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority. 

Since the formation of the original fire authority, three things occurred that prompted a 

reevaluation and the formation of a new governance: 

• The District Board was concerned that they did not have the desired authority

over fire protection policies and did not participate in financial, administrative and

operational policy development, and approval and implementation for fire

protection programs within their District boundaries. There were some

discussions about dissolving the JPA and detaching from the City.

• In 2011, the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO)

conducted a Fire Service Municipal Service Review (MSR) of the District and

expressed concerns about property not detaching from the District when

annexations occur. Their concerns were focused on two primary areas: 1) A loss

of revenue to the County due to their inability to impose a tax sharing agreement

(taking part of the ad valorem tax generated by the District) when detachment

does not occur; 2) A concern that the City is not providing full municipal services

to its residents.

• An inability for the previous JPA to expand to include additional agencies and

realize additional economies of scale.

In 2017, staff of the South County Fire Authority conducted a study to evaluate different 

fire governance options that would address concerns from the District Board and 

LAFCO and could also include additional agencies in the future. The study evaluated 

three primary options: 

Option 1-City of Tracy detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

Option 2-The City of Tracy annex into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

Option 3 Reconstitute and strengthen the current JPA 

Staff utilized information from the study to develop a recommendation for the City and 

the District to approve Option 3 - Reconstitute and Strengthen the Current JPA. In 

February 2018, the City Council and the District Board approved the new JPA and it 

was successfully implemented on July 1, 2018. At the request of LAFCO's Executive 

Page3 



Officer an updated version of the study is being provided to City Council and the District 

Board for acceptance and approval. The study includes a status of the new JPA's 

implementation plan. 

Option 1 - City detach from the District. The challenge with this model was the financial 

impact on the City and the District. The fiscal analysis assumed the existing County and 

City Tax Sharing Agreement (80% County 20% City) would apply when dividing District 

revenues after detachment. The City's 20 percent allocation would not cover the cost of 

providing fire protection in the area that would detach from the District. In the first year 

(FY 2019/20), there would be a $3,044,021 shortfall that would require the City to utilize 

general operating funds. To keep the same service levels, the City would be required to 

increase General Fund expenditures annually in FY 2026/27 by $8,640,314 with a 

cumulative General Fund augmentation of $50,080,296 through FY 2026/27. During 

the same time frame, County revenues would increase $2,592,421 in FY 2019/20 and 

continue to increase to $7,165,906 in FY 2026/27 with a cumulative increased allocation 

of $40,773,395. During the same time frame, the District would lose $51,707,830 in 

revenues but would no longer be required to provide fire protection in the areas that 

were annexed and not detached. The District's special tax (.03 cents per sq. ft.) would 

be discontinued within the City boundaries and would create a cumulative revenue loss 

of $10,934,434 through FY 2026/27. 

Option 2 - City annex into the District. The challenge with this model would be the City's 

willingness to give up control of fire protection and 63% ($13.8 Million of $22 Million) of 

their property taxes. Under the JPA, the City Council continues to have significant 

authority over fiscal resources and service level determinations for fire protection within 

the core city that remains outside of the District. The model would also increase City 

property taxes (.03 per sq. ft.) without requiring a vote of the tax payers. 

Option 3 - Reconstitute and strengthen the current JPA. This model was chosen and 

implemented based on the following considerations: 

• The model only requires the approval of the two governing bodies (and the

Secretary of State).

• The model provides the City with continued control over the City's budget and

service levels in the core City areas.

• The model ensures the long term fiscal sustainability of the District.

• The model addressed the District's concern over a lack of authority over financial

and administrative policies that impact fire protection within their jurisdiction.

• The model protects fire protection revenues from being reallocated from the

District to the County.

Page4 



• The model is reversible. At a later date, the Council could decide to operate a

municipal fire department and the District could return to providing services as a

Fire District.

• The JPA Board will have the authority to negotiate fire protection impacts with

developers. This can be done through the City, but having an independent fire

agency at the table always benefits the local government agency.

• There will be no confusion over who is the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for

fire protection matters. Fire protection authorities have been delegated to the

JPA by both member agencies.

• This model is expandable. Other agencies could join and increase efficiencies

which results in lower costs to the member agencies. The Lathrop-Manteca Fire

District and Mountain House Community Services District have expressed an

interest in joining the newly formed JPA.

• The new JPA eliminates additional agreements and amendments that were

adopted under the previous JPA. The amendments were difficult to interpret,

implement, and track. The Smoothing Agreement, the Pre-Paid Service

Agreement (Amendments 4 and 6), and the Supplemental Services Agreement

(Amendment 3) have all been eliminated and replaced with an intuitive, fair, and

equitable cost allocation model.

• The model addresses many LAFCO concerns.

• The phased approach allows the new JPA to pursue additional model elements

and to potentially migrate to a full fire District.

BACKGROUND 

In the mid 1990's, the City of Tracy began to experience unprecedented growth and 

started the process of annexing properties into the city limits. As the City began to grow 

through annexations and the building of residential, commercial, and industrial 

occupancies, it became apparent that the annexation process would have a negative 

impact on the funding for fire protection services in the City and in the Tracy Rural Fire 

District. The primary impact was a requirement that the City enter into a tax sharing 

agreement with the County to reallocate Tracy Rural Fire District's property tax 

revenues to the County for non-fire protection services. This realization prompted staff 

from both the City and the District to evaluate the consolidation of the two agencies to 

preserve fire protection tax dollars and to maintain fire protection services in both 

jurisdictions. 

Citizen's Advisory Committee 

In 1996, a Citizen's Advisory Committee was formed to evaluate proposals for the 

consolidation of the City of Tracy Fire Department and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection 

Page 5 -



District. The committee utilized the services of Shannon, Davis & Associates and David 

Tausig & Associates to assist the committee in evaluating the proposal and to develop a 

report with final recommendations. The report "Fire Service Consolidation Assessment 

for the City of Tracy (City) and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District (District)" was 

issued in July 1997 with the following summary of the committee's conclusions: 

• It is in the long term interest of the City and District to merge the two agencies

into one fire protection organization.

• The most effective method for achieving the proposed consolidation is a

contractual service arrangement between the City and the District which results

in complete consolidation of all fire suppression, prevention, and general

management forces of the two departments.

• The Fire District will experience extraordinary cost increases when the

departments are combined. This will occur due to the need to establish a single

wage and benefit plan. As a result, District revenues are projected to not meet

the District's actual expenditures during the first three years of the combined

department. This is a temporary, start-up condition that will be corrected by the

fourth year when Plan C revenue is adequate to balance total cost and income.

This condition should also be balanced against the fact that there will be

significant permanent annual losses of revenue under the existing tax sharing

policies if areas are annexed by the City, and in the future are detached from the

District.

• The Fire Chiefs from the City and the District need to develop a specific

implementation plan for consideration and action by the City Council and District

Board.

• There should be one pay and benefit plan that equally and fairly applies to all

employees once the consolidation occurs.

Creation of the South County Fire Authority 

Based on the Citizen's Advisory Committee's report, in 1999 the City and the District 

entered into a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) that formed the South County Fire 

Authority (SCFA). On the same date, SCFA contracted with the City to provide fire 

protection services within the jurisdictional boundaries of the newly created SCFA (City 

and District jurisdictional boundaries). The SCFA was formed to accomplish the 

following goals: 

• To improve fire protection services within the region through improved

efficiencies by the elimination of redundant administrative and operational

services.

- Page 6



• To limit the impact of annexations to the residents that live in the unincorporated

areas.

• To maintain the District ad valorem property tax allocation increment ( 11 % of

each property tax dollar) and the special fire tax (.03 per square foot) in areas

that are annexed into the City.

• To develop a regional model that could further improve efficiencies and service

levels by expanding and including other fire agencies in South San Joaquin

County.

These goals were partially achieved through the following administrative agreements 

between the City and the District: 

• Future City annexations would not detach from the District.

• All employees would work for the City and redundant administrative and

management staff would be eliminated through attrition which would increase

efficiencies and overall service levels.

• The City would provide administrative services (Human Resources,

Budget/Finance/Risk Management, and Legal) to SCFA.

• The City would fund any District financial shortfalls (with a Reimbursement

Agreement) until revenues increased to sustainable funding levels through the

annexation and development of land that would remain in the District.

• The City's City Manager would serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the JPA.

The SCFA governance was created with an initial limited scope, power, and authority. 

Two Tracy City Council Members and two District Board Members made up the SCFA 

Board of Directors. The role of the SCFA Board was limited due to the belief that the 

City was in a better position to provide services to the residents and property owners 

that were in the newly created agency and that the District lacked the resources to 

provide oversight to the new, larger organization. The SCFA Board was only required 

to meet once a year (it chose to meet quarterly), the new agency was prohibited from 

having employees and could not own property. 

Since the formation of the SCFA three things have occurred that have prompted a 

reevaluation of SCFA's current governance (JPA): 1) Tracy Rural Fire District's concern 

about Governance; 2) Concerns identified by the San Joaquin Local Agency Formation 

Commission's (LAFCO) 2011 Municipal Service Review (MSR); and 3) SCFA's inability 

to expand to include additional agencies to obtain improved service levels through 

greater efficiencies. This was realized through the recent decision by Mountain House 

to withdraw from contracting with SCFA. 

Page7 



TRACY RURAL FIRE DISTRICT GOVERNANCE CONCERNS (Driver 1) 

The primary driver for evaluating and implementing a new fire governance were the Fire 

District concerns with the previous model. These concerns led to the consideration of 

dissolving the JPA, which would result in a significant loss of tax revenues and service 

levels. The District Board was concerned that they did not have the desired authority 

over fire protection policies and did not participate in financial, administrative and 

operational policy development, as well as approval and implementation for fire 

protection programs within their District boundaries. Under the previous model, the 

District's Board authority was limited to budget approval and budget allocations for 

capital expenditures and maintenance of facilities within their District. Policy 

development, collective bargaining, personnel management, risk management, 

selection of a Fire Chief, and service level determinations were the responsibility of the 

City. The Chief Executive Officer for the JPA was the Tracy City Manager. This in turn 

impacted the District Board's ability to fulfill their fiduciary responsibilities to their 

constituents as elected officials of the District. 

These concerns were further exacerbated by an early recognition that the District would 

not initially have the financial resources to maintain current service levels under the 

JPA. This was primarily due to the increase in personnel costs to the District based on 

District employees becoming City employees with greater pay and benefits. The JPA 

included a provision that allowed the City to partially fund the District deficit until 

annexations (without detachment) occurred to the level that allowed the District to 

maintain service levels and to begin repaying the accrued debt to the City. Initially, 

based on assumed growth and annexation expectations it was estimated that the 

revenue deficit would last approximately 18 months. Due to the passing of a limited 

growth initiative and a downturn in the housing market, the District's revenue deficit 

lasted nine years and the debt to the City grew from $500,000 to in excess of $6 million. 

Another District concern was the previous cost allocation model. There have been six 

amendments to the JPA and the allocations have been blended with debt repayment 

and adding an additional fire company utilizing overtime (Supplemental Services 

Amendment). While the District agreed to each of the amendments as they were 

presented, the six amendments in their totality became convoluted and confusing and 

subject to discussion and debate. 

LAFCO GOVERNANCE CONCERNS {Driver 2) 

The second driver for governance evaluation was the San Joaquin Local Agency 

Formation Commission's (LAFCO) governance concerns. In 2011, LAFCO conducted a 

Fire Service Municipal Service Review (MSR) of the District and expressed concerns 

about property not detaching from the District when annexations occur. Their concerns 

Page 8 



were focused on two primary areas: 

1) A loss of revenue to the County due to their inability to impose a tax sharing

agreement (taking part of the ad valorem tax generated by TRFD) when

detachment does not occur.

2) A concern that the City is not providing full municipal services to its residents.

The City and the District were given until April 2013 (18 months from October 2011) to: 

"Complete a plan regarding the governance model for Tracy City Fire Department and 

TRFD within 18 months subject to the approval of LAFCO. All subsequent annexation 

requests shall be consistent with the approved plan." 

Fire Service Governance Oversight Committee 

To address LAFCO concerns, in January 2013 the Fire Department established a Fire 

Service Governance Oversight Committee that was tasked with evaluating different 

governance models. This committee was tasked with making a recommendation to 

both governing agencies (Tracy City Council and the Tracy Rural Fire District Board of 

Directors) and to LAFCO. The committee ultimately recommended that the current JPA 

be strengthened with a commitment to transition to a full standalone fire agency by: 

1) The City of Tracy annexing into the Tracy Rural Fire District or,

2) Further strengthening the JPA by creating a standalone agency with

employees and operational and administrative oversight by the JPA Board.

This recommendation and the two choices were presented to LAFCO in July 2013 in the 

form of a report. No action was taken by LAFCO during the July meeting but the 

Executive Officer of LAFCO provided the following concerns to the Commission: 

• Only focused on the alternatives selected by the committee.

• Needed to include a discussion of the alternatives which were rejected and for

what reasons.

• A fiscal analysis as to the impact on the County needs to be conducted.

• The alternative that includes a traditional detachment from the District needs to

be explored.

• A "move to full autonomy" is not possible under a Joint Powers Agreement.

• Report needs to explore the legal basis and process to relinquish fire service by

the City and the financial feasibility of such action.

• Need to address the precedent this may set for other fire districts.

At the August 2013 LAFCO meeting, the Commissioners debated on whether to accept 

the report and consider the LAFCO request met, or reject the report and provide the 

-- Page 9 



City and District another six months to address the concerns listed by the Executive 

Officer. On a split vote, and contrary to the Administrative Officer's recommendation for 

the City to detach from the District in future annexations, the Commission provided an 

additional six months for the City/District to address the concerns listed above. (Two 

Commissioners voted to accept the report, an action if adopted, would have resolved 

the issue). 

Management Partners Report 

In response to LAFCO's request, the City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for a 

consultant to help address LAFCO's concerns. The contract was awarded to 

Management Partners. Management Partners conducted a study that focused primarily 

on the financial implications of three governance scenarios: 1) No change; 2) 

Annexation with Detachment; 3) Annexation of the City of Tracy into the Tracy Rural 

Fire District. A synopsis of these scenarios is outlined below. 

Scenario 1: No change, annexation without detachment. This represents the 

current condition where all 12 areas annexed by the City since 1996 have been 

annexed by the City but not detached from the District. The report states there 

would be no financial implications for members of SCFA. 

The report identified Governance concerns that were similar to the concerns that 

LAFCO identified in the 2011 Municipal Service Review that was the nexus for 

the Management Partners Report: 1) JP A's are normally between two 

government agencies without overlapping boundaries for the common delivery of 

that service; 2) LAFCO "favors the provisions of services by a municipality over 

a single-service-district;" 3) Residents and property owners within the non

detached properties still have two separately-elected bodies accountable for and 

responsible for the delivery of fire protection services whose elected officials, in 

turn, make appointments to the SCFA Board of Directors. 

Scenario 2: Annexation with detachment. Based on the Management Partners 

assumptions, the following property tax impact is based on a 2012 property tax 

share agreement of 80% County and 20% City for property taxes the District 

currently receives and would be redistributed if the City detached from the District 

as identified in Table 1. 

Table 1-Annexation with detachment impact 

Agency 
County 
City 
District 

Scenario 1 
Current 

$1,927,890 
$580,838 
$986,181 

Page 

10 

Scenario 2 
Detachment 

$2,706256 
$788,652 

0 

Gain/Loss 

$778,367 
$207,814 

-$986, 181 



Source: Management Partners Report 

The Management Partner's report states that the governance concerns listed 

above would be addressed because there would no longer be an overlap and 

City residents and property owners would no longer be allowed to vote for or be 

represented by the Board of Directors of the District. 

Scenario 3: Annexation of the City of Tracy into the Tracy Rural Fire District. The 

Management Partner's report provided the following financial impacts (Table 2) 

based on the SCFA 2013/14 budget year: 

Table 2-Annexation of the City into the District impact 

District District City City 
Revenue Current Scenario 3 FY13/14 Scenario 3 

General Fund $9,052,090* $7,042,090 
Property Tax $3,745,000 $3,745,000 
Special Tax (.03) $1,007,518 $3,017,518 $2,010,000 

*City property tax, sales tax and other revenues

The Management Partner's Report also contended that Scenario 3 would 

address the governance concerns that were identified by LAFCO due to the 
elimination of multiple political entities and a potential reconstituted Director 

representation that included the City of Tracy. 

In July 2014, the Management Partner's report was submitted to the City Council, 
District's Board of Directors and LAFCO for review. A joint workshop between the City 
Council and the District's Board of Directors was scheduled in September to discuss the 
findings and the recommendations. Only two members of the District Board attended 

(no quorum) the workshop and the City Council voted to send the study to LAFCO 
without the recommendation or an implementation plan (LAFCO already had the report 

with the recommendations). 

At the October 9, 2014 LAFCO meeting, the LAFCO Executive Officer recommended 

that the report be returned to the City and to set a policy that all future annexations 

would require detachment. This recommendation was based on the lack of a 
recommendation from the City and the District and a lack of a plan for implementation of 

a new governance model. 

At the December 10, 2015 LAFCO meeting, City staff provided LAFCO with an update 
on the City and the District's progress towards providing the Commission with a 

governance recommendation and an implementation plan. LAFCO voted to provide the 
City and the District with additional time (six months) to address the governance 

concerns and to provide an implementation plan. 

_ Page 
11 



SCFA EXPANSION POTENTIAL (Driver 3) 

The third driver for the governance evaluation was to determine if a different model 

would be more conducive to expansion to include additional fire agencies. A year after 

the SCFA was formed, Mountain House Community Services District (MHCSD) 

contracted with the Tracy Rural Fire District to provide fire protection to the newly 

formed and evolving community on the eastern edge of San Joaquin County. The 

contract was between the two agencies through a negotiated agreement that occurred 

when MHCSD was being formed with an expectation that the new community would 

detach from the Tracy Rural Fire District (for flexibility with property taxes). The District 

agreed to the detachment if they were afforded the opportunity to provide fire protection 

to Mountain House and if they were granted title to the fire station that was built by the 

Mountain House developer. The agreement came to fruition after the SCFA was 

formed but was an independent contract with the District (SCFA or City of Tracy were 

not included). Because the District was then part of the SCFA, the City of Tracy actually 

provided the fire protection for MHCSD through the contract to provide fire protection to 

the SCF A. In 2015, Mountain House decided to issue a Request for Proposal (RFP) for 

fire protection due to the following expressed concerns: 

• They were not a member of the JPA and could not influence policy.

• They were paying for more than their pro-rata share of services.

• They wanted greater control over expenditures.

• They wanted their Fire Department to reflect their community identity.

After a contentious review and selection process, the Board of the MHCSD chose 

French Camp Fire District (almost 20 miles to the northeast) as their new Fire Protection 

contractor. Not having governance that allowed for Mountain House participation on the 

Board, not having the organizational dexterity and not having clearly defined roles and 

responsibilities (City Manager, Fire Chief, Tracy Rural Board, SCFA) limited the City, 

District and JPA's ability to effect productive negotiations that could have maintained the 

Mountain House contract. Rather than having governance that is designed to grow and 

become more efficient, the current governance actually had the inverse effect and was 

a root cause for the loss of efficiencies through the loss of a key stake-holder and fire 

protection partner. The new governance must provide the required representation from 

all member agencies and have the dexterity to react and address parent agency 

concerns to maintain organizational sustainability. 

ANNEXATION WITHOUT DETACHMENT AND TAX SHARING AGREEMENT 

One of the drivers for developing the original JPA was to allow City annexations to 

occur without detaching from the Fire District. Twelve annexations have occurred since 

the inception of the original JPA and all have included a non-detachment condition. The 

Page 

12 



primary driver for the City to migrate to an annexation-without-detachment model was 

the County's reluctance to negotiate a tax sharing agreement with a nexus for service 

level impacts on annexations. 

The current tax sharing agreement between the City and the County allows 85 percent 

of the local ad valorem property tax dollars to be allocated to the County and 15 percent 

to be allocated to the City. Areas that are annexed into the City have estimated service 

level impacts of 60 percent City (city police, fire, public works) and 40 percent County 

Uail, hospital, probations, public works, etc.). Requiring the City to detach from the Fire 

District would slightly increase City ad valorem property tax revenues (the City would 

receive 20% of Fire District tax allocation), but would require the City to provide fire 

protection to the new annexed areas at a cost significantly higher than the additional 

revenue allocations. 

Municipal annexations without detachment from Fire Districts actually create a more 

efficient fire protection system. The financial impact on the fire districts and the cities 

are positive due to the retention of the property tax dollars allocated for fire protection. 

Currently, the County has entered into tax sharing agreements with most San Joaquin 

cities. Annexation-without-detachment has a negative financial impact on the County 

due to their lack of opportunity to reallocate property tax dollars from Special Fire 

Districts. While the County would argue that the reallocation is needed to provide 

County services to the increased population incurred through annexation; that argument 

must be weighed against the need for efficient fire protection services throughout the 

County, as there is no County Fire Department nor does the County provide fire 

protection. Annexation without detachment from Fire Districts could be used as the 

model to create a more efficient fire protection model in the County which should be 

weighed against the reallocation of tax dollars to other County services and/or unfunded 

liabilities. If LAFCO required the Fire District detachment from the City in order to 

reallocate tax dollars to the County, that practice should be applied to all cities within the 

County. If not, annexed areas of Tracy would pay a disproportionate share for County 

services. If LAFCO is looking for consistency concerning detachments, all cities should 

be required to detach. 

There are three additional cities in San Joaquin County that do not detach from Fire 

Districts when annexations occur. Those same cities do not provide full municipal (fire 

protection) services to their cities (LAFCO MSR concerns about SCFA). The City of 

Escalon is protected by the Escalon Fire Protection District, the City of Ripon is 

protected by the Ripon Consolidated Fire District, and the City of Lathrop is protected by 

the Lathrop-Manteca Fire Protection District. 

Page 

13 



The reasons the three cities do not provide municipal fire services are the same 

reasons that the City of Tracy annexes without detachment from the Tracy Rural Fire 

District. Prior to Proposition 13, local taxing jurisdictions (Counties, Cities and Special 

Districts) annually approved a general tax rate. Proposition 13 (passed June 6, 1978) 

abolished local taxing jurisdiction's ability to set annual tax rates and limited the general 

tax rate to 1 %, and required the 1 % to be distributed amongst all jurisdictions that 

previously had authority to levy property taxes. Proposition 13 established that the 

State Legislature, rather than the local taxing jurisdictions, would have the power to 

determine how the 1% was divided. In 1979, Assembly Bill 8 (AB 8) was adopted and 

provided regulatory guidance for each County to allocate property taxes based on the 

share that each jurisdiction received the previous year. After the enactment of 

Proposition 13 and AB 8, a mechanism was needed to redistribute property tax 

allocations when annexations occurred. The Legislature added Section 99 to the 

Revenue and Taxation Code which requires a city, seeking to annex property, enter into 

a tax sharing agreement for the property taxes that are generated in the proposed 

annexed area. 

Prior to Proposition 13 and AB 8, the City of Escalon (Incorporated in 1957) and the City 

of Ripon (City and Fire District Consolidated in 1963) had too small of populations prior 

to the enacting of Proposition 13/AB 8 to support a municipal fire protection model. 

Post Proposition 13/ AB 8, the two cities would be required to enter into a tax sharing 

agreement with the County if they detached from the Fire Districts which would, in-turn, 

reallocate fire protection property tax revenues to the County. The second reason the 

cities would not create municipal fire protection services is due to the loss of efficiencies 

that are created by a single fire protection system providing services to a municipality 

and the surrounding unincorporated and rural areas. The same applies to the City of 

Lathrop, the key difference is the City of Lathrop incorporated post Proposition 13/AB 8. 

They realized early on that a detachment from the Lathrop-Manteca Fire District would 

be a loss in tax revenue (due to the required tax sharing agreement) in addition to being 

less efficient. It should also be noted that because the cities chose to remain in the Fire 

Districts, the cities are not providing full municipal services per LAFCO's MSR 

recommendation to SCFA. 

In 1999, the City of Tracy and the Tracy Rural Fire District recognized that Proposition 

13, AB 8 and Section 99 of the Revenue and Taxation Code's impact of annexation on 

fire protection to both agencies and developed a model that allowed tax dollars to 

remain in the communities and to operate as one agency which would optimize service 

levels to the residents and land owners within their respective jurisdictions. 

Other cities in the County that do provide full municipal services (Lodi, Manteca and 

Stockton) would benefit from annexation without detachment if they provided fire 

Page 

14 



protection services to the contiguous Fire Protection Districts that are in their sphere-of

influence growth paths. French Camp-McKinley, Montezuma, Woodbridge Fire 

Protection Districts and even Lathrop-Manteca Fire District (surrounds the City of 

Manteca) could be good candidates for annexation without detachment if fire protection 

services were combined. While the City of Stockton does provide contractual fire 

protection services to several contiguous Special Fire Districts listed below, (with some 

exceptions) they are primarily older established, urbanized unincorporated areas of 

Stockton without significant growth and/or annexation potential and probably would not 

benefit from annexation without detachment. This is primarily due to the limited tax 

base, resident/property owner preference and the other services Stockton would be 

required to provide to established areas that lack traditional municipal services. 

Stockton Contract Fire Agencies: 

Lincoln Fire Protection District 

Eastside Fire Protection District 

Tuxedo-County Club Fire Protection District 

Boggs Tract Fire Protection District 

GOVERNANCE OPTIONS 

The following governance options were evaluated: 

• Option 1-City of Tracy detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District

• Option 2-The City of Tracy annex into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District

• Option 3-Reconstitute and strengthen the current JPA

The goal was: 1) Identify and analyze governance models that would be expandable 

while maintaining or improving efficiencies 2) Protect the City's interest while addressing 

the governance concerns of the Fire District (also protecting their interest and 3) 

Address LAFCO's concerns. The following assumptions were utilized to develop a 

model to assess current and future growth revenues and expenditures under each 

governance option: 

Future property tax revenue assumptions were based on large entitled projects and 

other projects that have priority under the City's Residential Growth Ordinance (Table 

3). Table 4 identifies the assumptions that were used for size and price of residential 

units. Anticipated growth in the Northeast Industrial (NEI) and the International Park of 

Commerce projects were utilized to forecast industrial growth (Table 5) and known and 

anticipated commercial office (Table 6) and retail space (Table 7) were conservatively 

estimated to complete the assumptions. Table 8 identifies the assumptions that were 

used for price per square foot of commercial space. Future annexations of the Avenues 

Page 

15 



and Tracy Village were also included in the analysis based on an annexation with 

detachment and an annexation without detachment scenario. A conservative annual 

escalator of three percent was utilized to address economic growth. The following were 

the additional assumptions used to develop the model: 

• The current (2012) Tax Sharing Agreement between the County and the City

was used as an assumption for future annexations. The agreement includes

a property tax split 80% County and 20% City for annexed areas that detach

from the District. The agreement includes a property tax split of 85% for the

County and 15% for the City if the annexations do not detach from the

District.

• The actual property tax allocations for the City, County and District were

utilized for the analysis in the twelve annexations that have occurred since the

inception of the JPA.

• The Standards of Cover study that was completed in 2017 was utilized to 

determine the number of additional fire stations (and location) that will be

required in the next six years to address growth projections.

• The Standards of Cover Implementation Plan was utilized to determine when

new fire stations would be required to be built and staffed.

• The new JPA agreement that became effective on July 1, 2018 was used to 

determine which agency would own and staff future fire stations and the cost

allocations for each agency.

• The current three year labor agreements and CalPERS anticipated cost

increases were used as a basis to determine future labor costs.

Table 3-Housing assumptions 

RESIDENTIAL 2019 

Primrose 83 

Ellis 75 

Grantline 
210 

Apartments 
Tracy Hills 60 

Tracy Villaqe 
Rockinqhorse 
Ellissagary Infill 
Assisted Livinq 
Avenues 
Bright 
Infill 

Other Housinq 

Total Units 428 

2020 2021 

44 

65 

40 

406 

555 

62 

75 

406 

100 

36 

23 

50 

752 

Page 

16 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 

75 75 75 75 75 

300 300 200 200 200 

150 175 150 

50 50 50 50 50 

50 50 50 50 50 

50 50 50 50 50 

18 

15 15 

150 150 

693 715 575 575 590 



Table 4-Housing price and size assumptions 

Housing Element Average Square Feet Average Price 

Single Family Homes 2,697 $574,590 

Multi Family Homes 1,081 $112,567 

Table 5-Commercial assumptions-industrial (in million square feet) 

INDUSTRIAL 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Cordes Ranch 2.M 2M 2M 2M 2M 2M 2M 2M 
NEI 2.4M 1.8M 1.5M 1.5M .5M 
Scannell .2M 

Total Sq. Ft. 4.4M 4M 3.5M 3.5M 7M 2M 2M 2M 

Table 6-Commercial assumptions-retail (in thousand square feet) 

RETAIL 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
New Hotel 75K 120K 60K 70K 
Cordes Retail 10K 10K 10K 10K 10K 10K 10k 
Red Maple 

11K 11K 
Villaqe 
Tracy Hills Retail 5K 5K 5K 5K SK 

Total Sq Ft 86K 130K 81K 15K 85K 15K 15K 15K 

Table ?-Commercial assumptions-office (in thousand square feet) 

OFFICE 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Cordes Office 7.6k 20K 10K 10K 10K 10K 10K 
NEI - CHP 40K 10K 

Total Sq. Ft. 7.6K 60K 20K 10K 10K 10K 10K 

Table 8-Commercial price per square foot assumptions 

Commercial Element Price Per Square Foot 
Retail $250 
Office $200 
Industrial $125 

After a thorough analysis, it was determined that the best option would be to 

reconstitute and strengthen the current JPA (Option 3). This option was implemented 

on July 9, 2018. Below is an overview of the analysis of each option and the 

implementation process and status of the chosen option: 

Option 1-City of Tracy Detach from the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

The City could petition LAFCO to detach from the District. A process similar to an 

annexation would occur that would include a protest process that could potentially lead 

to a vote of property owners concerning detachment. If the detachment were 

___ Page 
17 

------



successful, the City would revert back to a traditional municipal fire agency and the 

District would revert back to a traditional Fire District. The City would gain complete 

control over funds collected from new development and the City would have complete 

control over fire protection service levels within its municipal boundaries. The District 

would have the same control and authorities within its jurisdictional district boundaries. 

The District would be required to rebuild its fire service administrative functions and hire 

personnel or contract for those services. 

Service Level Impacts (Option 1) 

Detachment would negatively impact the efficiencies that have been realized and 

the overall fire protection service levels in both the District and the rural 

community. Fire stations have been relocated to the periphery of the city to allow 

for adequate coverage and response times to areas within the city limits and 

areas outside of the city limits. Currently, the closest fire stations respond to 

emergencies regardless of jurisdictional boundaries, administrative staff is 

shared and the savings lead to specialized programs (paramedic, hazardous 

material response, and specialized rescue) and overall improved services. 

Theoretically, the City could contract with the District to provide fire services to 

the District's area. Many of the District's concerns would remain. As indicated 

below in the financial analysis, there would be a significant reduction in revenues 

(for overall fire protections) and therefore additional revenues would have to be 

realized or there would be a service level reduction. 

Fiscal Impacts (Option 1): 

The fiscal analysis assumed the existing County and City Tax Sharing 

Agreement (80% County 20% City) would apply when dividing District revenues 

after detachment. The City's 20 percent allocation would not cover the cost of 

providing fire protection in the area that would detach from the District. In the 

first year (FY 2019/20), there would be a $3,044,021 shortfall that would require 

the City to utilize general operating funds. To keep the same service levels, the 

City would be required to increase General Fund expenditures annually in FY 

2026/27 by $8,640,314 with a cumulative General Fund augmentation of 

$50,080,296 through FY 2026/27. During the same time frame, County revenues 

would increase $2,592,421 in FY 2019/20 and continue to increase to 

$7,165,906 in FY 2026/27 with a cumulative increased allocation of $40,773,395. 

During the time frame, the District would lose $51,707,830 in revenues but would 

no longer be required to provide fire protection in the areas that were annexed 

and not detached. The District's special tax (.03 cents per sq. ft.) would be 

Page 

18 



discontinued within the City boundaries and would create a cumulative revenue 

loss of $10,934,434 through FY 2026/27 (Table 9). 

A representative from LAFCO has suggested that the shortfall could be reduced 

through the formation of one or more Community Facilities Districts (Mello Roos). 

This strategy would be problematic for the City. Eighty to ninety percent of the 

building that will occur in the City over the next 10-15 years has already been 

entitled under development agreements. Retrospectively negotiating and 

creating Community Facilities District for entitled properties with Development 

Agreements would be extremely difficult and not recommended. 

Table 9-0ption 1-City Detach from the District 

Cumulative 
Gain/Loss Gain/Loss Loss/Gain 

Agency Revenue In FY 2019/20 In FY 2026/27 2019/20 Thru 
2026/27 

County $2,529,421 $7,165,906 $40,773,395 
City $733,007 $2,873,376 $15,153,052 
District Ad Valorem -$3,262,428 -$10,039,282 -$55,926,447 
District Special Assessment -$775,768 -$1, 733,290 -$10,934,434 
City General Fund Shortfall -$3,044,021 -$8,640,314 -$50,080,296 

*District .03 per sq. ft. tax would be eliminated in the City area if the City detached from
the District

Option 2-The City of Tracy Annex into the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

The City of Tracy could fully annex into the Tracy Rural Fire District. There would be 

one governing body that would include members from throughout the City and the 

District area. The expanded District could include other special districts and cities to 

gain additional efficiencies. There would be a dedicated revenue stream to support fire 

protection. There would be a single agency (governance) responsible for fire protection 

which would address LAFCO's concern. The City would have very limited, if any, 

influence over fire protection within its municipal boundaries. 

The process would be for the District to petition LAFCO for inclusion of the remainder of 

the City into the District and the Tracy City Council would pass a resolution supporting 

(or opposing) the annexation. If the City Council opposed the annexation, the 

annexation would not move forward. As part of the application process, the District 

would be required to develop and submit a service plan (how they plan to provide 

service to the rest of the city). A CEQA study may also be required. After the 

application is accepted, the City, County and District would have a 60-day negotiation 

Page 

19 



period to determine how the current City property taxes would be split between the 

District, City and the County. The City currently receives, on the average, 12.5% of 

each property tax dollar to support the City's General Fund programs. The current 

annexation tax sharing agreement between the City and the County would not apply, 

because the City is being annexed, not annexing an area. If the application is accepted 

and the property tax agreement is reached, LAFCO would consider and approve, 

conditionally approve, or deny the application. If approved or conditionally approved, 

then a protest hearing would be held. If 25% of the registered voters in the proposed 

annexed area sign a petition, the annexation must go to a vote. If 50% of the registered 

parties within the proposed annexation area sign a petition the annexation will be 

denied. 

Based on case law, (Citizen's Association of Sunset Beach v. Orange County LAFCO 

and City of Huntington Beach), and confirmed by the City Attorney, the current special 

tax assessment of .03 per square foot would apply to the newly annexed City areas 

without voter approval. On July 1, 2016, the City of San Bernardino chose to be 

annexed into the San Bernardino County Fire District. The City of San Bernardino was 

in bankruptcy and they were able to maintain and slightly improve fire protection 

services within their municipality and save between $7-8 million annually. The savings 

are due to the elimination of duplicative overhead services and the overlaying of a 

special County Fire District tax ($148 per parcel) to property owners of the City of San 

Bernardino. The City mailed a flyer to each property owner that explained the tax would 

be overlaid on the City property owners and outlined the appeals process (25% of 

property owners sign a petition). A petition was circulated but failed to gain the required 

25% and the annexation was approved. 

Service Level Impacts (Option 2) 

If the City of Tracy annexed into the Rural Fire District, levels could remain 

unchanged and could become more "consistent" due to the guaranteed revenue 

streams. Currently, the City still prioritizes funding for each City program (Fire, 

Police, Parks and Public Works) based on political and public preference. 

Annexing into the District would remove that option for fire protection to compete 

for funding against other City priorities. Property tax dollars would go to the 

District which could lead to more "consistent" and standardized service levels. 

Fiscal Impacts (Option 2) 

The analysis indicates the District's special tax would generate approximately 

$2,096,679 in additional taxes in the annexed area. The Management Partners 

Report assumed that the County and the District would agree to a property tax 

Page 

20 



sharing agreement that would allow the City to remain whole (at previous fire 

protection funding levels) and to allocate the additional revenue from the special 

tax to the County. Based on this assumption, the County would receive 

$2,096,679 in revenue. The City, District and County have not negotiated a tax 

sharing agreement and therefore the fiscal impact is speculative. 

The District's revenues would remain whole in the areas that have been annexed 

and not detached and therefore, based upon the fiscal analysis that is provided in 

Option 3, revenues would be available to support growth in Option 2 (Table 10). 

Table 10-Option 2-City Annex into the District 

2018/19 2018/19 City Special Tax District Total 
District General Applied to After 

Revenue Revenues Fund/New Core City Annexation 
Special Tax Annexation 

City General Fund $13,802,254 $13,802,254 
District Property Tax $5,658,746 $ 5,658,746 
District Special Tax $1,292,844 $2,096,679 $ 3,389,523 

Total $6,951,591 $13,802,254 $2,096,679 $22,850,523 

The real challenge with this model for the City of Tracy would be the increased property 

tax (.03 per sq. ft.) revenues in the core city that would be assessed without requiring a 

vote of the tax payers. San Bernardino was successful because they were in 

bankruptcy. If the County allowed the City to retain the additional revenues through a 

tax sharing agreement, there would still be a new tax, without a vote, applied to 

approximately 35,000 homes and businesses that are not currently in the District. 

The additional challenge would be the City's willingness to give up control of fire 

protection and 63% ($13.8 Million of $22 Million) of property taxes. Under the JPA, the 

City Council continues to have significant authority over fiscal resources and service 

level determinations for fire protection within the core city that remains outside of the 

District. 

This would assume that the County would allow all current allocated property taxes to 

remain in the City. Based upon current and previous tax exchange negotiated 

agreements with the County, it would be unlikely that the County would not require 

some of the taxes to be allocated to the County. The Management Partners Report 

assumed that the County would require the additional revenues that would be created 

from the special assessment ($2,096,679) be allocated to the County. 

Page 

21 



Option 3-Reconstitute and Strengthen the Current JPA 

The original South County Fire Authority was created through a Joint Powers 

Agreement (JPA) between the District and the City that was in effect from January 1999 

through June 30, 2018. The JPA was the legal mechanism used to form the South 

County Fire Authority (SCFA). The previous model limited the District Board's 

authorities and made them dependent upon the City to provide administrative and 

operational services to the District. The four-person Board (2 City Council Members 

and 2 District Board Members) met quarterly with limited agenda items to consider due 

to a governance limitation of the JPA agreement. 

After evaluation of each model, staff determined that it would be in the best interest of 

the City of Tracy and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District to recommend to the City 

Council and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District Board to reconstitute and strengthen 

the current JPA. This recommendation was based on the following: 

• The model only requires the approval of the two governing bodies (and the

Secretary of State).

• The model provides the City with continued control over the City's budget and

service levels in the core City areas.

• The model ensures the long term fiscal sustainability of the District.

• The model addressed the District's concern over a lack of authority over financial

and administrative policies that impact fire protection within their jurisdiction.

• The model protects fire protection revenues from being reallocated from the

District to the County.

• This model is reversible. At a later date, the Council could decide to operate a

municipal fire department and the District could return to providing services as a

Fire District.

• The JPA Board will have the authority to negotiate fire protection impacts with

developers. This can be done through the City, but having an independent fire

agency at the table always benefits the local government agency.

• There will be no confusion over who is the Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for

fire protection matters. Fire protection authorities have been delegated to the

JPA by both member agencies.

• This model is expandable. Other agencies could join and increase efficiencies

which results in lower costs to the City. The Lathrop-Manteca Fire District and

Mountain House Community Services District have expressed an interest in

joining the newly formed JPA.

Page 

22 



• The new JPA eliminates additional agreements and amendments that were

adopted under the previous JPA. The amendments were difficult to interpret,

implement and track. The Smoothing Agreement, the Pre-Paid Service

Agreement (Amendment 4 and 6), and the Supplemental Services Agreement

(Amendment 3) have all been eliminated and replaced with an intuitive, fair and

equitable cost allocation model.

• The new JPA attempted to address LAFCO concerns.

• The phased approach allows the new JPA to pursue additional model elements

or to migrate to a full fire district.

On February 20, 2018, the Tracy City Council approved the formation of the South San 

Joaquin County Fire Authority with an effective date of July 1, 2018 (Attachment A). At 

the same meeting, the Tracy City Council approved a Dissolution Agreement between 

the City and the District that dissolved the South County Fire Authority effective July 1, 

2018 (Attachment 8). 

One of the primary drivers of the creation of the JPA was the strategy for the City to not 

detach from the District when annexations occurred. This allowed the areas that were 

annexed by the City to maintain the District taxing authorities at their current levels in 

perpetuity. The annexation without detachment creates three distinctive areas within 

SCFA. Figure 1 illustrates the core City area (yellow) the District area grey, and the 

overlapping zone that is the area of the City that has been annexed without detachment 

from the District (salmon). 

Page 

23 
---------



Figure 1-Map of South County Fire Authority 

--�-
-

..._. 
_,_, 

. -··-
Cl) _T .. -a1•-1n 

. ,_ __

:::: cm-,..-

. ·. 

- � .. - -i
'

SOUTH COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY 

N 

A 

Operationally, the creation of SCFA has been extremely successful. By combining the 

two agencies there are more resources during emergencies, better training, better 

equipment and new stations have been located in areas that efficiently serve the 

District, the overlapping jurisdiction, and the City. There is a shared administration that 

has the capacity to provide the required leadership, management, and supervision of 

SCFA eliminating duplicative positions and provided efficiencies through economies-of

scale. Both agencies share a Fire Prevention Bureau, and the larger organization has 

the capacity to provide specialized services such as hazardous material response, 

specialized rescue programs, and a dedicated ladder truck company. The closest fire 

engine(s) always respond to the emergencies and the overall savings that occurred 

through shared overhead has enabled the SCFA to provide life-saving paramedic 

services to the City and the rural communities. 

The new JPA is a semi-autonomous agency that utilizes one of the member agencies 

as the "employer of record." Because the City of Tracy was the current employer of all 

Page 

24 



SCFA personnel, the agreement is to maintain the City of Tracy as the employer of 

record until the new JPA is in a position to consider transitioning all employees to the 

new JPA. This will require a new CalPERS account, labor agreements, and personnel 

policies and procedures. 

Maintain or Improve Service Levels (Option 3) 

The new JPA allows for sustainability and potential enhancement of future 

service levels through potential expansion to other agencies that would create 

increased economies of scale. The new JPA also utilized the Standards of 

Cover Study that was completed by CityGate in 2017 as a basis to ensure 

services levels were maintained through the relocation and continued staffing of 

two current fire stations, and the building and staffing of two additional fire 

stations. Fire station funding, ownership, staffing, and timing is 

discussed/addressed later in this section. 

Fiscal Impacts (Option 3) 

Initially, after SCFA was created, the District experienced revenue shortfalls that 

required the City to fund a portion of their annual operating expenses that were 

attributed to the District. With recent growth in the undetached areas, the District 

is no longer operating under a structural deficit and has repaid or settled previous 

debts to the City. 

In 2015, Susan Goodwin Consulting Group Inc. conducted a comprehensive 

study concerning the financial impact of growth on Tracy's public safety 

organizations including Fire, Police, and Public Works. The analysis was based 

on an annexation without detachment model that anticipated residential, 

commercial, and industrial growth over the next 13 years. In 2017, staff updated 

the analysis and scaled back the number of years to seven. The analysis was 

further updated in December 2018 to reflect updated growth assumptions that 

were identified earlier in this report. The analysis was updated utilizing the 

growth assumptions and the Standards of Cover Study that identified the need 

for additional three-person fire companies in 2021 (Station 99-Ellis project), a 

three-person fire company in 2023 (Station 95-Tracy Hills) and a third three

person company in 2026 (second truck company located in International Park of 

Commerce fire station). The analysis determined that the District will be able to 

fund the three additional companies while maintaining significant reserves (Table 

11 ). The analysis indicates that the District will maintain $2-$6 million in reserves 

based upon growth projections and timing of additional companies. This estimate 

does not include current reserves that are in excess of $3 million. The analysis 

Page 

25 



also showed the City's costs would actually stabilize over the seven-year period 

due the requirement under the JPA's cost allocation formula that the District pay 

a greater share of the overhead as additional companies are added in the District 

areas (Table 12). If the growth assumptions are not met, the District has 

indicated that they will only fund fire protection based on revenues that are 

generated by the project that requires fire protection and the initiation of 

additional fire companies would be delayed. 

In 2017, staff updated the assumption with growth data and scaled back the term 

of the analysis to seven years. Another potential financial concern under the 

current model would be a LAFCO decision to not allow future annexations 

without detachment. While there would be some financial impact, the impact 

would be limited because annexations have already occurred for most of the 

growth that is anticipated over the next 13 years. There are only two future 

annexations that were included in the fiscal analysis of future projects that would 

be annexed without detaching from the District. The Avenues with 250 homes 

and Tracy Village with 575 homes. The impact of detaching these future 

residential annexations and the impact of detaching future commercial 

annexations are identified in Table 13. Reallocations of the projected revenues 

to the County and the City could delay the opening of future fire stations and 

impact service levels. However, future impacts outside of this seven year forecast 

would be significant if these and future annexations included detachment from the 
District. 

Page 

26 



Table 11-0ption 3-Tracy Rural Fire District Projected Annual Revenues and Expenditures 

FY 20181 FY 20191 FY 20201 FY 20211 FY 20221 FY 20231 FY 20241 FY 20251 FY 20261 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

Tax Revenue $6,951,590.00 $7,160,137.70 $7,374,941.83 $7,596,190.09 $7,824,075.79 $8,058,798.06 $8,300,562.00 $8,549,578.86 $8,806,066.23 
Investment Earnings $40,000.00 $41,200.00 $42,436.00 $43,709.08 $45,020.35 $46,370.96 $47,762.09 $49,194.95 $50,670.80 

Rental Income $33,600.00 $34,608.00 $35,646.24 $36,715.63 $37,817.10 $38,951.61 $40,120.16 $41,323.76 $42,563.47 
Miscellaneous Income $95,391.63 $98,253.38 $101,200.98 $104,237.01 $107,364.12 $110,585.04 $113,902.59 $117,319.67 $120,839.26 

Total Exislir1!J. Revenue F, 120,581.63 i7,334, 199.08 i1,554,225.05 $7.780,851.80 �.014,277.36 �.254.705.68 �.502,346.85 �.757,417.25 19,020,139.77 
Additional Revenue Projected from Growth $ 1,300,914.74 $ 2,413,765.83 $ 3,564,118.33 $ 4,648,036.09 $ 5,728,737.63 $ 6,639,258.64 $ 7,586,356.33 $ 8,571,184.77 
Total Projected TRFD $7,120,581.63 $8,635, 113.82 $9,967,990.88 
JPA Projected Operating ($5,367,543.16) ($6, 130.171.85) ($6,314.077.01) 
Non.JPA TRFD Supression ($166,118.80) ($171.102.36) ($176,235.43) 
Other TRFD Operating ($986.129.00) ($750 17366) ($772.678 87' 
Annual Su[!!lus /(Deficit} i6oo,790.67 i1,583,665.94 i2,704,999.56 
Cumulative Surplus $600,790.67 $2,184,456.61 $4,889,456.17 

Table 12-0ption 3-JPA Projected Annual Expenditures 
-

Fire Suppression 
/idm inistration 

Community Risk Reduction 
Training 

Replacement Equipment 
Subtotal Expenses 

Community Risk Reduction 
Existing Staffflng Net Operating 

New Staffing/Operating Costs to 

Total Estimated JPA 
City Responsibility(% Cost 

City Of Tracy Cost Allocation

TRFD Responsibility(% Cost 
TRFD JPA Cost Allocation

$ 

$ 

FY 20181 

2019 

$17,509,580.00 
$727,133.00 

$1,405,228.00 
$408,956.00 
$161,900.00 

$20,212,797.00 

($1,043.000.00) 
$19,169,797.00 

$0.00 
$19,169,797.00 

72% 
13,802,254 $ 

28% 
5,367,543 $ 

FY 2019/ FY 20201 

2020 2021 
$18,034,867.40 $18,575,913.42 

$748,946.99 $771,415.40 
$1,447,384.84 $1,490,806.39 

$421,224.68 $433,861.42 
$166,757.00 $171,759.71 

$20,819,180.91 $21,443,756.34 

($1,074,290.00) ($1,106,518.70) 
$21,893,470.91 $22,550,275.04 

$0.00 $0.00 
$21,893,470.91 $22,550,275.04 

72% 72% 
15,763,299 $ 16,236,198 $ 

28% 28% 
6,130,172 $ 6,314,077 $ 

$11,344,970.13 $12,662,313.45 $13,983,443.31 $15,141,605.48 $16,343, TT3.58 $17,591,324.54 
($9,450,638.87) ($12.440,854.55) ($12,814,080.19) ($13198,502.59) ($16,405.160.02) ($16,897,314.82) 

($181,522.50) ($186,968.17) ($192,577.22) ($198,354.53) ($204,305.17) ($210.434.33) 
($795.859.24) ($819 735.01) ($844,327.06) ($869,656.88) ($895.746.58) ($922,618.98) 
i916,949.53 (F85,244.29l i132,458.83 �75,091.48 (i1,161,438.19} (H39,043.59l 

$5,806,405.70 $5,021,161.41 $5,153,620.25 $6,028,711.73 $4,867,273.54 $4,428,229.95 

FY 20211 FY 20221 FY 20231 FY 20241 FY 20251 FY 20261 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

$19,133,190.82 $19,707,186.55 $20,298,402.15 $20,907,35411 $21,534,574.84 $22,180,612.08 
$794,557.86 $818,394.60 $842,946.44 $868,234.83 $894,281.87 $921,110.33 

$1,535,530.58 $1,581,596.49 $1,629,044.39 $1,677,915.72 $1,728,253.19 $1,780,100.79 
$446,877.26 $460,283.58 $474,092.09 $488,314.85 $502,964.30 $518,053.23 
$176,912.50 $182,219.88 $187,686.47 $193,317.07 $199,116.58 $205,090.08 

$22,087,069.03 $22,749,681.10 $23,432,171.53 $24,135,136.68 $24,859,190.78 $25,604,966.50 

($1.139.714.26) ($1,173,905.69) ($1.209.122.86) ($1,245.396.55) ($1,282,758.44) ($1,321,241.19) 
$23,226,783.29 $23,923,586.79 $24,641,294.39 $25,380,533.22 $26,141,949.22 $26,926,207.70 

$1,974,920.37 $4,068,335.96 $4,190,386.04 $4,316,097.62 $6,668,370.82 $6,868,421.94 
$25,201,703.66 $27,991,922.74 $28,831,680.43 $29,698,630.84 $32,810,320.tu $33,794,629.64 

62.5% 56% 56% 56% :,O'flf 50o/c 
15,751,065 $ 15,551,068 $ 16,017,600 $ 16,498,128 $ 16,405,160 $ 16,897,315 

37.5% 44% 44% 44% 50%1 50o/c 
9,450,639 $ 12,440,855 $ 12,814,080 $ 13,198,503 $ 16,405,160 $ 16,897,315 



Table 13-Option 3-Future annual fiscal impacts of annexations with detachment 

*Future fiscal *Future fiscal *Fiscal Impact-

impact-Per 1 impact-Per100 Tracy Village and 

million square single family The Avenues 

Agency 
feet of detached homes 

commercial (825 homes) 

District Property Tax -$131,578 -$60,375 -$498,094 

District Special Tax -$30,000 -$8,092 -$66,759 

City Allocation $43,652 $20,105 $165,866 

County Allocation $87,926 $40,270 $332,227 

*Future annual fiscal impacts at 2019 tax rates

Fire Station Funding/Staffing and Ownership 

The City has the ability to collect Development Impact Fees, enter into 

Development Agreements (with conditions) and form Community Facilities 

Districts to fund infrastructure, services and public facilities. The statutory 

limitations of the Fire District is limited to the collection of development impact 

fees and to impose voter approved special taxes (requires 66% approval) within 

their jurisdictional boundary. Therefore, as part of the new JPA, it was 

determined that the City would fund fire stations through the City's Public Safety 

Facilities Master Plan that imposes Public Safety Facility Fees for new 

development. Because the District has maintained their taxing authority in the 

portions of the City that annexed but did not detach, as development occurs, the 

District will have the funding to staff the stations. The new JPA codified the 

funding and ownership of new fire stations. Construction of new fire stations in 

City limits that are within the District boundaries will be funded by the City and 

owned by the District. 

Station 94 (/PC) 
Station 94 is a pre-existing station located at W. Schulte Road owned and 

operated by the Rural District that will be relocated north of its current 

location to optimally serve the Prologis International Park of Commerce 

(IPC) and the Patterson Pass Business Park under the new standards of 

coverage contained in the Study. Prologis has agreed to advance their 

payment of Public Safety Fees for this project of $4.25M. The estimated 

total cost of construction is $5M. The difference between the fees and 

construction costs should come from contributions from the Rural District 

Page 
28 



related to the prior coverage assumption of the existing fire station. 

Design and construction is estimated to start in 2019 and is expected to 

take two years to complete. The existing Station 94 will remain open 

during this period. Once open, the apparatus and equipment from the 

existing station would move over from the current station. The Fire Station 

will be owned by the Rural District with a stipulation that the ownership of 

the station will revert back to the City if the District detached from the City. 

Station 95 (Tracy Hills) 

Station 95 is a new station located within Tracy Hills north of 1-580 that will 

be owned and funded by the District. This station will cover the south 

developing area of the City. Tracy Hills will advance $5.5M of their Master 

Plan Safety Fees to design and construct the building. The total cost of 

Station 95 is estimated at $6.6M, which includes the purchase of new 

apparatus and equipment for this station. The purchase of the apparatus 

will be funded through an advance (loan) from the City's Equipment Fund 

and repaid from future Master Plan Public Safety Fees from development. 

Design of Station 95 has been completed and is under review. 

Construction is estimated to start in 2021 and is expected to take one year 

to complete. 

Station 97 (Va/pico) 

Station 97 is a preexisting station located on Central Avenue, but is 

planned to be relocated along Valpico Road, southeast of its current 

location. It will be owned and funded by the City. The relocation of Station 

97 will better serve development to the south as well as existing rural 

areas currently within the Rural Fire District. The City has collected $4.SM 

in Public Safety Fees from various core areas of the City. The estimated 

total cost of land and construction is $5.SM. The difference between the 

fees and construction costs will come from contributions from the City's 

General Fund related to the prior coverage assumption of the existing fire 

station. Design and construction is estimated to start in 2019 and is 

expected to take two years to complete. The existing Station 97 will 

remain open during this period. Once open, the apparatus and equipment 

from the existing station would move over from the current station. Staff 

has considered the sale of the existing station as part of the City's 

contribution to funding Station 97. 

Page 

29 



Station 99 (El/is/Avenues at Va/pico) 

Station 99 is a new station located near Ellis and the proposed 

development of the Avenues that will be owned and funded by the District. 

This station will cover the middle developing area of the City's sphere of 

influence, west of Coral Hollow and east of Lammers Road. The total cost 

of Station 95 is estimated at $6.6M, which includes the purchase of new 

apparatus and equipment for this station. The City has entered into an 

agreement for the developer of Ellis and Avenues to advance $3.2M in 

Public Safety fees and the remaining fees will be collected from various 

developments located within the geographical area of coverage under a 

long horizon period. The purchase of the apparatus will be funded by the 

District. Design and construction is estimated to start in 2019 and is 

expected to take two years to complete. 

Page 

30 



Table 14-Model Implementation Plan Status 

Task 
Date 

Completed 

Approval of Dissolution 
Agreement of former SCFA 

*Resolved debt between
City/District 

*Addressed Fire Station
ownership concerns 

*Addressed unfunded
liabilities 2/20/2018 

Adoption of SSJCFA JPA 
Agreement: 2/20/2018 

*Establish Fire Chief as CEO

*Designate all fire protection
responsibilities to SSJCFA

*Operate under powers of a
Special Fire District 

*Implement streamlined cost
allocation 

Designate Two Board 
Members from each member 
aqency 2/20/2018 

File JPA Agreement with 
Secretary of State 3/21/2018 

Establish Meeting 
Dates/Times for SSJCFA 
Board of Directors 4/24/2018 

Assign Existing Contracts 
from SCFA to SSJCFA 4/24/2018 

Appoint a Board Clerk for the 
SSJCFA 4/24/2018 

Procure Financial 
Management Software 
Contract 5/9/2018 

Obtain Federal Employer 
Identification Number (EIN) 
with Internal Revenue Service 6/11/2018 

Adopt SSJCFA Personnel 
Aqreement 6/13/2018 

_______ Page 

31 

Expected Mechanism of 
Completion Completion 

City Council & Rural 
Board Resolution 

City Council & Rural 
Board Resolution 

City Council & Rural 
Board Appointment 

Returned 
Acknowledgement 
from SOS 

SSJCFA Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

Ao□lication to IRS 

City Council & 
SSJCFA Board 
Resolution 

-------- -



Task 

Select Financial Institution 
(Bank) 

Adopt Purchasing & 
Contracting Ordinance of the 
SSJCFA 

Adopt Finance Policy of 
SSJCFA 

Hire Independent Legal 
Counsel for SSJCFA 
Adopt Conflict of Interest 
Policy 

Approve Dispatching Services 
JPA (SJCRFDA) 

Approve Employment 
Agreement for Fire Chief 

Adopt 1st Amendment to 
Personnel Agreement to allow 
Fire Chief to serve at the will 
of the SSJCFA Board 

Fire Station funding, staffing 
and sequencing plan 

Submit Employer 
Questionnaire Application to 
CalPERS (step for 
SSJCFA to become employer 
of record) 

Appoint Independent 
Treasurer/Controller 

Procure Independent Public 
Accountant (Auditor) 

Establish Lease Agreements 
for SSJCFA use of member 
agency Facilities 

Establish Revised Fee 
Structure for Fire Prevention 
Services 

Establish SSJCFA as 
Employer of Record 

Date 
Completed 

6/13/2018 

6/13/2018 

6/13/2018 

7/20/2018 

9/12/2018 

11/14/2018 

11/14/2018 

11/14/2018 

11/16/2018 

Page 

32 

Expected 
Completion 

2/1/2019 

2/20/2019 

5/1/2019 

6/1/2019 

6/30/2019 

2/1/2020 

Mechanism of 
Completion 

SSJCF A Resolution 

SSJCFA Ordinance 

SSJCF A Resolution 

SSJCF A Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

SSJCFA Resolution 

City Council & 
SSJCFA Board 
Resolution 

Staff Submittal 

SSJCF A Resolution 

Staff Selection 

Staff Development / 
Council and Board 
Approvals 

SSJCFA Resolution 

Governing 
Bodies/Labor Unions 



Status of LAFCO Concerns 

Initially, the governance discussion and evaluation was driven by LAFCO's 2011 MSR 

that had the following concerns with the current governance: 

1) A loss of revenue to the County due to their inability to impose a tax sharing

agreement (taking part of the ad valorem tax generated by TRFD) when

detachment does not occur.

2) A concern that the City is not providing full municipal services to its residents.

LAFCO's concern about "a loss of revenue to the County due to a loss of opportunity for 

the County to redistribute (to itself) ad valorem property taxes" does not fall within 

LAFCO's purview. The same applies for their second concern, requiring a General Law 

municipality to provide full municipal services (fire protection) to its residents is 

something that does not fall within their purpose, authority, or purview. With that said, 

LAFCO does have the authority to require detachment from Special Districts when 

annexations occur, but they should need to have different "findings" under their authority 

to pursue such a policy. 

Management Partner's report failed (at the City's request) to recommend an option to 

develop an Implementation Plan which appears to be a primary reason the report was 

rejected by LAFCO. LAFCO's Executive Officer has indicated that he will continue to 

pursue a resolution to the concern based on his previous direction from the 

Commission. Based on that perspective, and the concern the City may be forced to 

detach from the District in future annexations, it is important that this matter is resolved 

with LAFCO. 

When LAFCO rejected the report that was developed and presented by the Fire Service 

Governance Oversight Committee in 2013, the LAFCO Executive Officer listed the 

following concerns (Table 15) when recommending rejection of the report: 

--

_ Page 
33 



Table 15-LAFCO Concern Status 

LAFCO Concern Status 

Only focused on the The Management Partners report provided a comprehensive 
alternatives selected by analysis of three scenarios that are viable governance options 
the committee for SCFA. 

This report provides further analysis with updated financial 
impacts for each scenario. 

Needed to include a The Management Partners report provided a strong analysis 
discussion of the of each of the three options. None of the options (scenarios) 
alternatives which were were actually rejected by the Management Partners' report 
rejected and for what due to the actual viability of each option. 
reasons 

Further analysis of each option is provided in this report. 
A fiscal analysis as to The fiscal analysis on the County impact was completed by 
the impact on the the subsequent Management Partners report. 
County needs to be 
conducted Further analysis of each option is provided in this report. 
The alternative that The alternative of a traditional detachment was completed by 
includes a traditional the subsequent Management Partners report. 
detachment from the 
district needs to be 
explored Further analysis of that option is provided in this report. 
A "move to full A standalone JPA is a JPA that functions as a "separate 
autonomy" is not entity", issue bonds, provide personnel, personnel 
possible under a Joint management, and administrative, legal and financial services. 
Powers Agreement There are many examples of "separate entity" JPA's including 

the Orange County Fire Authority with 71 fire stations in 23 
cities. JPA that function as separate entities are allowed 
under California's Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Government 
Code Section 6500-6538) 

Report needs to explore California's Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Government Code 
the legal basis and Section 6500-6538). City Attorney could not identify any legal 
process to relinquish fire prohibition from the chosen model. 
service by the City and 
the financial feasibility of 
such action 
Need to address the See discussion in this Chapter on page 19-20 of this report. 
precedent this may set 
for other Fire Districts 

LAFCO's most compelling argument against the previous governance was the potential 

confusion that was created for residents and homeowners in the overlapping areas that 

were annexed without detaching due to their inclusion in both City government 

Page 

34 



representation and District government representation. Although cities that are fully 

embedded in Special Fire Districts have the potential for similar governance confusion, 

the SCFA model is exacerbated because a portion of the city is in the Fire District and a 

portion of the city is not in the Fire District. Because the current JPA model was 

developed as a limited scope model and both the City and the District continue to make 

decisions that impact fire protection in their respective and overlapping jurisdictions, a 

change was needed to codify the fire protection responsibilities. Because the City and 

the District have delegated full responsibility for fire protection to the new JPA, the new 

model provides a clear pathway for residents and property owners to identify and 

access appointed or elected public officials (Fire Chief and JPA Board Members) that 

have the responsibility and authority to set policy and to provide oversight to fire 

protection services within their community. 

REFERENCES 

Shannon, Davis & Associates (1997). Fire Service Consolidation Assessment for the 

City of Tracy and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 

City of Tracy (2013). Fire Governance Implementation Plan 

Management Partners (2014 ). City of Tracy Alternative Fire Governance Structures 

Goodwin Consulting Group (2016). Citywide New Development Impact Analysis 

Anticipated New Development through FY 2029-2030 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A - Joint Powers Agreement of the South San Joaquin County Fire 

Authority 

Attachment B - South County Fire Authority Dissolution Agreement between City 

of Tracy and Tracy Rural Fire District 

___ Page 
35 



(_ 

(_ 

JOINT POWERS AGREEMENT OF THE SOUTH 
SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY 

ATTACHMENT A 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into on this� day of f"clx, icl'-4 2018, by.and between
the City of Tracy, a municipal corporation ("City'') and the Tracy Rural Fire Protection District, a 
Fire Protection District ("District"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 1. Division 7, Chapter 5 of the Government Code of the State 
of California the City and District ('1nitial Member Agencies") previously entered into an 
agreement for the joint exercise of any power common to them; and 

WHEREAS, the Initial Member Agencies desire to enter this Agreement to exercise the 
power to provide fire protection services within their jurisdictions under a new joint powers 

. authority (hereinafter "the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority" or "Authority"); and 

WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions by which they will exercise 
their powers for the purpose of improving the provision of fire service with the Authority's 
jurisdiction. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual advantages to be derived .. 
therefrom and in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, it is agreed by and between 
the parties hereto as follows: 

SECTION 1. PURPOSE AND POWERS 

1.1 Authority. 

South San Joaquin County Fire Authority ("Authority'') is formed by this Agreement 
pursuant to the provisions of Article 1, Chapter 5, Division 7, Title 1 ( commencing with section 
6500) of the Government Code of the State of California ("Act"). As provided in Government Code 
section 6507, the Authority shall be a public entity separate from the parties hereto and its debts, 
liabilities and obligations shall not be the debts, liabilities and obligations of its Member Agencies. 
The terms "Members". or "Member Agencies" shall mean any public entity or agency that has agreed 
to this Agreement, including Initial Member Agencies. The term "Initial Member Agencies" shall 
only mean City and District. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page I of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



1.2 Purpose. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to provide for the joint exercise of powers to provide a full 
range of fire services ("Fire Protection Services,.) within the Authority's jurisdictional area 
including: 

(a) Administer and direct the personnel that provides the Fire Protection Services and
provide the necessary administrative support for its programs and operations, which shall
include, but not be limited to,

(i.) Provide fire safety plan checks and inspections for all commercial, residential
and industrial buildings.

(ii.) Coordinate abatement activities for hazardous materials and nuisances. 

(iii.) Promote fire prevention. 

(iv.) Respond to fire and emergency calls to provide fire suppression, rescue, 
emergency medical advanced life support, and hazardous materials response 
services. 

(v.) Provide and manage a training program involving all facets of departmental 
functions and operations, for career, reserve, and volunteer personnel. 

(vi.) Contract for or provide fire dispatch services ("Fire Dispatch Services") 
.. within the Authority's jurisdictional area. 

(b) Adopt performance objectives of the Authority.

1.3 General Powers. 

The Authority shall exercise in the manner herein provided the powers common to each of 
the Member Agencies, and/or inherent to any one Member Agency, as provided by the laws of the 
State of California, e.g. Fire Protection District Law of 1987, and all incidental, implied, expressed, 
or necessary powers for the accomplishment of the purposes ofthis Agreement, subject to the 
restrictions set forth in this Agreement and shall have the power to manage, maintain, and operate 
facilities. 

1.4 Specified Powers. 

The Authority is hereby authorized, in its own name, to do all acts necessary for the exercise 
oftbe foregoing powers, including but not limited to, any of the following: 

(a) Initiate, alter and otherwise exercise the common powers of its Members in providing 
fire suppression, protection, prevention and related services, and those powers that 
may be conferred upon it by subsequently enacted legislation, and to be the exclusive 

Joint Powers Agreement 
For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Page 2 of21 



L 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

(g) 

(h) 

(i) 

(j) 

(k) 

(1) 

(m) 

(n) 

(o) 

body to make policy concerning the administration of the provision of fire service by 
the Authority for Member Agencies including determining if, when and where to 
place facilities and staff said facilities within the Authority's jurisdiction for services. 

Make and enter into contracts, including contracts with its Members; provided, 
however, the Authority may not enter into real property development agreements 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65865. 

To hire and employ personnel or to contract for personnel to fulfil its mission. 

Assume existing contracts relating to fire suppression, protection, prevention and 
related services. 

Lease, acquire, hold and dispose of real and personal property. 

Invest reserve funds. 

Incur debts, liabilities, or obligations, provided that all long term bonded 
indebtedness, certificates of participation or other long-term debt :financing require 
the prior consent of the Member Agencies. 

Sue and be sued in its own name. 

Apply for grants, loans, or other assistance from persons, firms, corporations, or 
governmental entities. 

Use any and all financing mechanisms available to the Authority, subject to the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

Prepare and support legislation related to the purposes of the Agreement. 

Lease, acquire, construct, operate, maintain, repair and manage new or existing 
facilities, apparatus and equipment as well as to close or discontinue the use of such 
facilities, apparatus and equipment. 

Levy and collect payments and fees for Fire Protection Services. 

Impose new special tax.es or assessments as authorized by law to the extent allowed 
by law, and in coordination with the underlyingjurisdiction(s). 

Provide related services as authorized by law including, but not limited to, emergency 
medical services, emergency preparedness, mitigation of hazardous materials 
incidents and confined space rescue. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 3 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



(p) Contract for the services of attorneys, accountants, consultants and other services as 
needed. 

( q) Purchase insurance or to self-insure and to contract for risk management services.

(r) Adopt rules, regulations, policies, bylaws and procedures governing the operation of
the Authority, including the determination of compensation of Directors.

(s) Exercise the power of eminent domain.

(t) Advise its Members of the impact ofland development on the provision of fire
suppression, protection, prevention and related services.

(u) Recommend approval of an annual fire department budget to the Member Agencies,
including, but not limited to, staffing levels at each fire station and all related costs
for each fire station and the administrative, training and fire prevention budget
activities.

(v) Develop finance, procurement and conflict of interest policies.

(w) Establish fire department operational policies for fire protection.

(x) Receive, accept, and utilize the service of personnel offered by the Member Agencies,
or their representatives or agents and to receive, accept and utilize real or personal
property from the Member Agencies.

(y) Mitigate fire protection impacts caused by development within the jurisdiction of the
Authority.

1.S Restrictions on Exercise of Powers. 

The power of the Authority shall be exercised in the manner provided in the Act and, in 
accordance with §6509 of the Act, shall be subject to the restrictions upon the manner of exercising 
such powers that are imposed upon general law cities in the State of California in the exercise of 
similar powers. 

1.6 Employment of Personnel and Administration of Services. 

Initially, the Authority will contract with a Member Agency to serve as the "Employer of 
Record" and provide all employees and employee services to the Authority. The Initial Member 
Agencies desire to transition to having the Authority employ its own personnel to provide any or all 
of the services the Authority elects to provide. In the event that the Authority elects to employ its 
own personnel, the Chief Executive Officer shall, with the assistance of the staffs and consultants of 
the Member Agencies, prepare a personnel plan ("the Personnel Plan") detailing how the Authority 
would employ its own personnel. The Personnel Plan shall detail the treatment of matters such as 
transfer of employees from the Member Agencies to the Authority (and the transfer's effect on 

Joint Powers Agreement 
For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Page 4 of21 



(___ existing collective bargaining agreements, the allocation of pension'liabilities and obligations, the 
treatment of accrued leave, civil service and seniority rights, and other employee benefits and 
rights), risk management, and other administrative matters required at the start-up of new 
organizations. The Personnel Plan shall be presented to the legislative bodies of the Member 
Agencies. Upon their-receipt of the Personnel Plan, the Member Agencies agree to meet in good 
faith and negotiate the terms of the Authority employing personnel. Thereafter, Member Agencies 
and Authority shall enter into an agreement regarding the ·terms of employing personnel ("the 
Personnel Agreement''). 

Until such time as personnel are transferred to the Authority, the Authority's Chief Executive 
Officer shall be hired as the Fire Chief of the Member Agency that is the "Employer of Record." 
Until such time as personnel are transferred to the Authority pursuant to this Section, Employer of 
Record shall assign !he functions of its personnel to the Authority. 

All·ofthe privileges and immunities from liability, exemptions from laws, ordinances and 
rules, all wages and benefits, disability, workers compensation, and other benefits which apply to the 
activities of the officers, agents, or employees of the Member Agencies when performing their 
respective functions shall apply to them to the same degree and extent while engage in the 
performance of any· of the functions or duties under this Agreement. 

1.7 Obligations of Authority .. 

The debts, liabilities, and obligations of the Authority shall not be the debts, liabilities, and 
obligations of any Member Agency. 

1.8 Conflict of Interest. 

The Authority Board shall adopt and, thereafter, maintain a conflict of interest code in 
compliance with applicable provisions of the Political Reform Act (Gov. Code, §87300 et seq.) and 
the regulations adopted by the Fair Political Practices Commission (Cal. Code Regs., Title 2, § 1870 
et seq.). 

1.9 Identification. 

The Authority's fire stations fire apparatus, vehicles and personnel will be identified as 
"South County Fire." 

SECTION 2. GOVERNANCE. 

2.1 Governing Board. 

The Authority shall be administered by a Board of Directors (hereinafter, "Authority 
Board" or "Board") consisting of members of the legislative bodies of the Member Agencies. The 
initial Member Agencies, as.identified in this· agreement, shall each indefinitely be allocated a 
minimum of two Board positions. Any additional Member Agency that becomes party to this 
agreement shall be allocated a minimum of one Board position and may not exceed two Board 
positions. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 5 of21 

For the South San Joaquin Co\Dlty Fire Authority 



Each_ Legislative B_ody shall appoint an alternate Board member from the Legislative Body 
who may act in the absence of a member appointed by that Legislative Body. The Board of · 
Directors shall be called the .. Board of Directors of the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority." 
All voting power of the Authority shall reside with the Board of Directors who shall be responsible 
for setting policy for the Authority including the provision of all Fire Protection Services for its 
Member Agencies. 

All Board members shall serve at the pleasure of the Member Agency that appointed such 
Board member. 

All vacanci�s. on the Board of seats appointed by Member Agencies shall be filled by the 
appointing Member Agency within thirty (30) calendar days of the vacancy. Each board member 
shall ce·ase to be membei·ofthe Board of Directors when such member ceases to hold office as a· 
member of the Legislative Body appointing entity. 

2.2 Officers. 

(a) Chief Executive Officer.

The Authority Board of Directors shall select an Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Executive Officer shall serve as the Authority Fire Chief and shall serve at the
will of the Authority Board. The Chief Executive Officer shall be responsible for
implementing the Authority's policies as well as administration of the Authority's
affairs and property as directed by the Authority's Board of Directors.

Initially, as stated in Section 1.6, a Member Agency shall serve as the "Employer of
Record" of the Authority• s and the Chief Executive Officer shall be- employed by the
said Member Agency. Although employed by a Member Agency, the Chief
Executive Officer shall be selected by and serve at the ''will" of the Authority Board
of Directors.

The Chief Executive Officer shall have the power:

• 

• 

• 

• 

Joint Powers Agreement 

To prepare and submit, in consultation with the Member Agencies, to the 
Board of Directors, an annual budget for the succeeding Fiscal Year; 

To expend funds of the Authority whene;er authorized by the Authority's 
annual budget or the Member Agencies for additional services; 

To r�tain any consultants, or contractors, as authorized in the Authority's 
budget, or as may be directed by the Board of Directors; 

To supervise the operation of the Authority's Fire Protection Services and 
Leased Facilities; 

Page 6 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



• To make recommendations to the Member Agencies for the purchase or ·
· · construction of.new fire station(s) apparatus and equipment, the replacement
.. _of existing property and/or the acquisition of new property; and

• To perform such other duties as directed by the Board of Directors.

The Chief Executive Office shall provide the Authority's Board of Directors a report 
each quarter of the staffing levels at each fire station and such other details of 
operational performance of the Authority's services as well as any other reports 
concel'Ill!1g the Authority as may be requested by the Board of Directors. 

· (b) · Secretary/Clerk�

The Secretary/Clerk shall be appointed by the Board. The Secretary shall countersign 
all contracts signed by the Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and/or the Chief Executive 
Officer on behalf of the Authority, as well as perform such other duties as may be 
imposed by the Board of Directors. 

The Secretary/Clerk shall be responsible for providing notice of, preparing and 
posting agendas after consulting the Member Agencies, and keeping minutes of 
regular, adjourned regular, and special meetings of the Board, and shall cause a copy 
of the minutes to be forwarded to each Director. The Secretary/Clerk shall have 
charge of, handle and have access to all other records of the Authority. The 
Secretary/Clerk shall be directed by the Chief Executive Officer. 

(c). Controllerffreasurer. 

The Controller Treasurer shall be appointed by the Board. The Controller/f reasurer 
spall be depository and shall have custody of all of the accounts, funds and money of 
the Authority from whatever source. The Controller/f reasurer shall have the duties 
and obligations set forth in §§6505 and 6505.5 of the Act, and shall assure that there 
shall be strict accountability of all funds and reporting of all receipts and 
disbursements of the Authority. 

The Controller/Treasurer shall provide monthly reports of Member Agencies' 
expenditures and revenue for fire prevention and fire protection services and of the 
Authority to the Board of Directors in such form as may be specified by the Board. 

(d) Officers in Charge of Property.

Pursuant to §6505.6 of the Act, the Controller/freasurer shall have charge of, handle,
and have access to all accounts, funds, and money of the Authority and all records of
the Authority relating thereto; the Secretary shall have charge of, handle and have
access to all other records of the Authority; and the Chief Executive Officer shall

Joint Powers Agreement Page 7 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



have charge of, handle, and have access to physical properties of the Authority, in 
such a manner as may be specified by the Authority's Board of Directors. 

(e) Official Bonds.

The Chief Executive Office, Secretary/Clerk, and Controller/freasurer shall each file
an official bond in the penal sum of $25,000 pursuant to §6505.1 of the Act.

(t) Legal Counsel.

The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint one or more general and/or
·· · · · special legal counsel to the Authority who shall perform such duties as may be- ·

. . . ..... prescribed by _the Board of Directors. Neither legal counsel, _nor his/her firm, shall 
represent any Member Agency, unless a conflict waiver has been granted by the 
Authority. · 

2.3 Meetings of the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors shall provide for regular meetings at a date, time, and place fixed by 
resolution of the Board of Directors which shall occur at least monthly. All meetings of the Board of 
Directors shall be called, noticed, held, and conducted in accordance with the provisions of §§54950, 
et 'seq. of the California Government Code (The Ralph M. Brown Act). A proposed agenda shall be 
sent to all Member Agencies prior to a board meeting, as directed, by resolution of the Board. 

A minimum of half of the Board of Directors, plus one Board member, shall constitute 
quorum for purposes of conducting meetings and transacting business. 

2.4 Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson. 

The Board of Directors shall elect a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson from among its 
members. The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall rotate from each Member Agency annually 
such that the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall not be appointed from the same Member 
Agency. In the event of the disqualification or permanent inability to serve as the Chairperson 
during the year, another member from the same Agency shall be appointed Chairperson to fulfill the 
one-year term. 

The Chairperson shall preside at all Authority Board meetings, may sign all contracts on 
behalf of the Authority and shall perform such other duties as may be imposed by the Board of 
Directors. 

The Vice-Chairperson shall act, sign contracts, and perform all of the Chairperson's duties in 
the temporary absence of the Chairperson. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 8 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



2.S ·. Required Votes. 

. The afflnnative votes of �-majority of members of the Board of Directors shall be required to
take any action, provided however, that any vote to incur a debt or to issue bonds respectively, shall 

· require a·uoanimous vote of al
l 

Board members. 

2.6 Voting. 

Each member of the Board of Directors shall have one vote. 

2. 7 Minutes. 

The . .Secretary/Cler kshall keep minutes of the meetings of the Board.of Directors and. 
forward a copy of the minutes to each_ Member Agency following board approval. 

2.8 · Bylaws;· 

The Board of Directors may adopt Bylaws for the conduct of its meetings and affairs as are 
necessary for the pmposes herein. 

2.9 Appointment of Officers/Employees. 

Initially, an officer or employee of a Member Agency as specified in Section 2.2( c) may 
hold the office of Controller/Treasurer. of the Authority. Within one (1) year of the Effective Date of 
this Agreement, the Authority shall select an independent Controller/Treasurer who shall assume the 
responsibilities within a reasonable period of time. Such person or persons shall possess the powers 
of and shall perform the Controller/Treasurer functions for the Authority required by Government 
Code Sections 6505, 6505.5, and 6505.6, including any subsequent amendments thereto. The 
Controllerffreasurer shall assure that there shall be strict accountability of all funds and reporting of 
all receipts and disbursements of Authority. 

2.10 Expenditures for the Approved Budget. 

All expenditures within the amount of the approved general budget shall be made in 
accordance with the authorization of the Board. Expenditures in excess of any amount approved in 
the general budget by the Board shall not be made without the approval of a majority of all of the 
Directors of the Board. A Member Agency incurring obligations to the Authority without Board 
approval shall be fully liable for said obligation and shall indemnify the Authority and the other 
Member Agencies from sai4 obligations. 

2.11 Termination of Authority. 

(a) . Notice'Required ..... 

This Agreement may be terminated by an affirmative vote of Memb.ei: Agencies 
constituting 50% or more of the membership of the Authority. A written Notice of 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 9 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



. Termination shall be sent all other Member Agencies following that vote and shall 
state that the termination date is effective at least twenty fom (24) months from the 
date of the Notice .. 

(b) Continued Liabilities.

(c) 

Upon termination of this Agreement, unless otherwise determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction, any continuing obligations of the Authority shall be borne by
the Member Agencies in proportion to their total monetary.responsibility for costs of
maintenance and operations for the life of the Authority.

Disposition·of Leased Facilities.
· ·-··--· -· ·· -··--·-· ·- - -··-· • • · -· -- -- -- · - ·  

Upon-termination of this agreement, Authority shall .return all LeMed Facilities,
including any replaceinents, to the Member Agency on title, reasonable wear and tear
excepted.

(d) Surplus Money.

Upon termination of this Agreement, any surplus money on hand shall be returned to
the Member Agencies in accordance with the proportion to their total monetary ·
responsibility for costs of maintenance and operations for the life of the Authority

(e) Obligations Survive Termination. t ?..;-�--... ·; . .:.: ..• 

The obligations of Section 2.11 survive termination of this Agreement.

2.13 Dispute Resolution. 

In the event the Member Agencies disagree regarding the interpretation or application of this 
Agreement or cannot agree on the distribution of Leased Facilities and/or other assets of the 
Authority upon termination, they shall meet during a ninety (90) day period in a good faith effort to 
resolve the disagreement informally. If the Member Agencies cannot informally resolve the dispute, 
they shall then attempt to resolve such dispute through either non-binding mediation or arbitration 
for a period not to exceed sixty (60) calendar days. If the Member Agencies cannot mutually agree 
upon a mediator, then the presiding judge to the San Joaquin County Superior Court shall designate 
a mediator. The Member Agency shall contribute equally to the cost of mediation. If mediation is 
unsuccessful, the disputing Member Agency may pursue litigation or any other remedies to resolve 
the dispute. 

. The arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the California Arbitration Act (Code of 
Civil Procedure §1280 et seq.). The costs of mediation or arbitration (excluding each Agency's own 
costs) shall be borne by the Agencies equally. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 1Qof21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



2.14 - Cooperation and Disclosure. 

. . Unless and until the Authority employs its own personnel, the Employer. of Record shall keep 
the Authority informed of any negotiations, agreements or other circumstances that have a 
significant impact on the operations and/or jurisdiction of the Authority. Member Agencies shall 
keep the Authority informed of their negotiations with developers and, prior to entering into any 
agreements with same, shall advise the Authority of any significant impacts to the Authority. 
Members. shall promptly notify the Authority of all annexation or new land development 
applications that impact the Authority's jurisdiction before filing with any city or county. Members 
shall consult with the Authority other Members before seeking to raise new revenue (ballot, tax or 
bond) that impact the provision of fire services. Upon written request, Member Agencies shall, 
within a reasonable time period, provide the Authority with records0necessary to conduct audits of.· 
. fun� m.�q_f(?f th� _proyi$j<;>n_ of_:fi!e $(?ryices. 

All Member Agencies· shall be notified before any Member Agency approves a formal action· 
by any Member Agency to pursue, financing, purchasing and/or building facilities to be used for Fire 
Protection Services. 

SECTION 3. LEVEL OF SERVICE. 

3.1 . Basic Services. 

A. List of Services. The Authority shall provide a uniform, minimum set of basic
services to each Member Agency, which shall consist of the following:· 

1. · Responding to fire and emergency calls to provide fire suppression, rescue,
emergency medical, and hazardous materials response service. 

2. Providing a fire prevention program that includes fire safety plan checks,
issuance of fire safety permits and inspections as required by the California Fire Code. 

a. The Member Agencies will each adopt the California Fire Code with
such modification and amendments deemed appropriate by each Agency. As part of the code 
adoption process, each Agency will assign the Authority as the "Authority Having Jurisdiction" for 
all fire protection matters within the Member Agency jurisdictions. 

b. The Authority by Member/agreement may charge user fees for its fire
protection program to· the greatest extent possible to fully recover its cost for services. By agreement 
with the Authority, a Member Agency may elect to fund the aspects of the Authority fire protection 
program otherwise required to be funded by Authority user fees, in which case the Authority user 
fees shall not be charged in the territory of the Member Agency as specified in the agreement 
between the Authority and the Member Agency. 

3. Coordinating abatement activities for hazardous materials and nuisances. So
as to avoid the inequitable use of Authority resources, the Authority and Member Agencies shall 

Joint Powers Agreement 
For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Page 11 of21 



take commercially reasonable steps to recover the costs of abatement from the parties responsible for 
the conditions requiring abatement 

. - 4.. . - . Ensuring that'°personnel are trained to provide all facets of Authority functions 
· and operations. · · _. · -

area. 
5. Provide or contract for dispatch services within the Authority's jurisdiction

B. Level of Service. The Member Agencies will indirectly control the level of services,
in terms of response times,:through their station siting and staffing level decisions. Member 
Agencies shall-also·Tetain·:the-right to elect to close stations·within their jurisdictions.� Nothing in this 
Agr�me:r;it i,s -�teqqe_4_tp oi: -��l Jn:wt9r control the land 115e power ofa_mp.nicipal corporation or 
any other Member Agency that is a party to this Agreement. 

.. , � 

3.2 Additional Services. 

So long as it would be consistent with the Authority's powers set out in Section 1 above, the 
Authority may perform additional or higher level services within the territory of all or a particular 
Member Agency, pursuant to an agreement between the Authority and the Member Agencies. 

SECTION 4. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT. 

4.1 Member Agency Ownership 

Member Agencies shall, as a condition of membership, make available all its stations, 
apparatus and equipment to provide fire protection services. Member Agencies shall be responsible 
for constructing and replacing fire stations within their respective jurisdiction. 

Member Agencies that have overlapping jurisdictional boundaries shall enter into a separate 
agreement to establish ownership of facilities within the overlapped areas. 

4.2 Lease of Facilities.· 

Each Member Agency hereby agrees to lease, by separate agreement, in consideration of the 
services provided herein, to the Authority the following real and personal property, together with any 
replacements or new property of a similar nature. 

(a) All existing operational fire stations, together with all furniture, computers and
furnishings in such stations.

(b) All fire apparatus, together with all equipment located on the apparatus, , which
consists of existing fire trucks, engines, and vehicles together with all equipment
physically located on each piece of apparatus;

Joint Powers Agreement Page 12 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



1._ . ( c) · All personalprotective. equipment listed, such as turnout gear and all other, personal
protective equipment 

Each Member Agency warrants that its property provided is in good and workable condition. 

4.4 New Facilities. 

All new station constructed by a Member Agency that are within the Member Agency's 
jurisdictional bounc1¢es. shall be leased to the Authority upon being placed in service in accordance 
with this Sectioµ. · Such ·leases shall be separately negotiated between the Authority and the ·Member . · 

./\gency. ·········--····:
 .. �, .. ·-.' ·-

. . , .  

· 4.5 Improvements· and Maintenance of Facilities and Apparatus. 

A. Maintenance and Repair. The Authority shall be responsible for maintenance·
and ordinary repair of all facilities leased in the provision of services pursuant to this Agreement. 

B. Station Structural Repairs; Replacement. Members Agencies shall be
responsible for capital improvements to the real property owned by each, as used herein, "capital 
improvements;' refers to structural repairs and similar improvements which are the type of 
improvements that would be added to the tax "basis" if the property were owned by a non
governmental entity. Member Agencies shall be responsible for. ensuring that the facilities are 
replaced at the end of the facility's useful life, including ensuring that financial resources are .. 
available for replacement. To facilitate the Member Agencies' duty to replace facilities, the 
Authority shall maintain and annually update a replacement schedule for all of the leased facilities. 

C. Property Insurance. The Authority shall maintain in full force and effect,
fire insurance and a standard "all risk" policy covering all Leased Facilities. 'Ibis coverage must (i) 
name the titled Member Agencies as an additional insureds, (ii) contain a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement in favor of the titled Member Agencies, (iii) cover loss or damage to the station and any 
Member Agency-owned personal property in the amount of the full replacement value, (iv) include a 
deductible no greater than $25,000. Covered perils are to include fire, all risk, vandalism, malicious 
mischief and sprinkler leakage. The Parties intend that insurance proceeds paid as a result of real 
property damage be passed through the Authority to the effected Member"Agency. 

4.6 Authority-Owned Facilities. 

With the approval of the legislative bodies of all of the Member Agencies, the Authority may 
acquire by lease or purchase real and personal property such as administration buildings, training,
and other facilities as necessary.. 

· 

Joint Powers Agreement 
For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Page 13 of21 



4,7 Authority's Assumption of Liability. 

The Authoritr shall ass�e responsibility for any and all loss, litigation, liability, injury, 
damage, claim, demand, and tort or workers compensation incidents that occur for any personnel or 
contracts assigned to·and accepted by the Authority. The Member Agency shall retain responsibility 
and liability for any and all such incidents not assigned or accepted by the Authority and shall retain 
all risk management reserves that have been set aside for such prior incidents.- .The Authority may 
contract to receive risk management services on such terms as agreed to by the Authority. 

4.8 Indemnification and Insurance. 

· -·-=• · -·Pursuant.to·Government Code section-820.9, as may be amended, members of the Board'of
. . _ . Pi!�c;�� �f_t!ie Apt�ority_� -�of,d�_?ri_ously liable for injutjes caused 'by-the-act or _omi_ssion of the

Authority or any of its Members. 

Except as provided herein, the Authority ·shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Member 
Agencies and ¢�ir officers," employees; agents and representatives with respect to-any loss, damage, · . 
injury, claim, demand, litigation or liability and all expenses and costs relating thereto (including 
attorneys' •fees) arising out ofor in any.way related to the performance of services pursuant to this 
Agreement or an agreement assumed by or otherwise transferred to the Authority or any Member 
assets to be transferred to the Authority, including but not limited to real property, personal property, 
equipment and apparatus ... _-·. , - , · . • · 

Notwithstanding this Agreement the Members agree that no immunity or defense available to 
the Member Agencies.under State or federal law or regulation shall be waived with.respect to any·· 
third party claim. 

SECTION 5. FINANCES. 

· 5.1 · · Accounting Procedures.

Full books and accounts shall be maintained for the Authority in accordance with practices
established by, or consistent with, those utilized by the Controller of the State of California for like 
public entities. In particular, the Authority's auditor and treasurer shall comply strictly with 
requirements governing joint powers agencies, Article 1, Chapter 5, Division 7, Ti1le 1 (commencing 
with Section 6500) of the Government of Code of the State of California. 

The Authority shall keep accurate and correct books of account, showing the cost of 
providing Fire Protection Services and Fire Dispatch Services within the jurisdictional area, broken 
down by: jurisdictional areas; Member Agency; locations of calls; number of units sent; cancellation· 
of units; and the identity ofresponding stations. Said books and records shall be open to inspection 
at all times during normal business hours by a Member Agency or its designee. 

The Controller/freasurer shall provide monthly reports of expenditures and revenue of all 
Member Agencies relating to the fire protection and fire prevention services and of the Authority to 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 14 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



the Authority Board and Member Agencies in such form as may be specified by the Board or 
requested by a Member. 

5.2 Audits. 

The Controller/freasurer shall cause the books of account and other financial records of the 
Authority to be audited·by an·independent public accountant or certified public accountant in 
accordance with §§6505 and 6505.6 of the Act 

The records and accounts of the Authority shall be audited annually by an independent 
certifie4 public accountant and copies of the audited financial reports, with the opinion· of the· 
_in_dep�den� certified public-accoun�t;shall be filed with the County Auditor, the State Controller 
and each. ¥.e�ber A,gep.cy �ithin si� (6) months of the end ofthe_fi�cal year under examination. 

5.3 Annual Budget: 

It shall be the policy of the Authority to approve only those budgets-that do not exceed 
available revenues and neither the Authority nor the Employer of Record shall disburse funds 
outside of approved budgets or without the prior written approval of all Member Agencies. 

At least sixty (60) days prior to the commencement of each fiscal year, the Chief Executive 
Officer shall meet with each Member Agency to prepare a preliminary budget for the Authority • 
based on the formula identified in Section 5.4. Each Member Agency must-approve the preliminary

budget prior to May 15th of each year. On or before May 15th, of each year, ·the Authority Board of 
Directors shall adopt a preliminary annual budget for maintenance and operation costs ofthe · 
Authority.· On or before September 1, of each fiscal year, the Authority Board shall adopt a final 
annual budget for maintenance and operation costs of the Authority. 

Following approval of the annual budget by the Authority, Member Agencies shall pay their 
pro rata.share 120 d�ys in advance of their expenses as estimated within the current approved 
budget. 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Treasurer shall provide quarterly budget updates to the 
Authority Board. 

5.4 Responsibility for Maintenance and Operations Costs. 

The Member Agencies shall share responsibility for the annual costs of maintenance and 
operations for Fire Protection Services, Fire Dispatch Services, any expenses of the Member Agency 
pursuant to this Agreement, and any insurance premiums paid by the Member Agency to insure itself 
against liability arising out of the contract with the Authority for the provision of fire services. Based 
on the formula in the paragraph below, each Member Agency shall be responsible for all such costs 
within their jurisdictional fire protection boundaries. Member Agencies·with overlapping boundaries 
shall enter into a separate agreement that establishes fire protection responsibilities. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 15 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



· Prior to December: 3 l of-each year, the Chief Executive Officer and,Treasurer shall meet with
each Member Agency to provide an accounting of the previous fiscal year. Except as otherwise 
provided in this Agreement, or pursuant to a resolution adopted by each Member-Agency, the cost
allocation shall be determined hy ·the following formula: ' - · . 

• ·- 1 • •

Divide the total number of daily staffed positions within each Member Agency by the total 
number of daily staffed positions within the Authority. 

Example: If the Authority has ·a total number of seven (7) daily staffed fire companies, each 
staffed with three (3) personnel, the total staffed positions for the Authority would be twenty-one 
(21). If a Member Agency had four (4) companies within their jurisdictional boundaries, the . 

· Member:Agency·would,be resp_onsible for twelve (12) daily-staffed positions,of.the total twenty-one -··.
(21) daily staffed positions.�.Tweive (12) divided by twenty-one (21) equals 57.14 percent. The ..
Member Agency.with. four (4fofthe· seven (7) companies would be responsible for 57.14 percent of
the operating cost of the Authority. . .
- ·. . The formula used for cost allocation shall be used for all fire protection and fire prevention-.

services provided by the Authority. Formula shall not apply to: · ·. •. · . . ·. . ·-. ·. . . .  -. . . 

• • Station Repairs,· Replacement. - Members Agencies shall be responsible for capital
improvements to the real property owned by each Member Agency. As used herein, "capital 
improvements" refers to structural repairs and similar improvements which are the·type of 
improvements that would.be added to the tax "basis" if the property.were owned by.a non- .. 
governmental entity. ·Member Agencies shall also be responsible for all facility,repairs and 
replacements costs that exceed $5,000 per occurence . 

. S.S . . .Limitations on Exceeding Budget Allocations 

Unless and until such time as the Authority employs its own personnel, expenditures by the 
Employer of Record, shall not exceed the approved Authority annual budget without prior written · 
consent of all Member Agencies. Any expenditures not pre-approved in writing by all Member 
Agencies, shall be an expense paid by the Member Agency incurring the unauthorized expenditure 
and shall not be.a debt owed by the other Member Agency(s) of the Authority. 

5.6 Funding. · 

. Unless otherwise agreed, the Member Agencies agree to each be responsible to fund the 
replacement of the apparatus and facilities owned by Member Agency, respectively. 

The Authority Board shall adopt an "emergency funding" policy for the funding of 
unforeseen emergencies that must be addressed prior to formal Board approval. 

To the extent authorized by law, the Member Agencies agree to impose fire impact fees 
and/or special taxes necessary to provide funding for the Member Agency's obligations under this 
Agreement. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 16 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



. ( 5. 7 · · Additional Services .

Either M�m��r- Agency �y request the Authority to perform additional ser.vices in addition 
to Fire Protection Services, provided such Member Agency provides fund.iilg for such additional 
services or other agreement between the Members. • · • · · · 

SECTION 6. MEMBERSHIP. 

6.1 Adding Member Agencies. 

Any·"public agency," as that term is defined in Section 6500 of the Government Code, that is. 
authorized to-provide'the-common powers jointly exercised pursuant-to-this-Agreement is eligible·to .· 
beco�e � ¢di�onal party _to.thi_s.Agree1:Ilent. Member Agencies other than the .Initial Member. 
Agencies are referred to herein as "Additional Member Agencies." Eligible agencies may become 
members by executing this Agreement, satisfying any terms and conditions established ·by. the Board, 
and upon unanimous approval of the membership of the Board Upon such.approval, this 
Agreement will then become effective as to that signatory. 

6.2 Withdrawal of a Member Agency. 

This Agreement shall remain in effect as to all Member Agencies, unless and until it is 
tenninated as. to a particular Member Agency by written notice ("Withdrawal Notice") to all other. 
Members. The Withdrawal Notice must be given by the withdrawing Member at least two (2) years 
in advance of the effective date of such withdrawal. A withdrawing Member Agency shall not be 
liable for commitments made by the Authority after the Withdrawal Notice is given except that the 
departing Member Agency shall be liable for its pro rata share up to the Date of Withdrawal. A 
withdrawing Member Agency shall also be liable for its pro rata share of the Authority's approval 
contractual commitments made prior to the Withdrawal Notice, excluding automatic renewals, 
amendments or restatements made subsequent to the Withdrawal Notice. The withdrawing Member 
Agency may pay the Authority the present value of its pro rata share of all obligations as of the Date·· 
of Withdrawal or otherwise refinance its obligations, but in no event pay less than owed at the time 
payment is due under agreements made before the Withdrawal Notice. Upon termination of this 
Agreement as to a withdrawing party, the Authority shall return to the Member Agency all of the 
lea·sed facilities identified in Sections 4.2 above, wtless otherwise specified in an agreement between 
Member Agencies that share territory. A withdrawing agency shall not be entitled to any agency 
funds upon withdrawal. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 17 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



SECTION 7. MISCELLANEOUS • 
.,_ . .  ·. 

7.1 Con.flid of Interest.

The Authority Board shall adopt and, thereafter, maintain a conflict of interest code in 
compliance with applicable provisions of the Political Reform Act (Gov. Code,.§87300 et seq.) and .·
the regulations adopted by the Fair Political Practices Commission (Cal. Code Regs., Title 2, § 1870 
et seq.). 

7.2 · · Recitals.:··· ·· · · · · 
:-; .·� . . .  -

. .. . . . . .

The foregoing.!e<?i4tl_s are true and correct and are made a·part hereof.=--�-�- : _ ... 

7.3 Effective.-Date of Agreement. 
. .  - •. ... . . � . . . . . ., . 

. .. ·- . .  _ ... .. ... . 

.:,. .. ..  

This Agreement shall become effective when signed and executed by both Member 
Agencies. 

7.4 Operational Date of Authority. 

-· . . .  :·-

This Agreement shall become operational on March 1, 2018, following approval and .. . .:- ..... 
execution by the Initial Member Agencies: 

7.5 ·Term. 

This Agreement shall be effective on the effective date and shall continue in effect until 
terminated pursuant to Sub-section 2.11. 

7.6 Headings •. 

All section headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to 
be construed as modifying or governing language in the section referred to or to define or limit the 
scope of any provision of this Agreement. 

7.7. Consent. 

Whenever in this Agreement any consent or approval is required, the same shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. 

7 .8 Law Governing. 

This agreement is made under the Constitution and laws of the State of California. 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 18 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



7.9 Amendments.• 

. _This �gr�ent may not be. amended or modified except by vote of all Members. 

7.10 - Severability�· 

In the event any provision of this Agreement is determined to be illegal or.invalid for any 
reason, all other provisions and sections of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
unless and until otherwise determined. The illegality of any provision of this Agreement shall in no 
way affect the legality and enforceability of any other provisions of this Agreement. 

·. _· .7.11 .: · Non-Liab_ility ofAgents.

None of the officers or agents of the Authority shall be deemed, by reason of such status, to 
be officers, agents or employees of either Member Agency orto be subject to any of the· 
requirements of either Member Agency. "· , • • . , •· 

7.12 Successors. 

This Agreement shall be binding upon and all inure to the benefit of the successors of the · 
Member Agencies. Member Agencies may not assign any right or obligation hereunder without 
written consent of the Authority.· . . .. . .a ·, 

7.13 Notice. · 

All notices, demands, or other communications which this Agreement contemplates or 
authorizes shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or mailed to the other party at the 
mailing or electronic addresses listed herein. 

To City: City of Tracy 

With copy to: 

To District: 

333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, California 95376 
Manager@cityoftracy.org 

City Attorney 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, California 95376 
attomey@cityofuacy.org 

Bowman & Berreth 
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 
1820 Kettleman Lane, Suite F 
Lodi, California 95242 

Communications shall be deemed to have been received on the first to occur of: (1) actual receipt at 
the physical address designated above, or (2) three working days after the deposit of a written 

Joint Powers Agreement Page 19 of21 

For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 



7.14 No Continuing Waiver. 

No waiver of any term or condition of this Agreement shall be considered a continuing•· 
waiver thereof. 

7.15 No Third-Party Beneficiary. -·: . . . � . . , . 

The Members agree that the provisions of this Agreement are not intended to directly benefit, 
and shall not be enforceable by, any person or entity not a party to this Agreement. 

· , . 7 .16 - - Entire Agreement. ' · · .·,::- t· .·: ... · ···· · · · ·-· --

Thls Agreement .contains "aif the terms agreed to by the Parties relating to its subject matter.
. . . . " : .-: : �- . 

7;17 .. : Construction of-Agreement. · .. ...

.. 

Each Member Agency has had an equivalent opportunity to participate in the drafting of this 
Agreement and to consult with legal counsel. Therefore, the usual construction of an agreement 

. . 

against the drafting p�y shall not apply hereto. 

(SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

Joint Powers Agreement 
For the South San Joaquin County Fire Authority 

Page 20 of21 





ATTACHMENT B 

- SOUTH COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY DISSOLUTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF

TRACY AND TRACY RURAL FIRE DISTRICT 

This SOUTH COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY DISSOLUTION AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is 
made and entered into as of .li.lo, 2018 by and between the City of Tracy, a municipal corporation 
("City"), and the Tracy Rural ire Protection District, a special district fonned pursuant to Health and 
Safety Code ("District''). City and District are collectively referred to as ''Parties." 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, on September 7, 1999, the Parties entered into the JOINT EXERCISE OF POWERS 
AGREEMENT FOR THE SOUTil'COUNTY FIRE AUTHORITY ("Original JPA Agreement'') 
thereby fonning the South County Fire Authority ("SFCA") pursuant to Government Code Section 6500 
et seq. to jointly provide fire protection services in their respective jurisdictions; and 

WHEREAS, on September 7, 1999, the Parties also entered into another agreement titled 
"AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF TRACY AND TRACY RURAL FIRE PROTECTION 
DISTRICT REGARDING THE CITY OF TRACY'S EMPLOYMENT OF THE TRACY RURAL FIRE 
PROTECTION DISTRICT'S PERSONNEL" ("Employment Agreement"); and 

WHEREAS, Original JP A Agreement was amended various times to address changes in the 
financial obligations of the Parties in light of operational and administrative needs ("Amendments"); and 

WHEREAS, the Employment Agreement was also amended to reflect the Parties' changing 
needs; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties are in the process of forming a new joint exercise of powers authority 
("New JPA Authority") and now wish to dissolve the SCFA by terminating the Original JPA 
Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the financial obligations that are the subject of the Original JPA Agreement, 
Amendments and the Employment Agreement are still outstanding and the Parties wish to enter into this 
Agreement to terminate the Original JPA Agreement thereby dissolving the SCF A and to reach an 
mutually agreeable resolution regarding those outstanding financial obligations; and 

WHEREAS, it is the Parties' mutual intention that this Agreement resolve all outstanding issues 
thereby allowing them to participate in the New JPA Authority without further obligations under the 
Original JPA Agreement, Amendments and the Employment Agreement; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals above, the mutual advantages to be derived, 
and the mutual covenants contained herein, it is agreed by and among the Parties hereto as follows: 

AGREEMENT 

1. Termination of Original JPA Agreement and Dissolution of SCFA. The Parties
mutually agree to waive the notice requirement under Section 8.1 of the Original JPA Agreement 
and agree to terminate the Original JPA Agreement and dissolve SCFA, effective July 1, 2018. 

a. Assignment of Existing Contracts. All existing contracts for goods, services,
and/or equipment entered into by SCF A are hereby assigned to the South San Joaquin County 
Fire Authority, subject to their acceptance by Board resolution. 

Pagel of5 



SCF A Dissolution Agreement 

2. Obligations Regarding Accumulated Leave of Personnel Previously Employed by
District. Concurrently with the establishment of the SCFA, the Parties entered �to the 
Employment Agreement to address their respective obligations regarding the costs of all sick 
leave and vacation leave accumulated ("Accumulated Leave") but not paid for employees who 
were still employed by District as of September 15, 1999 ("District's Former Employees") and 
subsequently hired by City. 

a Existing Retirees' Accumulated Sick Leave. The current value of the 
Accumulated Sick Leave of District's Former Employees who retired while 
employed by the City prior to the effective date of this Agreement ("Existing 
Retirees"), is $1,612, 026.01 and as further described in Exhibit A. District 
remains responsible for the total cost of Existing Retirees' Accumulated Sick 
Leave, including interest at the Local Agency Investment Fund rate earned by 
City, compounded annually. District shall remit payment to the City for its share 
of the current value of Existing Retirees' Accumulated Sick Leave by the 
Effective Date of this Agreement in the amount of $233,214.73. City shall also 
remit payment for its share of sick leave accumulated by Existing Retirees during 
their employment with City by the Effective Date of this Agreement in the 
amount of $957,168.10. District's and City's payments shall be deposited and 
maintained in a trust by City to pay for Existing Retirees' medical premiums. The 
district shall have no liability or responsibility for vacation accrual on behalf of 
any existing retirees. 

b. Accumulated Leave and Other Accruals of District's Former Employees. City and
District shall jointly fund the cost of Accumulated Leave and any other accruals
due to District's Former Employees who separate from City. The amount of
Accumulated Leave and accruals, and the value of the Accumulated Leave and
accruals shall be determined in accordance with the Memorandum of
Understanding with the Tracy Firefighters Association ("MOU") in effect at the
date of separation of each employee. The City's and District's respective
contributions to cover the cost of the Accumulated Leave and accruals shall be in
accordance with the MOU or any other agreement entered into by the District and
City, in effect at the date of separation of each employee.

c. Termination of Employment Agreement. The Parties further agree to terminate
the Employment Agreement, effective July 1, 2018, and to release both Parties
from its obligations, except for Section 5 of the Employment Agreement.

3. Pre-Paid Services and Cost-Split for Maintenance and Operations. The Parties
amended Sections 6.2 and 6.6 of the Original JPA Agreement by executing Amendment No. 6 on 
January 2, 2013, to reflect District's repayment of a loan from City and Parties' joint cost
sharing of the maintenance and operations for Fire Protection Services, Fire Dispatch Services, 
and other costs ("Financial Obligations"). The City's calculation of the outstanding loan 
amount as of June 30, 2017 was $4,372,897. Following District's request that City reconsider 
the amount owed by District to City under the loan, and in consideration of District's 
contribution to the funding of Station 92' s maintenance and operations (totaling $731,718), 
City's receipt of Fire Prevention revenues, and past calculations of interest, the City agrees to 
reduce the outstanding loan amount owed by District to $1,025,487 ("Outstanding Balance"). 

Page 2 of5 

-

-

-



-

SCF A Dissolution Agreement 

a As consideration for City's reconsideration of Financial Obligations, District 
agrees that this Agreement is a full and final release of and from any such claims, 
demands, actions, and causes of action, in law or in equity, and all suits, debts, 
liens, claims, liabilities, obligations, demands, damages, losses, audit 
responsibilities, fiduciary responsibilities, present and future, known or unknown, 
contemplated or uncontemplated, arising out of or in connection with the Original 
JP A Agreement, Amendments, and Employment Agreement, and for any and all 
damages of any kind whatsoever which have been or which might hereafter be 
incurred or sustained by the undersigned in connection with Original JP A 
Agreement, Amendments, and Employment Agreement, and which might exist 

against the undersigned herein or any other person in favor of the undersigned. 
b. District's obligations to repay City in and all amounts owed pursuant to the

Amendments of the Original JP A Agreement and, in particular, the Outstanding
Balance shall be deemed to be satisfied at the close of business on June 30, 2018.

4. Ownership of Fire Stations.
a. Station 92. District hereby agrees that the resolution of Financial Obligations as

set forth in Paragraph 4 entitles City to full ownership of Station 92 and District thereby 
relinquishes, releases, and waives any right to claim ownership of Station 92 now and in the 
future. 

b. Fire Stations in Overlapping Jurisdiction Areas. The Parties agree that the District
shall own and operate all Fire Stations that are currently located or will be located
in overlapping jurisdictions areas. If District ceases to operate a Fire Station, the
Fire Station will revert back to City at no cost.

5. Public Safety Facilities Fee. City collects a Public Safety Facilities Fees ("PSF
Fees"), also known as Fire Facilities Fees from all new development within the City to
mitigate the impact of new development on public safety facilities in accordance with the
City of Tracy's Citywide Public Safety Master Plan, adopted in 2013. City shall disburse
to District PSF Fees collected after the execution of this Agreement that are attributable
to mitigating the impact of new development on fire facilities located in District's
jurisdictional boundaries. There are no PSF Fees for fire facilities being held by the City.
Prior to City's disbursement of any PSF Fees to District, District shall execute an
agreement indemnifying and holding City harmless for the District's maintenance,
reporting, and use of the PSF Fee. In the event District adopts an impact fee in
accordance with the Mitigation Fee Act (Government Code Section 66000, et seq), City
shall reasonably cooperate with the collection of that fee. The City shall separate Fire
PSF fees generated in the Fire District boundaries and report that amount to the Fire
District quarterly and will not co-mingle said funds.

6. Effective Date. This Agreement shall take effect on July 1, 2018, unless otherwise
agreed to in writing by City and District. 

7. Termination. This Agreement may be terminated by either Party by giving written
notice to the other Party sixty (60) days in advance of the proposed termination date. 

Page 3 of5 



SCF A Dissolution Agreement 

8. Dispute Resolution. Each Party to this Agreement shall, in good faith, cooperate and
assist the other in meeting the obligations contained herein. The Parties shall resolve their 
disputes informally to the maximum extent possible. The following process shall apply in the 
event either Party disputes any invoice, charge or obligation under this Agreement: 

a. If a Party disputes any obligation under the Agreement, the disputing Party shall
notify the other Party, in writing, within fifteen ( 15) calendar days of the required
payment or performance of the disputed obligation. The Parties shall endeavor to
first informally resolve the dispute during those fifteen (15) days. If the Parties
cannot informally resolve the dispute, they shall then attempt to resolve such
dispute through non-binding mediation for a period not to exceed thirty (30)
calendar days. If the Parties cannot mutually agree upon a mediator, then the
presiding judge to the San Joaquin County Superior Court shall designate a
mediator. The Parties shall contribute equally to the cost of mediation. If
mediation is unsuccessful, the disputing Party may pursue litigation or any other
remedies to resolve the dispute.

9. Miscellaneous.
a. Notices. All notices, demands, or other communications which this Agreement

contemplates or authorizes shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered or
mailed to the other party. Communications shall be deemed to have been received
on the first to occur of: (1) actual receipt at the address designated below, or (2)
three working days after the deposit in the U.S. Mail ofregistered or certified
mail, sent to the address below.

To City: 
City of Tracy 
City Manager 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, California 95376 

With a copy to: 
City Attorney 
City of Tracy 
333 Civic Center Plaza 
Tracy, CA 95376 

To District: 
Tracy Rural Fire Protection District 
c/o Bowman & Berreth 
1820 Kettleman Lane Suite F 
Lodi, California 95242 

b. Modifications. This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any manner
other than by an agreement in writing signed by both parties.

c. Waivers. Waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement shall not constitute a
continuing waiver or a waiver of a subsequent breach of the same or any other
provision of this Agreement.

d. Construction of Agreement. The Parties have each had an equivalent opportunity
to participate in the drafting of this Agreement and to consult with legal counsel.

Page 4 of5 

-

-



-

·-

SCF A Dissolution Agreement 

Therefore, the usual construction of an agreement against the drafting party shall 
not apply hereto. 

e. Jurisdiction and Venue. The interpretation, validity, and enforcement of the
Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the laws of the State of
California. Any suit, claim, or legal proceeding of any kind related to this
Agreement shall be filed and heard in a court of competent jurisdiction in the
County of San Joaquin.

10. Signatures. The individuals executing this Agreement represent and warrant that they
have the right, power, legal capacity and authority to enter into and to execute this Agreement on 
behalf of the respective legal entities. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

CITY OF TRACY 

By:��
Robert Rickman, Mayor 

Date: 
ATTEST 

Byc:k,� 
Adrianne Richardson, City Clerk 

TRACY RURAL FIRE PROTECTION 
DISTRICT 

By:fj,tal· 1. -• =-= == -..... 
air 

Dat. 
ATTEST 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 
BOWMAN & BERRETH, LLP 

By: ty!V\� 
Mark Charles Bowman 
District Counsel 

Page 5 of5 




